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Date: March 15, 2021

Issuer Disclaimer Clause: This information memorandum (the “Information Memorandum”) is
neither a prospectus nor a statement in lieu of a prospectus, and should not be construed to be
an invitation to the public for subscription to any securities under any law for the time being in
force, nor a solicitation or recommendation in this regard. Multiple copies given to the same
entity shall be deemed to be given to the same person and shall be treated as such. This
Information Memorandum does not constitute, nor may it be used in connection with, an offer
or solicitation by anyone in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is not authorized or
to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such an offer or solicitation.
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BUSINESS PARKS REIT

Mindspace Business Parks REIT
(Registered in the Republic of India as a contributory, determinate and irrevocable trust on November
18, 2019 at Mumbai under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882 and as a real estate investment trust on
December 10, 2019 at Mumbai under the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Real Estate
Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 having Registration no. IN/REIT/19-20/0003.

Principal Place of Business: Raheja Tower, Level 8, Block ‘G’, C-30, Bandra Kurla Complex, Mumbai -
400 051
Corporate Office: Raheja Tower, Level 8, Block ‘G’, C-30, Bandra Kurla Complex, Mumbai - 400 051

Phone: +91 2656 4000; Fax: +91 22 2656 4747;
E-mail: bondcompliance@mindspacereit.com; Website: www.mindspacereit.com

INFORMATION MEMORANDUM DATED 15 MARCH, 2021

THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM IS ISSUED IN CONFORMITY WITH SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
BOARD OF INDIA (ISSUE AND LISTING OF DEBT SECURITIES) REGULATIONS, 2008, AS AMENDED, FOR
THE ISSUE OF 750 (SEVEN HUNDRED FIFTY) SECURED, LISTED, SENIOR, TAXABLE, NON-CUMULATIVE,
RATED, REDEEMABLE, NON-CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES OF FACE VALUE OF INR 10,00,000 (RUPEES
TEN LAKHS) EACH, FOR AN AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF UPTO INR 75,00,00,000/- (RUPEES
SEVENTY FIVE CRORES ONLY) (THE “DEBENTURES”) ON A PRIVATE PLACEMENT BASIS (THE “ISSUE”)

Background: This Information Memorandum is related to the Debentures to be issued on a private
placement basis by the Issuer and contains relevant information and disclosures required for the
purpose of issuing of the Debentures. The issue of the Debentures under this Information
Memorandum (“the Issue”) has been authorised pursuant to the resolutions passed by the governing
board of K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP dated September 14, 2020read with the resolution
passed by the executive committee of the Investment Manager dated March 9, 2021 wherein the
Issuer has been authorised to borrow an aggregate amount up to INR 75,00,00,000/- (Indian Rupees
Seventy Five crores only).

General Risks: Potential investors are advised to read the Information Memorandum carefully before
taking an investment decision in this Issue. For taking an investment decision, investors must rely on
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their own examination of the Issuer and the offer including the risks involved. The Debentures have
not been recommended or approved by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (“SEBI”) nor does
SEBI guarantee the accuracy or adequacy of this document. This Document has not been submitted,
cleared or approved by SEBI.

Credit Rating: CRISIL Ratings Limited has assigned a rating of “CRISIL/AAA Stable” (pronounced as
“CRISIL triple A rating with stable outlook”) to the Debentures. The rating is not a recommendation
to buy, sell or hold securities and investors should take their own decision. The rating may be subject
to revision or withdrawal at any time by the assigned rating agency and each rating should be
evaluated independently of any other rating. The ratings obtained are subject to revision at any point
of time in the future. The rating agency has the right to suspend, withdraw the rating at any time on
the basis of new information, etc. The rating rationale has been provided in Schedule 2.

Issue Schedule:

Issue opening date March 17, 2021
Issue closing date March 17, 2021
Pay In date March 18, 2021
Deemed date of allotment March 18, 2021

LINKIniime

IDBI Trusteeship Services Ltd

Debenture Trustee: Registrar and Transfer Agent: Link

IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited Intime India Private Limited

SEBI Registration No. INDO0O0000460 SEBI Registration No. INRO0O0004058

Address: Asian Building, Ground Floor, 17, Address: 247 Park, C 101 1°* Floor, LBS Marg,
R. Kamani Marg, Vikhroli (W ), Mumbai — 400 083

Ballard Estate

Mumbai Tel: +91 22 49186000

400001 Contact Person: Ganesh Jadhav

Website : www.linkintime.co.in
E-mail: debtca@linkintime.co.in
Tel: 022 40807000

Contact Person: Ritobrata Mitra/Mandeep Kaur
Website : www.idbitrustee.com

E-mail: : itsl@idbitrustee.com

Listing

The Debentures are proposed to be listed on the Wholesale Debt Market segment of BSE Limited
(“BSE / Stock Exchange”).

This Information Memorandum is prepared in conformity with (i) the Securities and Exchange Board
of India (Issue and Listing of Debt Securities) Regulations, 2008 (as amended from time to time) read
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with the Security and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements)
Regulations, 2015 (as amended from time to time); and (ii) SEBI circular
SEBI/HO/DDHS/DDHS/CIR/P/2018/71 dated April 13, 2018 titled “Guidelines for issuance of debt
securities by Real Estate Investment Trusts (REITs) and Infrastructure Investment Trusts (InvITs)”, each
as amended from time to time.

Note: The Issuer acting through its Investment Manager reserves the right to change the Issue
Schedule and in such an event, the Deemed Date of Allotment for the Debentures may also be
revised by the Investment Manager at its sole and absolute discretion without giving any prior
notice.

The Issue shall be open for subscription during the banking hours on each day during the period
covered by the Issue Schedule.
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DISCLAIMERS
DISCLAIMERS OF THE ISSUER:

THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM HAS BEEN PREPARED TO PROVIDE GENERAL INFORMATION
ABOUT THE ISSUER TO POTENTIAL INVESTORS TO WHOM IT IS ADDRESSED AND WHO ARE WILLING
AND ELIGIBLE TO SUBSCRIBE TO THE DEBENTURES. THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM DOES NOT
PURPORT TO CONTAIN ALL THE INFORMATION THAT ANY POTENTIAL INVESTOR MAY REQUIRE.
NEITHER THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM NOR ANY OTHER INFORMATION SUPPLIED IN
CONNECTION WITH THE DEBENTURES IS INTENDED TO PROVIDE THE BASIS OF ANY CREDIT OR OTHER
EVALUATION NOR SHOULD ANY RECIPIENT OF THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM CONSIDER SUCH
RECEIPT A RECOMMENDATION TO PURCHASE ANY DEBENTURES. EACH INVESTOR CONTEMPLATING
THE PURCHASE OF ANY DEBENTURES SHOULD MAKE ITS OWN INDEPENDENT INVESTIGATION OF THE
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND AFFAIRS OF THE ISSUER, AND ITS OWN APPRAISAL OF THE
CREDITWORTHINESS OF THE ISSUER. POTENTIAL INVESTORS SHOULD CONSULT THEIR OWN
FINANCIAL, LEGAL, TAX AND OTHER PROFESSIONAL ADVISORS AS TO THE RISKS AND INVESTMENT
CONSIDERATIONS ARISING FROM AN INVESTMENT IN THE DEBENTURES AND SHOULD POSSESS THE
APPROPRIATE RESOURCES TO ANALYSE SUCH INVESTMENT AND THE SUITABILITY OF SUCH
INVESTMENT TO SUCH INVESTOR'S PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES. IT IS THE RESPONSIBILITY OF
INVESTORS TO ALSO ENSURE THAT THEY WILL SELL THESE DEBENTURES IN STRICT ACCORDANCE WITH
THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM AND OTHER APPLICABLE LAWS, SO THAT ANY SUCH OFFER,
INVITATION, DISTRIBUTION OR SALE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE AN OFFER TO THE PUBLIC WITHIN THE
MEANING OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE BOARD OF INDIA (ISSUE AND LISTING OF DEBT
SECURITIES) REGULATIONS, 2008. THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM IS INTENDED TO BE
CIRCULATED TO SUCH NUMBER OF PERSONS AS MAY BE PERMISSIBLE UNDER APPLICABLE LAWS IN A
FINANCIAL YEAR. NONE OF THE INTERMEDIARIES OR THEIR AGENTS OR ADVISORS ASSOCIATED WITH
THIS ISSUE UNDERTAKE TO REVIEW THE FINANCIAL CONDITION OR AFFAIRS OF THE ISSUER DURING
THE LIFE OF THE ARRANGEMENTS CONTEMPLATED BY THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM OR HAVE
ANY RESPONSIBILITY TO ADVISE ANY INVESTOR OR POTENTIAL INVESTOR IN THE DEBENTURES OF ANY
INFORMATION AVAILABLE WITH OR SUBSEQUENTLY COMING TO THE ATTENTION OF THE
INTERMEDIARIES, AGENTS OR ADVISORS.

NO PERSON HAS BEEN AUTHORIZED TO GIVE ANY INFORMATION OR TO MAKE ANY REPRESENTATION
NOT CONTAINED OR INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE IN THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM OR IN
ANY MATERIAL MADE AVAILABLE BY THE ISSUER TO ANY POTENTIAL INVESTOR PURSUANT HERETO
AND, IF GIVEN OR MADE, SUCH INFORMATION OR REPRESENTATION MUST NOT BE RELIED UPON AS
HAVING BEEN AUTHORIZED BY THE ISSUER. THE INTERMEDIARIES AND THEIR AGENTS OR ADVISORS
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS ISSUE HAVE NOT SEPARATELY VERIFIED THE INFORMATION CONTAINED
HEREIN. ACCORDINGLY, NO REPRESENTATION, WARRANTY OR UNDERTAKING, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED,
IS MADE AND NO RESPONSIBILITY IS ACCEPTED BY ANY SUCH INTERMEDIARY. SUCH PERSON HAS NOT
RELIED ON ANY INTERMEDIARY AS TO THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF THE INFORMATION
CONTAINED IN THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM OR ANY OTHER INFORMATION PROVIDED BY THE
ISSUER. ACCORDINGLY, ALL SUCH INTERMEDIARIES ASSOCIATED WITH THIS ISSUE SHALL HAVE NO
LIABILITY IN RELATION TO THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM
OR ANY OTHER INFORMATION PROVIDED BY THE ISSUER IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUE.

THE CONTENTS OF THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM ARE INTENDED TO BE USED ONLY BY THOSE
INVESTORS TO WHOM IT IS ISSUED. IT IS NOT INTENDED FOR DISTRIBUTION TO ANY OTHER PERSON
AND SHOULD NOT BE REPRODUCED BY THE RECIPIENT.
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THE PERSON WHO IS IN RECEIPT OF THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM SHALL MAINTAIN UTMOST
CONFIDENTIALITY REGARDING THE CONTENTS OF THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM AND SHALL
NOT REPRODUCE OR DISTRIBUTE IN WHOLE OR PART OR MAKE ANY ANNOUNCEMENT IN PUBLIC OR
TO A THIRD PARTY REGARDING ITS CONTENTS, WITHOUT THE PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT OF THE
ISSUER.

EACH PERSON RECEIVING THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM ACKNOWLEDGES THAT:

- SUCH PERSON HAS BEEN AFFORDED AN OPPORTUNITY TO REQUEST AND TO REVIEW AND HAS
RECEIVED ALL ADDITIONAL INFORMATION CONSIDERED BY SUCH PERSON TO BE NECESSARY
TO VERIFY THE ACCURACY OF OR TO SUPPLEMENT THE INFORMATION HEREIN; AND

- SUCH PERSON HAS NOT RELIED ON ANY INTERMEDIARY THAT MAY BE ASSOCIATED WITH
ISSUANCE OF THE DEBENTURES IN CONNECTION WITH ITS INVESTIGATION OF THE ACCURACY
OF SUCH INFORMATION OR ITS INVESTMENT DECISION.

THE ISSUER DOES NOT UNDERTAKE TO UPDATE THE INFORMATION MEMORANDUM TO REFLECT
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE DATE OF THE INFORMATION MEMORANDUM EXCEPT IN
ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS AND THUS IT SHOULD NOT BE RELIED UPON WITH RESPECT
TO SUCH SUBSEQUENT EVENTS WITHOUT FIRST CONFIRMING ITS ACCURACY WITH THE ISSUER.
NEITHER THE DELIVERY OF THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM NOR ANY SALE OF DEBENTURES
MADE HEREUNDER SHALL, UNDER ANY CIRCUMSTANCES, CONSTITUTE A REPRESENTATION OR
CREATE ANY IMPLICATION THAT THERE HAS BEEN NO CHANGE IN THE AFFAIRS OF THE ISSUER SINCE
THE DATE HEREOF.

THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM DOES NOT CONSTITUTE, NOR MAY IT BE USED FOR OR IN
CONNECTION WITH, AN OFFER OR SOLICITATION BY ANYONE IN ANY JURISDICTION IN WHICH SUCH
OFFER OR SOLICITATION IS NOT AUTHORIZED OR TO ANY PERSON TO WHOM IT IS UNLAWFUL TO
EXTEND SUCH AN OFFER OR SOLICITATION. NO ACTION IS BEING TAKEN TO PERMIT AN OFFERING OF
THE DEBENTURES OR THE DISTRIBUTION OF THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM IN ANY
JURISDICTION WHERE SUCH ACTION IS REQUIRED. THE DISTRIBUTION OF THIS INFORMATION
MEMORANDUM AND THE OFFERING AND SALE OF THE DEBENTURES MAY BE RESTRICTED BY LAW IN
CERTAIN JURISDICTIONS. PERSONS INTO WHOSE POSSESSION THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM
COMES ARE REQUIRED TO INFORM THEMSELVES ABOUT AND TO OBSERVE ANY SUCH RESTRICTIONS.

NO PRIOR CONSENT IS REQUIRED FROM EXISTING LENDERS / TRUSTEES OF THE ISSUER FOR THE
ISSUANCE OF DEBENTURES OR CREATION OF SECURITY TO SECURE THE DEBENTURES.

THE INFORMATION MEMORANDUM IS MADE AVAILABLE TO POTENTIAL INVESTORS IN THE ISSUE ON
THE STRICT UNDERSTANDING THAT IT IS CONFIDENTIAL.

DISCLAIMER OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE:

ITISTO BE DISTINCTLY UNDERSTOOD THAT FILING OF THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM WITH THE
STOCK EXCHANGE SHOULD NOT, IN ANY WAY, BE DEEMED OR CONSTRUED THAT THE SAME HAS BEEN
CLEARED OR APPROVED BY THE STOCK EXCHANGE NOR DOES THE STOCK EXCHANGE IN ANY MANNER
WARRANT, CERTIFY OR ENDORSE THE CORRECTNESS OR COMPLETENESS OF ANY OF THE CONTENTS
OF THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM, NOR DOES THE STOCK EXCHANGE WARRANT THAT THE
ISSUER’S DEBENTURES WILL BE LISTED OR WILL CONTINUE TO BE LISTED ON THE STOCK EXCHANGE;
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NOR DOES THE STOCK EXCHANGE TAKE ANY RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE SOUNDNESS OF THE FINANCIAL
AND OTHER CONDITIONS OF THE ISSUER, ITS MANAGEMENT OR ANY SCHEME OR PROJECT OF THE
ISSUER.

DISCLAIMER OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE BOARD OF INDIA:

THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM HAS NOT BEEN FILED WITH THE SECURITIES & EXCHANGE
BOARD OF INDIA (SEBI). THE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN RECOMMENDED OR APPROVED BY SEBI NOR
DOES SEBI GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS DOCUMENT. THIS DOCUMENT
SHOULD NOT, IN ANY WAY, BE DEEMED OR CONSTRUED TO HAVE BEEN CLEARED OR VETTED BY SEBI.
SEBI DOES NOT TAKE ANY RESPONSIBILITY EITHER FOR THE FINANCIAL SOUNDNESS OF ANY SCHEME
OR THE PROJECT FOR WHICH THE ISSUE IS PROPOSED TO BE MADE, OR FOR THE CORRECTNESS OF
THE STATEMENTS MADE OR OPINIONS EXPRESSED IN THIS DOCUMENT. THE ISSUE OF DEBENTURES
IS BEING MADE ON A PRIVATE PLACEMENT BASIS AND, THEREFORE, FILING OF THIS DOCUMENT WITH
SEBI IS NOT REQUIRED, HOWEVER SEBI RESERVES THE RIGHT TO TAKE UP AT ANY POINT OF TIME,
WITH THE ISSUER, ANY IRREGULARITIES OR LAPSES IN THIS DOCUMENT.

DISCLAIMER OF THE CREDIT RATING AGENCY:

THIS DISCLAIMER FORMS PART OF AND APPLIES TO EACH CREDIT RATING REPORT AND/OR CREDIT
RATING RATIONALE (EACH A "REPORT") THAT IS PROVIDED BY CRISIL RATINGS LIMITED (HEREINAFTER
REFERRED TO AS "CRISIL RATINGS"). FOR THE AVOIDANCE OF DOUBT, THE TERM "REPORT" INCLUDES
THE INFORMATION, RATINGS AND OTHER CONTENT FORMING PART OF THE REPORT. THE REPORT IS
INTENDED FOR THE JURISDICTION OF INDIA ONLY. THIS REPORT DOES NOT CONSTITUTE AN OFFER OF
SERVICES. WITHOUT LIMITING THE GENERALITY OF THE FOREGOING, NOTHING IN THE REPORT ISTO
BE CONSTRUED AS CRISIL RATINGS PROVIDING OR INTENDING TO PROVIDE ANY SERVICES IN
JURISDICTIONS WHERE CRISIL RATINGS DOES NOT HAVE THE NECESSARY LICENSES AND/OR
REGISTRATION TO CARRY OUT ITS BUSINESS ACTIVITIES REFERRED TO ABOVE. ACCESS OR USE OF THIS
REPORT DOES NOT CREATE A CLIENT RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN CRISIL RATINGS AND THE USER.

WE ARE NOT AWARE THAT ANY USER INTENDS TO RELY ON THE REPORT OR OF THE MANNER IN
WHICH A USER INTENDS TO USE THE REPORT. IN PREPARING OUR REPORT WE HAVE NOT TAKEN INTO
CONSIDERATION THE OBJECTIVES OR PARTICULAR NEEDS OF ANY PARTICULAR USER. IT IS MADE
ABUNDANTLY CLEAR THAT THE REPORT IS NOT INTENDED TO AND DOES NOT CONSTITUTE AN
INVESTMENT ADVICE. THE REPORT IS NOT AN OFFER TO SELL OR AN OFFER TO PURCHASE OR
SUBSCRIBE FOR ANY INVESTMENT IN ANY SECURITIES, INSTRUMENTS, FACILITIES OR SOLICITATION
OF ANY KIND OR OTHERWISE ENTER INTO ANY DEAL OR TRANSACTION WITH THE ENTITY TO WHICH
THE REPORT PERTAINS. THE REPORT SHOULD NOT BE THE SOLE OR PRIMARY BASIS FOR ANY
INVESTMENT DECISION WITHIN THE MEANING OF ANY LAW OR REGULATION (INCLUDING THE LAWS
AND REGULATIONS APPLICABLE IN THE US).

RATINGS FROM CRISIL RATINGS ARE STATEMENTS OF OPINION AS OF THE DATE THEY ARE EXPRESSED
AND NOT STATEMENTS OF FACT OR RECOMMENDATIONS TO PURCHASE, HOLD, OR SELL ANY
SECURITIES / INSTRUMENTS OR TO MAKE ANY INVESTMENT DECISIONS. ANY OPINIONS EXPRESSED
HERE ARE IN GOOD FAITH, ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE WITHOUT NOTICE, AND ARE ONLY CURRENT AS
OF THE STATED DATE OF THEIR ISSUE. CRISIL RATINGS ASSUMES NO OBLIGATION TO UPDATE ITS
OPINIONS FOLLOWING PUBLICATION IN ANY FORM OR FORMAT ALTHOUGH CRISIL RATINGS MAY
DISSEMINATE ITS OPINIONS AND ANALYSIS. RATING BY CRISIL RATINGS CONTAINED IN THE REPORT
IS NOT A SUBSTITUTE FOR THE SKILL, JUDGMENT AND EXPERIENCE OF THE USER, ITS MANAGEMENT,
EMPLOYEES, ADVISORS AND/OR CLIENTS WHEN MAKING INVESTMENT OR OTHER BUSINESS
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DECISIONS. THE RECIPIENTS OF THE REPORT SHOULD RELY ON THEIR OWN JUDGMENT AND TAKE
THEIR OWN PROFESSIONAL ADVICE BEFORE ACTING ON THE REPORT IN ANY WAY. CRISIL RATINGS OR
ITS ASSOCIATES MAY HAVE OTHER COMMERCIAL TRANSACTIONS WITH THE COMPANY/ENTITY.
NEITHER CRISIL RATINGS NOR ITS AFFILIATES, THIRD PARTY PROVIDERS, AS WELL AS THEIR
DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, SHAREHOLDERS, EMPLOYEES OR AGENTS (COLLECTIVELY, "CRISIL RATINGS
PARTIES") GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY, COMPLETENESS OR ADEQUACY OF THE REPORT, AND NO
CRISIL RATINGS PARTY SHALL HAVE ANY LIABILITY FOR ANY ERRORS, OMISSIONS, OR INTERRUPTIONS
THEREIN, REGARDLESS OF THE CAUSE, OR FOR THE RESULTS OBTAINED FROM THE USE OF ANY PART
OF THE REPORT. EACH CRISIL RATINGS' PARTY DISCLAIMS ANY AND ALL EXPRESS OR IMPLIED
WARRANTIES, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, ANY WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY,
SUITABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR USE. IN NO EVENT SHALL ANY CRISIL
RATINGS PARTY BE LIABLE TO ANY PARTY FOR ANY DIRECT, INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, EXEMPLARY,
COMPENSATORY, PUNITIVE, SPECIAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, COSTS, EXPENSES, LEGAL FEES,
OR LOSSES (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, LOST INCOME OR LOST PROFITS AND OPPORTUNITY
COSTS) IN CONNECTION WITH ANY USE OF ANY PART OF THE REPORT EVEN IF ADVISED OF THE
POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES.

CRISIL RATINGS MAY RECEIVE COMPENSATION FOR ITS RATINGS AND CERTAIN CREDIT-RELATED
ANALYSES, NORMALLY FROM ISSUERS OR UNDERWRITERS OF THE INSTRUMENTS, FACILITIES,
SECURITIES OR FROM OBLIGORS. CRISIL RATING'S PUBLIC RATINGS AND ANALYSIS AS ARE REQUIRED
TO BE DISCLOSED UNDER THE REGULATIONS OF THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE BOARD OF INDIA
(AND OTHER APPLICABLE REGULATIONS, IF ANY) ARE MADE AVAILABLE ON ITS WEB SITES,
WWW.CRISIL.COM (FREE OF CHARGE). REPORTS WITH MORE DETAIL AND ADDITIONAL
INFORMATION MAY BE AVAILABLE FOR SUBSCRIPTION AT A FEE - MORE DETAILS ABOUT RATINGS BY
CRISIL RATINGS ARE AVAILABLE HERE: WWW.CRISILRATINGS.COM.

CRISIL RATINGS AND ITS AFFILIATES DO NOT ACT AS A FIDUCIARY. WHILE CRISIL RATINGS HAS
OBTAINED INFORMATION FROM SOURCES IT BELIEVES TO BE RELIABLE, CRISIL RATINGS DOES NOT
PERFORM AN AUDIT AND UNDERTAKES NO DUTY OF DUE DILIGENCE OR INDEPENDENT VERIFICATION
OF ANY INFORMATION IT RECEIVES AND / OR RELIES IN ITS REPORTS. CRISIL RATINGS HAS
ESTABLISHED POLICIES AND PROCEDURES TO MAINTAIN THE CONFIDENTIALITY OF CERTAIN NON-
PUBLIC INFORMATION RECEIVED IN CONNECTION WITH EACH ANALYTICAL PROCESS. CRISIL RATINGS
HAS IN PLACE A RATINGS CODE OF CONDUCT AND POLICIES FOR ANALYTICAL FIREWALLS AND FOR
MANAGING CONFLICT OF INTEREST. FOR DETAILS PLEASE REFER TO:
HTTP://WWW.CRISIL.COM/RATINGS/HIGHLIGHTEDPOLICY.HTML

RATING CRITERIA BY CRISIL RATINGS ARE GENERALLY AVAILABLE WITHOUT CHARGE TO THE PUBLIC
ON THE CRISIL RATINGS PUBLIC WEB SITE, WWW.CRISIL.COM. FOR LATEST RATING INFORMATION ON
ANY INSTRUMENT OF ANY COMPANY RATED BY CRISIL RATINGS YOU MAY CONTACT CRISIL RATING
DESK AT CRISILRATINGDESK@CRISIL.COM, OR AT (0091) 1800 267 1301.

DISCLAIMER OF THE DEBENTURE TRUSTEE

THE DEBENTURE TRUSTEE DOES NOT GUARANTEE THE TERMS OF PAYMENT REGARDING THE ISSUE
AS STATED IN THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM AND SHALL NOT BE HELD LIABLE FOR ANY
DEFAULT IN THE SAME. NEITHER THE DEBENTURE TRUSTEE NOR ANY OF ITS AFFILIATES /
REPRESENTATIVES MAKE ANY REPRESENTATIONS OR ASSUME ANY RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
ACCURACY OF THE INFORMATION GIVEN IN THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM.
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THE DEBENTURE TRUSTEE IPSO FACTO DOES NOT HAVE THE OBLIGATIONS OF A BORROWER OR A
PRINCIPAL DEBTOR OR A GUARANTOR AS TO THE MONIES PAID/INVESTED BY THE SUBSCRIBERS TO
THE DEBENTURES.

DISCLAIMER FOR ROUNDING OFF NUMBERS

SOME NUMBERS ARE ROUNDED OFF IN THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

ALL STATEMENTS IN THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM THAT ARE NOT STATEMENTS OF
HISTORICAL FACT CONSTITUTE “FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS”. ALL STATEMENTS REGARDING
THE ISSUER’S EXPECTED FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS, BUSINESS, PLANS AND
PROSPECTS ARE FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS. THESE FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS AND
ANY OTHER PROJECTIONS CONTAINED IN THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM (WHETHER MADE BY
THE ISSUER OR ANY THIRD PARTY) ARE PREDICTIONS AND INVOLVE KNOWN AND UNKNOWN RISKS,
UNCERTAINTIES AND OTHER FACTORS THAT MAY CAUSE THE ISSUER’S ACTUAL RESULTS,
PERFORMANCE AND ACHIEVEMENTS TO BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM ANY FUTURE RESULTS,
PERFORMANCE OR ACHIEVEMENTS EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED BY SUCH FORWARD LOOKING
STATEMENTS OR OTHER PROJECTIONS. THE FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS, IF ANY, CONTAINED
IN THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM ARE BASED ON THE BELIEFS OF THE MANAGEMENT OF THE
ISSUER, AS WELL AS THE ASSUMPTIONS MADE BY AND INFORMATION AVAILABLE TO MANAGEMENT
AS AT THE DATE OF THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM. THERE CAN BE NO ASSURANCE THAT THE
EXPECTATIONS WILL PROVE TO BE CORRECT. THE ISSUER EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS ANY OBLIGATION OR
UNDERTAKING TO RELEASE ANY UPDATED INFORMATION OR REVISIONS TO ANY FORWARD LOOKING
STATEMENTS CONTAINED HEREIN TO REFLECT ANY CHANGES IN THE EXPECTATIONS OR
ASSUMPTIONS WITH REGARD THERETO OR ANY CHANGE IN THE EVENTS, CONDITIONS OR
CIRCUMSTANCES ON WHICH SUCH STATEMENTS ARE BASED. GIVEN THESE UNCERTAINTIES,
RECIPIENTS ARE CAUTIONED NOT TO PLACE UNDUE RELIANCE ON SUCH FORWARD LOOKING
STATEMENTS. ALL SUBSEQUENT WRITTEN AND ORAL FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS
ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE ISSUER ARE EXPRESSLY QUALIFIED IN THEIR ENTIRETY BY REFERENCE TO THESE
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT.

THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM IS NOT INTENDED TO BE (AND SHOULD NOT BE USED AS) THE
BASIS OF ANY CREDIT ANALYSIS OR OTHER EVALUATION AND SHOULD NOT BE CONSIDERED AS A
RECOMMENDATION BY THE ISSUER OR BY ANY OTHER PERSON WHO PARTICIPATES IN THE ISSUE OR
ADVICE OF ANY SORT. IT IS UNDERSTOOD THAT EACH RECIPIENT OF THIS INFORMATION
MEMORANDUM WILL PERFORM ITS OWN INDEPENDENT INVESTIGATION AND CREDIT ANALYSIS OF
THE PROPOSED FINANCING AND THE BUSINESS, OPERATIONS, FINANCIAL CONDITION, PROSPECTS,
CREDITWORTHINESS, STATUS AND AFFAIRS OF THE ISSUER, BASED ON SUCH INFORMATION AND
INDEPENDENT INVESTIGATION AS IT DEEMS RELEVANT OR APPROPRIATE AND WITHOUT RELIANCE
ON THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM.

YOU SHOULD CAREFULLY READ AND RETAIN THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM. HOWEVER, YOU
ARE NOT TO CONSTRUE THE CONTENTS OF THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM AS INVESTMENT,
LEGAL, ACCOUNTING, REGULATORY OR TAX ADVICE, AND YOU SHOULD CONSULT WITH YOUR OWN
ADVISORS AS TO ALL LEGAL, ACCOUNTING, REGULATORY, TAX, FINANCIAL AND RELATED MATTERS
CONCERNING AN INVESTMENT IN THE DEBENTURES.
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GLOSSARY

References to any legislation, act, regulations, rules, guidelines or policies shall be to such legislation,
act, requlations, rules, guidelines or policies as amended, supplemented, or re-enacted from time to
time and any reference to a statutory provision shall include any subordinate legislation made under

that provision.

Unless the context otherwise indicates or requires, the following terms used in this Information
Memorandum shall have the meanings given below.

TERM

DESCRIPTION

Account Bank (Subscription)

HDFC Bank Limited with its branch office at Mumbai

Account Bank (Escrow)

HDFC Bank Limited with its branch office at Mumbai

APIIC

Andhra Pradesh Industrial Infrastructure Corporation
Limited, a government company validly existing under the
Companies Act 2013 and wholly owned by the Government
of Andhra Pradesh, India. Consequent upon Telangana
State Industrial Infrastructure Corporation Limited
(“TSIIC”) (a Government of Telangana Undertaking)
becoming a shareholder and member of Sundew, Intime
and KRIT, the references to APIIC shall be substituted for
TSIIC

Applicable Law

All applicable laws, bye-laws, rules, regulations, orders,
ordinances, protocols, codes, guidelines, policies, notices,
directions, judgments, decrees or other requirements or
official directives of any Governmental Authority or Person
acting under the authority of any Governmental Authority
and/or of any statutory authority, and specifically
including, the RBI, SEBI and/or of a stock exchange,
whether in effect on the date of this Information
Memorandum or thereafter.

Asset SPV

MBPPL

Avacado

Avacado Properties and Trading (India) Private Limited

Base Rent (psf per month)

Base Rentals for the specified period

Occupied Area > monthly factor

Base Rentals (X)

Rental income contracted from the leasing of Occupied
Area. It does not include fit-out rent, maintenance services
income, car park income and others

BREP Entities

BREP Asia SBS Pearl Holding (NQ) Ltd, BREP VIII SBS Pearl
Holding (NQ) Ltd, and BREP Asia SG Pearl Holding (NQ) Pte.
Ltd., being certain entities affiliated with The Blackstone
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Group Inc.

CAGR

Compounded Annual Growth Rate

Commerzone Porur

Commerzone Porur is an under-construction asset, which
is located in the South West Chennai micro- market.

Commerzone Yerwada

Completed and operational building nos. 1, 4,5, 6, 7, 8 and
the amenity building situated at Commerzone, Samrat
Ashok Path, Off Airport Road, Yerwada, Pune,
Maharashtra, India

Committed Area

Completed Area which is unoccupied but for which letter
of intent / agreement to lease have been signed

Committed Occupancy (%)

(Occupied Area + Committed Area) divided by Completed
Area

Completed Area (sf)

Leasable Area for which occupancy certificate has been
received; Completed Area comprises Occupied Area,
Committed Area and Vacant Area

Condensed Combined Financial
Statements of Mindspace Business
Parks Group

The special purpose condensed combined financial
statements of Mindspace Business Parks Group, which
comprise the combined balance sheet as at March 31,
2020, March 31, 2019 and March 31, 2018, combined
statement of net assets at fair value as at March 31, 2020,
combined statement of total returns at fair value as at
March 31, 2020, combined statement of profit and loss,
combined statement of cash flow, combined statement of
changes in equity, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information for the financial
years ended March 31, 2020, March 31, 2019 and March
31, 2018 Such financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the basis of preparation described within
Note 2 to the financial statements

Condensed Consolidated Interim
Financial Statements

The Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements
of the Mindspace Business Parks REIT which comprise the
Condensed Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2020, the
Condensed Statement of Profit and Loss, including other
comprehensive income, the Condensed Statement of Cash
Flow for quarter and nine months ended 31 December
2020, the Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows for
the quarter ended 31 December 2020,the Condensed
Statement of Changes in Unitholders Equity for the nine
months ended 31 December 2020 and a summary of the
significant accounting policies and select explanatory
information and other additional financial disclosures.
Such financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the basis of preparation described within
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Note 2 to the financial statements

CTL

Cape Trading LLP

Debenture Trust Deed

The debenture trust deed dated on or about the date of
this Information Memorandum between the Issuer and the
Debenture Trustee for the purposes of setting out the
detailed terms and conditions of the Debentures.

Debenture Trustee

Trustee for the Debenture holders, in this case being IDBI
Trusteeship Services Limited.

Debentures

Secured, listed, senior, taxable, non-cumulative, rated,
redeemable non-convertible debentures

Deemed Date of Allotment

March 18, 2021

Depository

A depository registered with SEBI under the Securities and
Exchange Board of India (Depositories and Participant)
Regulations, 2018, as amended from time to time, for the
purpose of dematerialisation of the Debentures in
connection with the Issue, being NSDL and CDSL)

Depository Participant/ DP

A depository participant as defined under the Depositories
Act, 1996

Information Memorandum

This Information Memorandum for private placement of
Debentures

EBP

Electronic Book Building Platform of BSE

EBP Guidelines

The circulars issued by the SEBI dated January 5, 2018 and
August 16, 2018 with respect to the electronic book
mechanism for issuance of securities on a private
placement basis read with the ‘Operational Guidelines for
issuance of Securities on Private Placement basis through
an Electronic Book Mechanism’ dated September 28,
2018, issued by BSE

Eligible Investor(s)

resident individuals,

Hindu undivided family,

trust,

limited liability partnerships, partnership firm(s),

e portfolio managers,

e association of persons,

e companies and bodies corporate including public
sector undertakings,

e commercial banks, regional rural banks, financial
institutions and non banking financial companies

e insurance companies,
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e mutual funds/ alternative investment fund (AIF), and

e any other investor eligible to invest in these
Debentures

in each case, as may be permitted under Applicable Law

Formation Transactions

The transactions pursuant to which Mindspace REIT
acquired interest in the Group SPVs holding the Portfolio

Future Development Area(sf)

Leasable Area of an asset that is planned for future
development, as may be permissible under the relevant
rules and regulations, subject to requisite approvals as may
be required, and for which internal development plans are
yet to be finalized and applications for requisite approvals
required under law for commencement of construction are
yet to be received

FY / Financial Year

Financial year ending March 31 of each year

Gera Commerzone Kharadi

Completed and operational building nos. 3 and 6, under-
construction building no. 5 and future development of
building no. 4 situated in Gera Commerzone, Kharadi,
Pune, Maharashtra, India

Gigaplex

Gigaplex Estate Private Limited

Governmental Authority

(a) government (central, state or otherwise) or sovereign
state;

(b) any governmental agency, semi-governmental or
judicial or quasi-judicial or regulatory or supervisory
or administrative entity, department or authority,
court or tribunal or any political subdivision thereof;
or

(c) international organization, agency or authority;

including, without limitation, any stock exchange or
any self-regulatory organisation, established under
any Applicable Law.

Gross Contracted Rentals (X)

Gross Contracted Rentals is the sum of Base Rentals and fit-
out rent invoiced from Occupied Area that is expected to
be received from the tenants pursuant to the agreements
entered into with them

Group SPVs

Collectively, Avacado, Gigaplex, Horizonview, Intime, KRIT,
KRC Infra, MBPPL and Sundew

Horizonview

Horizonview Properties Private Limited

ICCL Account

The bank account selected, and as disclosed below, by the
Issuer, for the pay-in of funds towards the issue of
Debentures on EBP.
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In-place Rent (psf per month)

Base Rent for a specified month

Intime

Intime Properties Limited

Investment Management Agreement

The investment management agreement dated November
21, 2019, executed between the REIT Trustee (on behalf of
Mindspace REIT) and the Investment Manager

Investment Manager

K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP

Investor

An Eligible Investor investing in the Debentures

Issue Closing Date

March 17, 2021

Issue Opening Date

March 17, 2021

Issuer / Mindspace REIT

Mindspace Business Parks REIT

KRC Infra

KRC Infrastructure and Projects Private Limited

KRIT

K.Raheja IT Park (Hyderabad) Limited

Market Value

Market Value as determined by the Valuer as of September
30, 2020 This includes the market value of the Portfolio and
the facility management division, which is housed in one of
the Group SPVs, KRC Infra with effect from October 1, 2020

MBPPL

Mindspace Business Parks Private Limited

Mindspace Airoli East

Completed and operational building nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5&6, 7,
8,9, 10, 11, 12, 14, completed club house and the future
development building nos. 15, 16 and high street retail
shopping plaza situated at Mindspace, Thane Belapur
Road, Airoli, Navi Mumbai, Maharashtra, India, including a
portion of land admeasuring approximately 1.8 acres which
is proposed to be transferred subject to receipt of all
requisite prior approvals, permits, and consents from the
relevant authorities, as may be required and other
conditions as specified in the memorandum of
understanding dated August 5, 2016, extension letters
dated August 5, 2017, August 5, 2018 and August 5, 2019
and supplemental memorandum of understanding dated
December 16, 2019

Mindspace Airoli West

Completed and operational building nos. 1, 2, 3, 4,5, 6
along with the centre court and the under-construction
building no. 9 situated at Gigaplex, Plot no. 5, MIDC, Airoli
Knowledge Park, Airoli, Navi Mumbai, Maharashtra, India
including a portion of land admeasuring approximately
16.4 acres which is proposed to be transferred subject to
conditions as specified in the memorandum of
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understanding dated December 16, 2019

Mindspace Business Parks Group

Collectively, the Issuer and the Group SPVs

Mindspace Madhapur

Collectively, Mindspace Madhapur (Intime), Mindspace
Madhapur (KRIT) and Mindspace Madhapur (Sundew)

Mindspace Madhapur (Intime)

Completed and operational building nos. 5B, 6 and 9
situated at Mindspace, Madhapur, Hyderabad, Telangana,
India

Mindspace Madhapur (KRIT)

Completed and operational building nos. 1A, 1B, 2A, 2B,
3A, 3B, 4A&B, 5A, 7, 8 and 10 and approximately 1.8 acres
land for future development situated at Mindspace,
Madhapur, Hyderabad, Telangana, India

Mindspace Madhapur (Sundew)

Completed and operational buildings nos. 11, 12A, 12B,
12C, 14 and 20, completed building no. 12D and the under-
construction building no. 22 (hotel) situated at Mindspace,
Madhapur, Hyderabad, Telangana, India

Mindspace Pocharam

Completed and operational building no. 8, under-
construction building no. 9 situated at Mindspace,
Pocharam, Ranga Reddy, Secunderabad, Telangana, India,
including a portion of land admeasuring approximately
59.0 acres for future development out of which 40.0 acres
is proposed to be transferred subject to conditions as
specified in the memorandum of understanding dated
December 16, 2019

Mindspace REIT Assets

The Portfolio, and such other assets as may be held by
Mindspace REIT from time to time in accordance with the
REIT Regulations and applicable law

Net Operating Income (NOI)

Net Operating Income calculated as revenue from
operations less: direct operating expenses (which includes
maintenance service expenses, cost of work contract
services, property tax, insurance expense, cost of materials
sold, cost of power purchased and power-O&M expenses)

NSDL

National Securities Depository Limited

Occupancy (%)

Occupied Area/ Completed Area

Occupied Area (sf)

Completed Area for which lease agreements / leave and
license agreements have been signed with tenants

Paradigm Mindspace Malad

Completed and operational building no. 12, comprising A
and B wings of Paradigm Tower, situated at Chincholi
Bunder Link Road, Malad (West), Mumbai, Maharashtra,
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India

Parties to Mindspace REIT

The Sponsor Group, the REIT Trustee and the Investment
Manager

Pay In Date

March 18, 2021

Portfolio

Assets directly or indirectly owned by Mindspace REIT in
terms of the REIT Regulations, in (i) Paradigm Mindspace
Malad; (ii) Mindspace Airoli West; (iii) Commerzone Porur;
(iv) Mindspace Madhapur (Intime); (v) Mindspace
Madhapur (KRIT); (vi) Mindspace Madhapur (Sundew) (vii)
Gera Commerzone Kharadi; (viii) Commerzone Yerwada;
(ix) Mindspace Airoli East; (x) The Square, Nagar Road; (xi)
Mindspace Pocharam; ; and (xii) The Square BKC

Pricing Supplement

The pricing supplement filed by the Issuer with the Stock
Exchange on or about the Pay In Date

Pre-Leased Area or Pre-Committed
Area

Under Construction Area for which letter of intent /
agreement to lease/ lease deed/ leave and license
agreement has been entered into with prospective tenants

RBI Reserve Bank of India
REIT(s) Real Estate Investment Trust
REIT assets Real estate assets and any other assets held by the REIT, on

a freehold or leasehold basis, whether directly or through
a Holding Company and/or a special purpose vehicle

REIT Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Real Estate
Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, including any
amendment or modification thereto

REIT Trustee

Axis Trustee Services Limited

Registrar and Transfer Agent

Link Intime India Private Limited

SEBI

Securities and Exchange Board of India

SEBI Guidelines

Circular dated December 19, 2016 on Guidelines for public
issue of units of REITs issued by SEBI as amended by circular
dated January 15, 2019, circular dated December 26, 2016
on Disclosure of Financial Information in Offer Document
for REITs issued by SEBI, circular dated December 29, 2016
on Continuous Disclosures and Compliances by REITs
issued by SEBI, circular dated January 18, 2018 on
participation by Strategic Investor(s) in InvITs and REITs
issued by the SEBI, Circular dated April 23, 2019 on
Guidelines for determination of allotment and trading lot
size for Real Estate Investment Trusts (REITs) and
Infrastructure Investment Trusts (InvITs) and any other
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circulars, guidelines and clarifications issued by SEBI under
the REIT Regulations, as amended from time to time

SEBI ILDS Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing of
Debt Securities) Regulations, 2008

Sponsor Group

With reference to the Issuer, means such persons disclosed
under the category of ‘Sponsor Group’ to the Stock
Exchange, from time to time

Sponsors

Collectively, ACL and CTL

Standalone Financial Statements

The standalone financial statements of the Issuer, which
comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2020 and as
at March 31, 2020; the statement of profit and loss for the
quarter and nine months ended 31 December 2020 and
financial year ended March 31, 2020, and the cash flow
statement for the quarter and nine months ended 31
December 2020 and financial year ended March 31, 2020

N.B: Given that the Issuer was settled as a Trust on
November 18, 2019, Standalone Financial Statements for
FY 2018-19 and FY 2017-18 are not available

Stock Exchange

BSE Limited

Subscription Account

Bank account of the Issuer into which the subscription
monies will be transferred from the ICCL Account on the
completion of the Issue, bearing account number
57500000569645 and opened in the name of the Issuer
with the Account Bank (Subscription)

Sundew

Sundew Properties Limited

Tax

Any tax, levy, impost, duty, surcharge, cess or other charge
or withholding of a similar nature (including any penalty or
interest payable in connection with any failure to pay or
any delay in paying any of the same) imposed by any
Governmental Authority, and whether on a transaction,
income or otherwise and including stamp duties,
registration fees, service tax, VAT, education cess, etc.,
both present and future and “Taxes” shall be construed
accordingly

The Square, BKC

Completed and operational building C-61 located in Bandra
Kurla Complex, Mumbai Region, Maharashtra. It is a
commercial building, previously held by Citi Bank N.A., with
a total leasable area of approximately 0.1 million square
feet

The Square, Nagar Road

Completed and operational commercial and IT building
situated at 7, Ahmednagar Road, Wadgaon Sheri, Pune,
Maharashtra, India
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Total Leasable Area(sf)

Total Leasable Area is the sum of Completed Area, Under
Construction Area and Future Development Area

Trading Day A day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which the
Stock Exchange is open for trading of the Units
Trust Deed The trust deed dated November 18, 2019 entered into

between the Sponsors and the REIT Trustee

Under Construction Area(sf)

Leasable Area for which occupancy certificate has been
received; Completed Area comprises Occupied Area,
Committed Area and Vacant Area

Unitholders

Any person or entity who holds Units of Mindspace REIT

Unit(s)

An undivided beneficial interest in Mindspace REIT, and
such Units together represent the entire beneficial interest
in Mindspace REIT

Vacant Area

Completed Area which is unoccupied and for which no
letter of intent / lease agreement / leave and license
agreement has been signed

WALE

Weighted Average Lease Expiry based on area. Calculated
assuming tenants exercise all their renewal options post
expiry of their initial commitment period
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RISK FACTORS

The Issuer believes that the following factors may affect its ability to fulfil its obligations in relation to
the Debentures. These risks may include, among others, business aspects, equity market, bond market,
interest rate, market volatility and economic, political and regulatory risks and any combination of
these and other risks. Eligible Investors should carefully consider all the information in this Information
Memorandum, including the risks and uncertainties described below, before making an investment in
the Debentures. All of these factors are contingencies which may or may not occur and the Issuer is not
in a position to express a view on the likelihood of any such contingency occurring.

RISKS RELATING TO THE ISSUER AND ISSUE
Every business carries certain inherent risks and uncertainties that can affect its financial condition,
results of operations and prospects. The management of the Issuer understands that risks can

negatively impact the attainment of both short term operational and long term strategic goals.

The following factors have been considered for determining the materiality, of which:

a) Some events may not be material individually but may be found material collectively.
b) Some events may have material impact qualitatively instead of quantitatively.
c) Some events may not be material at present but may have material impact in future.

The Issuer believes that these risk factors may affect its ability to fulfil its obligations under the
Debentures issued under this Information Memorandum. All of these factors may or may not occur
and the Issuer is not in a position to express a view on the likelihood of any such event occurring.

The following are the risks envisaged by the management of the Issuer relating to the Issuer, the
Debentures and the market in general. Potential investors should carefully consider all the risk
factors in this Information Memorandum for evaluating the Issuer and its business and the
Debentures before making any investment decision relating to the Debentures. Unless the context
requires otherwise, the risk factors described below apply to the Issuer. The Issuer believes that the
factors described below represent the principal risks inherent in investing in the Debentures, but
does not represent that the statements below regarding the risks of holding the Debentures are
exhaustive. The order of the risk factors is intended to facilitate ease of reading and reference and
does not in any manner indicate the importance of one risk factor over another. Investors should
also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Information Memorandum and reach
their own views prior to making any investment decision.

If any one of the following stated risks actually occurs, the Issuer’s business, financial conditions and
results of operations could suffer and, therefore, the value of the Issuer’s Debentures could decline
and/or the Issuer’s ability to meet its obligations in respect of the Debentures could be affected.
More than one risk factor may have simultaneous effect with regard to the Debentures such that
the effect of a particular risk factor may not be predictable.

Please note that unless specified or quantified in the relevant risk factors, the Issuer is not in a
position to quantify the financial or other implications of any risk mentioned herein below.

a. Repayment of principal and coupon is subject to the credit risk of the Issuer.
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While, the repayment of sums due at maturity is provided by the Issuer, Investors should be
aware that receipt of any coupon payment and principal amount at maturity on the
Debentures or the relevant coupon payment date, as the case may be, is subject to the credit
risk of the Issuer whereby the investor may or may not recover all or part of the funds in case
of default by the Issuer. Investors may or may not recover all or part of the Principal Amount
and/or the coupon in case of default by the Issuer. The Investors assume the risk that the
Issuer will not be able to satisfy their obligations under the Debentures. Any stated credit
rating of the Issuer, having been conducted, reflects the independent opinion of the
referenced rating agency as to the creditworthiness of the rated entity but is not a guarantee
of credit quality of the Issuer. Any downgrading of the credit ratings of the Issuer, by any rating
agency could result in a reduction in the value of the Debentures. In the event that bankruptcy
proceedings or composition, scheme of arrangement or similar proceedings to avert
bankruptcy are instituted by or against the Issuer, the payment of sums due on the Debentures
may be substantially reduced or delayed.

Any downgrade in credit rating may affect the ability of the Issuer to redeem the Debentures

The Debentures offered through this Issue have been rated “CRISIL AAA/Stable” (pronounced
“CRISIL triple A rating with Stable outlook”) by the Credit Rating Agency. Credit rating is merely
an indicator of the perceived repayment capability of a company. Therefore, the Credit Rating
of the Debentures may not bear any co-relation to the price of the Debentures. Further, the
Credit Rating is subject to continuous scrutiny and revision.

Tax Considerations and Legal Considerations

Special tax considerations and legal considerations may apply to certain types of potential
investors. Potential investors are urged to consult with their own financial, legal, tax and other
professional advisors to determine any financial, legal, tax and other implications of this
investment.

Issuer’s indebtedness and covenants imposed by its financing arrangements may restrict its
ability to conduct its business or operations

Issuer may enter into financing arrangements from time to time which may require it to
maintain certain security cover for some of its borrowings. Should there be any breach of
financial or other covenants of any financing arrangements and such breach continues beyond
the stipulated cure period (if any), the Issuer may be subjected to various consequences as a
result of such default including forced repayment of such borrowings. Further, under some of
the financing arrangements, the Issuer may be required to inform / obtain prior approval of
the lenders / debentures holders / debenture trustee for various actions. No prior consent is
required from existing lenders / trustees of the Issuer for the issuance of Debentures or
creation of security to secure the Debentures.

Accounting Considerations
Special accounting considerations may apply to certain types of taxpayers. Potential investors
are urged to consult with their own accounting advisors to determine implications of this

investment.

Security maybe insufficient to redeem the Debentures
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The Debentures are proposed to be secured by the assets described in “Issue Details”. In the
event that the Issuer is unable to meet its payment and other obligations towards potential
investors under the terms of the Debentures, the Debenture Trustee may enforce the security.
The potential investors’ recovery in relation to the Debentures will be inter alia subject to: (i)
the market value of the underlying security; and (ii) finding a willing buyer for such security at
a price sufficient to repay the amounts due and payable to the potential investors’ amounts
outstanding under the Debentures.

Changes in regulations / tax laws to which the Issuer is subject could impair the Issuer’s
ability to meet payments or other obligations.

The Issuer is subject generally to changes in Indian law and/or tax laws, as well as to changes
in government regulations by applicable regulators in India and policies and accounting
principles. Any changes in the regulatory framework could adversely affect the profitability of
the Issuer or its future financial performance, by requiring a restructuring of its activities,
increasing costs or otherwise.

General risk factors

Investment in debt and debt related securities involve a degree of risk and investors should
not invest any funds in the debt instruments, unless they can afford to take the risks attached
to such investments. Investors are advised to read the risk factors carefully before taking an
investment decision in this Issue. For taking an investment decision, the investors must rely
on their own examination of the Issuer, this Information Memorandum issued in pursuance
hereof and the Issue including the risks involved. The Issue has not been recommended or
approved by SEBI, BSE or RBI nor does SEBI, BSE or RBI guarantee the accuracy or adequacy of
this Information Memorandum.

Risks to Issuer’s Business

This section should be read together with “Overview” and “Management’s perception of Risk
Factors” as well as the Standalone Financial Statements, Condensed Combined Financial
Statements, Combined Consolidated Financial Statements of Mindspace Business Parks Group
including the notes thereto, and other financial information included elsewhere or referred or
extracted in this Information Memorandum. The risks and uncertainties described below are
not the only risks that we currently face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently
known to us, or that we currently believe to be immaterial, may also adversely affect our
business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations and cash flow.

Without limiting or restricting the effect of the above, risks to Issuer’s business includes the
following:

i. We have assumed liabilities in relation to the Portfolio and these liabilities, if realised,
may adversely affect our results of operations, cash flows, the trading price of the

Units and our profitability and ability to make distributions.

ii. The REIT Regulations impose certain restrictions on our operations, including
maintaining a specific threshold of investment in rent generating properties and

21



Vi.

Vii.

For private circulation only
Serial Number:
Addressee:

conditions on availing debt financing. These conditions may restrict our ability to raise
additional funds as well as limit our ability to make investments.

Regulatory framework governing REITs in India has been recently promulgated and is
relatively untested.

COVID-19 has caused a material decline in general business activity and demand for
real estate transactions, and if this persists, it may adversely affect our ability to
execute our growth strategies, including identifying and completing acquisitions and
expanding into new markets.

Factors related to the COVID-19 pandemic, or a future pandemic, that could have an
adverse impact on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows,
primarily include:

a. acomplete or partial closure of, or other operational issues at, one or more

of our properties;

b. tenants’ inability to pay rent on their leases, in part or full or our inability to
re-lease space that is or becomes vacant;
slowdown in getting lease commitments for new spaces;
any impairment in value of our properties;
an increase in operational costs; and
the extent of construction delays on our under-construction properties due
to work-stoppage orders, disruptions in the supply of materials, shortage of
labour, delays in inspections, or other factors

o Qoo

Real estate markets are cyclical in nature, and a recession, slowdown or downturn in
the real estate market as well as in specific sectors, such as technology, where our
tenants are concentrated, increase in property taxes, changes in development
regulations and zoning laws, availability of financing, rising interest rates, increasing
competition, adverse changes in the financial condition of our tenants, increased
operating costs, disruptions in amenities and public infrastructure and outbreaks of
infectious disease such as COVID-19, among others, may lead to a decline in demand
for our Portfolio, which may adversely affect our business, results of operations and
financial condition.

A significant portion of our revenues are derived from a limited number of tenants.
Any conditions that impact these tenants could adversely affect our business, results
of operations and financial condition. We are required by the terms of the lease
deeds, grant documents or sale deeds with certain statutory authorities to lease a
proportion of our Portfolio to tenants from the IT and ITeS sectors. Some of the assets
are large and contribute significantly to our revenue from operations resulting in asset
concentration. Assets are primarily located in four key office markets and select micro
markets within these office markets resulting in market and micro market
concentration.

Mindspace REIT has limited operating history and we may not be able to operate our

business successfully, achieve our business objectives or generate sufficient cash
flows to make or sustain distributions.
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We may be unable to renew leases or license arrangements, lease or license vacant
area or re-lease or re-license area on favorable terms or at all, which could adversely
affect our business, results of operations and cash flows.

The actual rents we receive for the properties in our Portfolio may be less than
estimated market rents for future leasing, which could adversely affect our business,
results of operations and cash flows.

We have certain contingent liabilities, which if they materialize, may adversely affect
our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. For details, see Notes to
accounts- Contingent Liabilities and Capital Commitments of Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Any appeal against the order of the Karnataka High Court quashing the list of
disqualified directors issued by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs may affect the ability
of Mr. Ravi C. Raheja and Mr. Neel C. Raheja (designated partners of the Investment
Manager) to continue as designated partners of the Investment Manager and
directors on board of certain Group SPVs, which may have an adverse effect on our
business and reputation.

There are outstanding litigations, title irregularities and regulatory actions involving
the Group SPVs, which may adversely affect our business, results of operations and
cash flows.

Our business and results of operations are subject to compliances with various laws,
and any non-compliances may adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Non-compliance with, and changes in, environmental, health and safety laws and
regulations could adversely affect the development of our properties and our financial
condition.

Any delay, failure or inability on part of the Group SPVs to obtain, maintain or renew
all regulatory approvals that are required for their respective business, may adversely
impact our development and business.

For our assets located on land leased from MIDC and MMRDA, the relevant Group
SPVs are required to comply with the terms and conditions provided in the respective
lease agreements with such government bodies. Any non-compliance by the Group
SPVs of the respective lease agreements with such government bodies or by the
tenants of the terms of the lease deed executed with them, may result in the action
by the regulatory authorities, including revocation/termination of lease, demolition
of the construction or payment of fines. In the event that our leases are revoked, not
renewed or terminated prematurely, it could have an adverse impact on the Group
SPVs and in turn adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

We are exposed to a variety of risks associated with safety, security and crisis
management.
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Inability to access infrastructure, certain logistical challenges in new markets and our
relative inexperience with newer markets, may prevent us from expanding our
presence in new markets in India which may adversely affect our business, results of
operations and cash flows.

We have entered and may enter into several related party transactions, which could
involve conflicts of interest. The Investment Manager may face conflicts of interests
in choosing our service providers, and certain service providers may provide services
to the Investment Manager, the Sponsor Group on more favorable terms than those
applicable to us.

Some of our assets are located on land notified as SEZs and the Group SPVs are
required to comply with the SEZ Act and the rules made thereunder. The income tax
benefits available to SEZ developers have been withdrawn for the SEZs which have
commenced development after March 31, 2017, while for their tenants/units, income
tax benefits are available on income earned by them on account of the exports from
the SEZs, provided they commence operations in the SEZs on or before March 31,
2021, if necessary approvals have been received by March 31, 2020. This may result
in SEZs becoming less attractive for tenants in the future. Further, some of our Asset
SPVs have made applications for de-notifying certain land parcels notified as SEZs and
hence they will be eligible to avail lower fiscal incentives than what were previously
available to them, which may adversely affect our business, results of operations and
financial condition.

We are required to lease units to such tenants who have a valid letter of approval
from the SEZ authorities. We cannot assure you that letters of approval for all existing
tenants have been obtained, or that we will receive such approvals in the future for
new tenants. Further, such letters of approvals expire in the ordinary course of
business and are subject to periodic renewals. We cannot assure you that such letters
of approvals will be received or renewed in a timely manner or at all. We could be
deemed to be in breach of terms of our SEZ approvals for leasing units to tenants who
do not have a valid approval.

SEZs are subject to restrictions and conditions prescribed by the Ministry of
Commerce from time to time including restrictions on transfers of land and changes
in shareholding. Failure to comply with the relevant restrictions and conditions could
result in denotification of the SEZ status of the underlying land and/or imposition of
penalties which could adversely affect our business and financial conditions.

We cannot assure you that we will be able to successfully complete future acquisitions
or efficiently manage the assets we may acquire in the future. Further, any of our
acquisitions in the future may be subject to acquisition related risks.

Due to various regulatory and other restrictions, we may not be able to successfully
meet financing requirements for completion of construction of Under Construction
Area, construction of Future Development Area and for refurbishments, renovation
and improvements beyond our current estimates. Our inability to raise adequate
finances may adversely affect our business, results of operations and cash flows.
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Some or all of our Under Construction Area and Future Development Area may not
be completed by their expected completion dates or at all. Such delays could affect
our estimated construction cost and timelines resulting in cost overruns, which in turn
could adversely affect our reputation, business, results of operations and financial
condition.

Liquidity in the credit market has been constrained due to market disruptions,
including due to the COVID-19 pandemic, which may make it costly to obtain new lines
of credit or refinance their existing debt and we may not be able to refinance our
existing indebtedness or to obtain additional financing on attractive terms. Further,
adverse economic conditions could negatively affect commercial real estate
fundamentals and result in lower occupancy, lower rental rates and declining values
in our Portfolio and in the collateral securing any loan investments we may make.

Our ability to make distributions to Unitholders could be adversely affected if
expenses increase due to various factors. Also, any adverse tax changes or withdrawal
of tax benefits may adversely affect our financial condition and results of operation.

Any maintenance or refurbishment of our Assets may result in disruption of
operations and it may not be possible to collect the full or any rental income on area
affected by such renovations and refurbishment of our assets.

We and our Group SPVs may be subject to certain restrictive covenants under the
financing agreements, entered or to be entered into with various lenders or investors,
from time to time, include or could include, among others, obtaining prior consent of
the lenders (i) for change in the capital structure, (ii) for amendment of constitutional
documents, (ii) for declaration of dividends/ distribution of profits in case of defaults,
(iii) for incurring further indebtedness against the security provided, and (iv) for
providing surety or guarantee to any third party. These or other limitations may
adversely affect our flexibility and our ability to make distributions to our Unitholders.

We are not fully insured against some business risks and the occurrence of accidents
that cause losses in excess of limits specified under our policies, or losses arising from
events not covered by our insurance policies, such as damage caused to our property
and equipment due to war, which could adversely affect our business and results of
operations. While we believe that we have industry standard insurance for our
Portfolio, if a fire or natural disaster substantially damages or destroys some or all of
our assets in the Portfolio, the proceeds of any insurance claim may be insufficient to
cover any expenses faced by us, including rebuilding costs.

Under the REIT Regulations, a REIT is required to hold assets acquired by it for a period
of three years from the date of purchase and in case of under-construction properties
or under-construction portions of existing properties acquired by it, three years from
the date of their completion. Additionally, any sale of property or shares of Asset SPVs
exceeding 10% of the value of the REIT assets will require prior approval of the
Unitholders. These factors could have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Security and IT risks may disrupt our business, result in losses or limit our growth.
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Any disagreements with our collaborators or joint venture partners or any delay or
failure to satisfy the terms and conditions set-out in the binding agreements with such
collaborators or the joint-venture partners may have an adverse effect on our
business and operations.

We do not own the trademarks or logos for “Mindspace”, “Mindspace Business
Parks”, “K Raheja Corp”, “Commerzone” “CAMPLUS” and “The Square” that are
associated with our Portfolio. Further, we do not own the trademark or logo for
“Mindspace Business Parks REIT” and “Mindspace REIT”. These trademarks and logos
are licensed to our Group SPVs, the Investment Manager and us, as applicable, by the
Sponsors or Sponsor Group or KRC group entities who are either the registered
owners of these trademarks and logos or have made applications for registered
ownership. Our inability to use or protect these intellectual property rights may have
an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Lease deeds, leave and license agreements and service agreements with some of our
tenants are not adequately stamped or registered, and consequently, we may be
unable to successfully litigate over such lease deeds in the future and penalties may
be imposed on us.

Our Group SPVs may, in the future be exposed to a variety of risks associated with
development of an Integrated IT Township, which may adversely affect our business,
results of operations and financial condition.

Land is subject to compulsory acquisition by the government and compensation in
lieu of such acquisition may be inadequate. Additionally, we may be subject to
conditions of use or transfer of land wherever such land is subject to orders under the
Urban Land (Ceiling and Regulation) Act, 1976.

There may be conflict of interests between the REIT Trustee and/or their respective
associates/affiliates and the Group SPVs, the Investment Manager, the Sponsors,
Sponsor Group and/or their respective Associates/affiliates

We seek to protect our computer systems and network infrastructure from physical
break-ins as well as fraud and system failures. Computer break-ins and power and
communication disruptions could affect the security of information stored in and
transmitted through our computer systems and network infrastructure. We employ
security systems, including firewalls and password encryption, designed to minimize
the risk of security breaches. Although we intend to continue to implement security
technology and establish operational procedures to prevent fraud, break-ins, damage
and failures, there can be no assurance that these security measures will be adequate.
A significant failure of security measures or operational procedures could have a
material adverse effect on our business and our future financial performance.
Although we take adequate measures to safeguard against system-related and other
frauds, there can be no assurance that it would be able to prevent frauds. We are
exposed to many types of operational risks, including the risk of fraud or other
misconduct by employees and unauthorized transactions by employees. Although we
have been careful in recruiting all our employees, we have in the past been held liable
for the fraudulent acts committed by our employees adversely impacting our
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business. Our reputation could be adversely affected by significant frauds committed
by employees, customers or outsiders

Our title to the land where the portfolio of the Issuer (“Portfolio”) is located may be
subject to legal uncertainties and defects, which may interfere with our ownership of
the assets and result in us incurring costs to remedy and cure such defects. Any failure
or inability to cure such defects may adversely affect the Portfolio including the
rentals, which may also impact returns for the Unitholders.

Our dependence on rental income may adversely affect our profitability, our ability
to meet debt and other financial obligations and our ability to make distributions to
our Unitholders.

Our total income primarily comprises of income from facility rentals in our Portfolio.
As a result, our performance depends on our ability to collect rent from our tenants
in a timely manner. Our income and cash flows would be adversely affected if a
significant number of our tenants, or any of our large tenants, among other things, (i)
delay lease commencements, (ii) do not extend or renew leases, leave and license
agreements, upon expiration, (iii) fail to make rental payments on time or at all, (iv)
prematurely terminate the lease, leave and license agreement, without cause
(including termination during the lock-in period), or (v) declare bankruptcy. Any of
these actions could result in the termination of the lease, leave and license agreement
and the loss of rental income. We cannot assure you that we will be able to re-lease
such area on commercially advantageous term or at all. The possibility of loss of rental
income from a number of our tenants and our inability to replace such tenants may
adversely affect our profitability, ability to meet financial obligations and make
distributions to our Unitholders.

In addition, in a few instances, we enter into lease or leave and license agreements
wherein we are required to undertake certain fit out and interior works in, or obtain
occupancy certificates for, the premises prior to handing over the premises to
tenants. Such works also include setting up infrastructure for providing power and
power back up, air conditioning, sanitary facilities and fire protection services. In the
event of any delay in completion of such works or obtaining occupancy certificates,
we are required to provide rent-free days to tenants for such delay, which could
adversely affect our revenues. The tenants also have a right to terminate the
arrangement in case such delays exceed the agreed timelines. Any such instances may
affect our business, results of operations and cash flows.

We may be unable to renew leases or license arrangements, lease or license vacant
area or re-lease or re-license area on favorable terms or at all, which could adversely
affect our business, results of operations and cash flows.

As part of our lease or leave and license agreements, the tenants are generally
required to furnish security, utility or maintenance deposit. The expiry or termination
of such agreements require us to refund any deposits to the tenants, which could
temporarily impact our liquidity. Further, any default by a tenant prior to the expiry
of a lease or license arrangement may result in deductions in or forfeiture of its
security deposit. As a consequence, issues may arise with our tenants in relation to
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the quantum of deductions or forfeiture of the security deposits, which may result in
our tenants refraining from handing over possession of the property to us. Legal
disputes, if filed by us in this regard, may take several years to resolve and involve
considerable expense if they become the subject of court proceedings and their
outcome may be uncertain.

Further, the renewal process of lease or license arrangements with existing tenants
may involve delay in execution and registration of such agreements resulting in our
tenants being in possession of units in our Portfolio without enforceable legal
documents. Further, we may be subject to dispute or litigation on account of non-
compliance with the terms of the lease or license arrangements with our lessees or
licensees which may have a negative impact on our reputation and operations.

We also generally enter into pre-committed lease or license arrangements with
prospective tenants and any changes to or delay in execution or non-execution of the
final lease agreements or leave and license agreements may adversely affect our
business, results of operations and cash flows. Further, as per the terms of some of
the lease or leave and license agreements, we cannot lease or license floors in the
same premises to the competitors of the lessee. As a result, if vacancies continue for
a longer period than we expect, it would have an adverse effect on our financial
condition.

The actual rents we receive for the properties in our portfolio may be less than
estimated market rents for future leasing, which could adversely affect our
business, results of operations and cash flows.

Due to a variety of factors, including competitive pricing pressure in our markets,
changing market dynamics including demand supply, a general economic downturn
and the desirability of our properties compared to other properties in our markets,
we may be unable to realize our estimated market rents across the properties in our
portfolio at the time of future leasing. If we are unable to obtain competitive rental
rates across our portfolio, it could adversely affect our business, results of operations
and cash flows.

There are outstanding litigations, title irregularities and regulatory actions involving
the Group SPVs, which may adversely affect our business, results of operations and
cash flows.

The Group SPVs are currently involved in a number of legal proceedings, including
criminal and regulatory proceedings. These legal proceedings are pending at different
levels of adjudication before various courts and tribunals. If any new developments
arise, for example, a change in Indian law or rulings against us by the appellate courts
or tribunals, we may face losses and may have to make provisions in our financial
statements, which could increase our expenses and our liabilities. Adverse decisions
in such proceedings may have an adverse effect on our reputation, business, results
of operations and financial condition.

We may be adversely affected if the Group SPVs are unable to obtain, maintain or
renew all regulatory approvals that are required for their respective business.
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Our Group SPVs require various approvals, licenses, registrations and permissions
from the government, local bodies and other regulators, for operating their respective
business. A number of our approvals are subject to terms and conditions and a failure
to comply with these terms and conditions may result in an interruption of our
business operations, which may have an adverse effect on our business operations,
future financial performance and trading price of our Units. We have not obtained
certain approvals and some of our approvals may have expired in the ordinary course.
Our Group SPVs either have applied, or are in the process of renewing some of these
approvals. However, due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the lockdown restrictions in
few cities, our Group SPVs may not be able to make such applications for approvals
or receive certain approvals, in time, which could result in non-compliance. Such non-
compliance may further lead to investigation or action by the government, or
imposition of fines on our Group SPVs. Certain portions of our assets are also currently
under-construction and subject to obtaining regulatory approvals.

Our business is subject to various covenants and local state laws and regulatory
requirements, including permitting, licensing and zoning requirements. Local
regulations, including municipal or local ordinances, restrictions and restrictive
covenants imposed by community developers may restrict our use of our assets and
may require us to obtain approval from local officials or community standards
organizations at any time with respect to our assets. Additionally, such local
regulations may cause us to incur additional costs to renovate or maintain our
properties in accordance with the particular rules and regulations. We cannot assure
you that existing regulatory policies or any changes to such policies will not adversely
affect us or the timing or cost of any future acquisitions, or that additional regulations
will not be adopted that would increase such delays or result in additional costs.

j. Risks Related to our Relationships with the Sponsors and the Manager

(i)

(i)

Our Sponsors and the Sponsor Group will be able to exercise significant influence
over certain of our activities and the interests of the Sponsors and the Sponsor
Group may conflict with the interests of other Unitholders.

The Sponsors and the Sponsor Group own a majority of the issued and outstanding
Units and each of them are entitled to vote severally as Unitholders on all matters
other than matters where there are related party restrictions (in respect of which such
parties are not permitted to vote under the REIT Regulations).

The interests of the Sponsors and the Sponsor Group may conflict with the interests
of other Unitholders and we cannot assure you that the Sponsors and the Sponsor
Group shall conduct themselves, for business considerations or otherwise, in a
manner that best serves our interests or that of the other Unitholders.

We depend on the Investment Manager and its personnel for our success. We may
not find a suitable replacement for the Investment Manager if the Investment
Management Agreement is terminated or if key personnel cease to be employed
by the Manager or otherwise become unavailable to us.

We are managed and advised by the Investment Manager, pursuant to the terms of
the Investment Management Agreement. We cannot assure you that the Manager
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will remain our manager or that we will continue to retain Investment Manager’s key
personnel. If the Investment Management Agreement is terminated or if the
Investment Manager defaults in the performance of its obligations thereunder, we
may be unable to contract with a substitute service provider on similar terms or at all,
and the costs of substituting service providers may be substantial. In addition, the
Investment Manager is familiar with our assets and, as a result, the Investment
Manager has certain synergies with us. Substitute service providers may lack such
synergies and may not be able to provide the same level of service. If we cannot locate
a service provider that is able to provide us with substantially similar services as the
Investment Manager provides under the Investment Management Agreement on
similar terms, it could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

(iii) We depend on the Investment Manager to manage our business and assets, and
our business, results of operations and financial condition could be adversely
affected if the Investment Manager fails to perform satisfactorily.

The Investment Manager is required to make investment decisions in respect of our
underlying assets including any further investment or divestment of assets.

We cannot assure you that the Investment Manager will be able to implement its
investment decisions successfully or that it will be able to expand our portfolio at any
specified rate or to any specified size or to maintain distributions at projected levels.
The Investment Manager may not be able to make acquisitions or investments on
favorable terms or within a desired time frame, and it may not be able to manage the
operations of our underlying assets in a profitable manner. Factors that may affect
this risk may include, competition for assets, changes in the Indian regulatory or legal
environment or macro-economic conditions.

The Investment Manager may delegate certain of its functions to third parties. Should
the Investment Manager, or any third party to whom the Investment Manager has
delegated its functions, fail to perform its services, the value of our assets might be
adversely affected, and this may result in a loss of tenants, which could adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Further, the Investment Manager will also undertake property management for our
assets and, therefore, any change in our relationship with the Investment Manager
could affect the services provided by the Group SPVs to their tenants.

k. Specific risks relating to operations in India:

> A decline in India’s foreign exchange reserves may affect liquidity and interest rates in
the Indian economy, which could have an adverse impact on us. A rapid decrease in
reserves would also create a risk of higher interest rates and a consequent slowdown in
growth.

» Our business is highly dependent on Indian and international markets and economic
conditions. Such conditions in India include fluctuations in interest rates; changes in
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consumer spending; the level of consumer confidence; housing prices; corporate or other
scandals that reduce confidence in the financial markets, among others. International
markets and economic conditions include the liquidity of global financial markets, the
level and volatility of debt and equity prices and interest rates, investor sentiment,
inflation, the availability and cost of capital and credit, and the degree to which
international economies are expanding or experiencing recessionary pressures. The
independent and/or collective fluctuation of these conditions can directly and indirectly
affect demand for our lending finance and other financial products, or increase the cost
to provide such products. Global financial markets were and continue to be extremely
volatile and were materially and adversely affected by a significant lack of liquidity,
decreased confidence in the financial sector, disruptions in the credit markets, reduced
business activity, rising unemployment, declining home prices and erosion of consumer
confidence. These factors have contributed to and may continue to adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

Acts of terrorism and other similar threats to security could adversely affect our business,
cash flows, results of operations and financial condition.

Natural disasters, pandemic or events of like nature could have a negative impact on the
Indian economy and damage our facilities.

Political instability or significant changes in the economic liberalization and deregulation
policies of the Government or in the government of the states where we operate, could
disrupt our business.

Statistical, industry and financial data in this Information Memorandum may be
incomplete or unreliable.

Tax laws are subject to changes and differing interpretations, which may adversely affect
our operations and growth prospects.

We are exposed to the risks of the Indian financial system, which in turn may be affected
by financial difficulties and other problems faced by certain Indian financial institutions.
Certain Indian financial institutions have experienced difficulties during recent years.
There has been a trend towards consolidation with weaker banks and non-banking
financial companies (“NBFCs”) being merged with stronger entities. The problems faced
by individual Indian financial institutions and any instability in or difficulties faced by the
Indian financial system generally could create adverse market perception about Indian
financial institutions, banks and NBFCs. This in turn could adversely affect our business,
our future financial performance, our shareholders’ funds and the market price of our
Debentures.

COVID-19 Pandemic

In the first half of 2020, the infection traced to a novel strain of coronavirus (known as COVID-
19) spread to a majority of countries across the world. On January 30, 2020, the World Health
Organization declared the COVID-19 outbreak a “Public Health Emergency of International
Concern” and on March 11, 2020 it was declared a pandemic. The COVID-19 pandemic and
preventative or protective actions that governmental authorities around the world have taken
to counter the effects of COVID-19, including lockdown of business and commercial
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operations, social distancing, office closures, travel restrictions and the imposition of
quarantines, have resulted in a period of economic downturn and business disruption,
including restrictions on business activities and the movement of people comprising a
significant portion of the world’s population, including India.

On March 14, 2020, India declared COVID-19 as a “notified disaster” and imposed a
nationwide lockdown from March 25, 2020 onwards. The lockdown remains in force in few
cities, with limited relaxations being granted for movement of goods and people in other
places. Since all of our business and operations are located in India, the COVID-19 pandemic
affects our operations due to majority of our tenants limiting their operating staff and hours
while others opting to work from home, interruption in construction activities at our under-
construction sites due to the government directives to contain the spread of COVID-19,
negative impact on the business and financial condition of some of our tenants and their
ability to pay rent. While we did not face significant disruptions in our operations from COVID-
19 until the financial year ended March 31, 2020, we collected more than 99% of our Gross
Contracted Rentals for the nine month period ended December 31, 2020. Our properties were
not fully occupied by the tenants for the nine month period ended December 31, 2020.
However, we maintained and managed our properties throughout the lockdown to ensure
business continuity and safety of our tenants. As of December 31, 2020, Committed
Occupancy of our Portfolio was 86.9% and In-place Rent across our Portfolio was X 55.2 psf.
During the nine month period ended December 31, 2020, 0.9% of our Gross Contracted
Rentals were attributable to industries severely impacted by Covid 19 including education,
entertainment and events, food and beverage, co-working and hospitality. Further, we
continue to enter into commitments with potential tenants for securing pre-leasing as well as
lease-up of vacant space in our assets. During the nine month period ended December 31,
2020, we have leased approximately 2.00 msf of area. Also, we have not availed any
deferments or moratoriums with respect to any of our financial commitments. However, the
complete extent of pandemic’s impact on our business and operations for the fiscal year 2021
is currently uncertain and its effect on our business and operations in the medium to long
term will depend on future developments, including the scope, severity and duration of the
pandemic, the actions to contain COVID-19, and the direct and indirect economics of the
pandemic and containment measures, among others.

In response to the pandemic and in order to promote the health and safety of tenants and
visitors to our properties, we have implemented various measures including restricting access
and status check from the Aarogya Setu App, screening with thermal cameras and infrared
thermometers, social distancing, disinfection of common areas and touch points, sanitization
and hand wash stations, ambulance on standby, signages and helpdesks to provide
information on protocols to be followed in our buildings, and isolation rooms to isolate
employees with symptoms of COVID-19. We have also undertaken infrastructure initiatives
for surface disinfection and hygiene initiatives such as vehicle disinfection, auto dispenser and
biomedical waste disposal. Further, we are in the process of evaluating and implementing
additional measures, such as upgrading the air conditioning system including ultra violet
germicidal irradiation lights in air handling unit to further enhance the air quality and ultra
violet surface disinfection in our properties. We have also equipped our maintenance staff
with personal protective equipment and trained them in COVID-19 safety protocols. We are
constantly working towards solutions that could further strengthen our COVID-19
containment measures and provide stakeholders at our properties with a safe working
environment.

32



For private circulation only
Serial Number:
Addressee:

We shall continue to monitor the effects of COVID-19 on our business operations, our tenants
and our suppliers.

m.  Force Majeure Risks

The business and result of operations of the Issuer or the Asset SPV may be impacted by any
circumstance or an event which is beyond the reasonable control and anticipation of the
Issuer, the Asset SPV and/or the Debenture Holders including any event of war, aggression,
incursion, terrorism, earthquakes, hurricanes, cyclones, fires, acts of government, labour
strikes, plagues, pandemics, epidemics, acts of God or any other circumstance pursuant to
which the performance of its obligations under the Debentures becomes illegal or impractical
in whole or in part for any reason.

Unless otherwise stated, references to “we”, “us”, “our” and similar terms are to Mindspace Business
Parks REIT.
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ISSUER INFORMATION

A. ABOUT THE ISSUER

Name

Mindspace Business Parks REIT

Date of registration of Issuer with SEBI
as Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT)

December 10, 2019

Principal Place of Business of the
Issuer

Raheja Tower, Level 8, Block ‘G’, C-30, Bandra Kurla
Complex, Mumbai - 400 051

Corporate Office of the Issuer

Raheja Tower, Level 8, Block ‘G’, C-30, Bandra
Kurla Complex, Mumbai - 400 051

Chief Financial Officer of the
Investment Manager of the Issuer

Ms. Preeti Chheda

Compliance Officer of the Investment
Manager of the Issuer

Name: Mr. Rohit Bhase
Designation: Compliance Officer
Address: Raheja Tower

Level 8, Block ‘G’, C-30

Bandra Kurla Complex

Mumbai - 400 051

Maharashtra, India

Phone No.:+91 9833 810 597,
+91 22 2656 4782

E mail id: bondcompliance@mindspacereit.com

Trustee of the Issue

IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited

Registrar and Transfer Agent of the

Link Intime India Private Limited

Issue
Credit Rating Agency of the CRISIL Ratings Limited
Debentures
Auditors of the Issuer Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP, Chartered
Accountants
B. BRIEF SUMMARY OF THE BUSINESS / ACTIVITIES OF THE ISSUER AND ITS LINE OF BUSINESS

l. Overview

Mindspace REIT was settled on November 18, 2019 at Mumbai, Maharashtra, India as a
contributory, determinate and irrevocable trust under the provisions of the Indian Trusts Act,
1882, pursuant to a trust deed dated November 18, 2019. Mindspace REIT was registered with
SEBI on December 10, 2019, at Mumbai as a REIT pursuant to the REIT Regulations having
registration number IN/REIT/19-20/0003. Mindspace REIT has been settled by the Sponsors for
an initial sum of X 10,000. As on date of this Information Memorandum:

e CTL and ACL are the Sponsors of Mindspace REIT;

e K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP (held by Mr. Ravi C. Raheja and Mr. Neel C. Raheja,
as the partners) has been appointed as the Investment Manager to Mindspace REIT; and
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e Axis Trustee Services Limited has been appointed as the REIT Trustee to Mindspace REIT.

Pursuant to the Formation Transactions, assets forming part of the Portfolio are held by
Mindspace REIT through the Group SPVs. The following illustration sets out the relationship
between Mindspace REIT, the REIT Trustee, the Investment Manager and the Group SPVs.
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Mumbai Pochara

Region- m

IT Park Hyderab
ad - SEZ

Park Park

The
Square,
BKC,
Mumbai
Region —
Commer
cial

Commer
zone
Yerwada
, Pune —
IT Park

The
Square,
Nagar
Road —
Commer
cial IT
Park

Note:
1. % indicates Mindspace REIT’s shareholding in respective Group SPVs.
2. 11% shareholding in Sundew, Intime and KRIT is held by APIIC.
3. KRC Infra has commenced facility management division with effect from October 01, 2020

under the brand name “CAMPLUS”.
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We own a quality office portfolio located in four key office markets of India. Our Portfolio has
Total Leasable Area of 29.5 msf. Our Portfolio comprises 23.9 msf of Completed Area, 2.0 msf of
Under Construction Area and 3.6 msf of Future Development Area, as of December 31, 2020. Our
Portfolio has five integrated business parks with superior infrastructure and amenities (such as
restaurants, créches and outdoor sports arenas) and five quality independent offices. Our assets
provide a community-based ecosystem and we believe that they have been developed to meet
the evolving standards of tenants and the demands of “new age businesses”, which makes them
among the preferred options for both multinational and domestic corporations.

We believe that the scale and quality of our Portfolio has given us a market leading position and
replicating a similar portfolio of large-scale, integrated business parks by other players may be
challenging due to long development timelines and a lack of similar sized aggregated land parcels
in comparable locations. We are committed to tenant service and developing long-standing
relationships with our occupiers. We have also implemented various sustainability initiatives
across our Portfolio, with a focus on clean energy and recycling that enable our tenants to enjoy
an efficient working environment.

Our Portfolio is located in Mumbai Region, Hyderabad, Pune and Chennai (“Portfolio Markets”).
We believe that our assets are located in the established micro-markets of their respective
Portfolio Markets, with proximity and/or connectivity to major business, social and
transportation infrastructure.

As of December 31, 2020, our Portfolio is well diversified with 165 plus tenants and no single
tenant contributed more than 8.0% of our Gross Contracted Rentals. Furthermore, as of
December 31, 2020, approximately 82.9% of our Gross Contracted Rentals were derived from
leading foreign multinational corporations and approximately 37.1% from Fortune 500
companies. Our tenant base comprises a mix of multinational and Indian corporates.

Our Portfolio is stable with 86.9% Committed Occupancy and a WALE of 5.8 years, as of December
31, 2020, which provides long-term visibility to our revenues. Our focus on offering a
comprehensive ecosystem through optimal density and well-amenitized parks to tenants that
provide high value-added services has enabled our assets to outperform in their respective micro-
markets.

We believe our Portfolio is well positioned to achieve further organic growth through a
combination of rent commencement from leased out space which is contracted, as of December
31, 2020 and has not generated rental income for the nine months ending December 31, 2020,
contractual rent escalations, lease-up of vacant space, re-leasing at market rents (considering the
Market Rent across our Portfolio we estimate to realize mark to market of approximately 15.0%
above the average In-place Rent, as of December 31, 2020), and new construction within our
Portfolio to accommodate tenant demand.

Between April 1, 2017 and December 31, 2020, through our operating expertise, we have:

o leased 9.6 msf of office space; achieved average re-leasing spreads of 26.4% on 4.4 msf
of re-leased space and leased 5.1 msf of new area (including Pre-Leased Area and
Committed Area, as of December 31, 2020) to 67 tenants; achieved re-leasing spread of
21.2% for 1.4 msf of area re-leased during the nine months ending December 31, 2020;
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. grown our Portfolio by 5.7 msf primarily through strategic on-campus development of
our business parks;

. undertaken strategic renovations, such as lobby and fagcade upgrades and addition of
cafes, food courts and boardwalks, at certain assets, to improve tenant experience.

We are managed by the Investment Manager that is led by Mr. Vinod Rohira, our chief executive
officer, who has approximately 20 years of experience in the real estate industry and supported
by a seven-member core team with an experience in operating, developing, leasing and managing
commercial real estate in India. Our Sponsors are part of the KRC group, a leading real estate
company in India with approximately four decades of experience in developing and managing real
estate in India. As of September 30, 2020, the KRC group has acquired and/or developed
properties across various businesses approximately 29.3 msf of commercial projects, six
operational malls, 2,554 operational hotel keys and residential projects across five cities in India.
In addition, KRC group operates 287 retail outlets across India, as of September 30, 2020.

Our Portfolio

Table below shows certain key financial and operational metrics of our Portfolio, as of the dates

specified:
Portfolio Type of Total Committed WALE Revenue Market % of Total
asset Leasable | Occupancy (Years) from Value® Market
Area (%) Operations | (X million) Value
(msf) for 9M FY
As of As of 2021 As of As of
As of December | December | (X million) | September | September
December | 31,2020 31, 2020 As of 30, 2020 30, 2020
31, 2020 December
31, 2020
Mumbai Region 12.1 83.4% 5.3 4,783 90,661 37.8%
Mindspace Business 6.8 93.2% 45 2,695 42,4258 17.7%
Airoli East Park
Mindspace Business 4.5 72.3% 7.0 1,498 35,145 14.6%
Airoli West Park
Paradigm Independent 0.7 82.4% 3.1 590 9,311 3.9%
Mindspace Office
Malad
The Square, Independent 0.1 27.4% - - 3,781 1.6%
BKC Office
Hyderabad 11.6 94.4% 5.7 4,895 94,169 39.2%
Mindspace Business 10.6 95.2% 5.8 4,815 91,417W 38.1%
Madhapur Park
Mindspace Independent 1.0 71.1% 2.0 80 2,752 1.1%
Pocharam Office
Pune 5.0 92.4% 7.3 2,321 43,288 18.0%
Commerzone Business 1.7 97.5% 5.1 1,138 19,050 7.9%
Yerwada Park
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Gera Business 2.6 93.1% 113 675 16,146 6.7%
Commerzone Park
Kharadi
The Square, Independent 0.7 79.8% 5.1 508 8,092 3.4%
Nagar Road Office

Chennai 0.8 5.3% 8.6 12 6,204 2.6%
Commerzone | Independent 0.8 5.3% 8.6 12 6,204 2.6%
Porur Office
Facility Management Division 183 5,758 2.4%
Inter Company Eliminations (175)
Total 29.5? 86.9% 5.8 12,018 240,080 100.0%

(1) The Market Value of Mindspace Madhapur is with respect to 89.0% ownership of the
respective Group SPVs that own Mindspace Madhapur.
(2) The facility management division is housed in one of the Group SPVs, KRC Infra, with effect
from October 1, 2020.
(3) Includes 23.9 msf of Completed Area, 2.0 msf of Under Construction Area and 3.6 msf of Future
Development Area.
(4)  While Mindspace Airoli East has aggregate development potential of 2.1 msf, Mindspace REIT
has currently formulated development plans for 0.9 msf and, accordingly, only 0.9 msf of the

future development area has been considered for the purpose of valuation.

The Total Market Value of our Portfolio, which comprises Market Value of the Portfolio and the
facility management division, as of September 30, 2020 as per the Valuer, is 240,080 million

rupees.

Corporate Structure

Mindspace REIT was settled on November 18, 2019 at Mumbai, Maharashtra, India as a
contributory, determinate and irrevocable trust under the provisions of the Indian Trusts Act,
1882, pursuant to a trust deed dated November 18, 2019. Mindspace REIT was registered with
SEBI on December 10, 2019, at Mumbai as a REIT pursuant to the REIT Regulations having
registration number IN/REIT/19-20/0003. Mindspace REIT has been settled by the Sponsors for
an initial sum of X 10,000. The present corporate structure of the Issuer as on December 31, 2020

is as follows:
. As a percentage
Category Category of Unit Holder ALHCULIIE of total
held . .
Unitholding
Sponsors / Investment Manager and
(A) their associates/ related parties and 374,897,081 63.22
Sponsor Group
(B) Public Holding 218,121,101 36.78
Total Units Outstanding 593,018,182 100.00

(C) = (A) +(B)

*All Units are issued and held in dematerialized form
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1. Key Operational and Financial Parameters

Given that the Issuer was settled as a Trust on November 18, 2019, Standalone Financial
Statements for FY 2018-19 and FY 2017-18 are not available. The Standalone Financial
Statement of the Issuer for FY 19-20 and nine months ended December 31, 2020 and the
Condensed Combined Financial Statements of Mindspace Business Parks Group for FY 19-20,
FY 18-19 and FY 17 -18 and Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for nine months
ended December 31, 2020 are attached at Schedule 4. The key operational and financial
parameters as per the Standalone Financial Statements for the nine months ended December
31, 2020 and for the half year ended September 30, 2020 on standalone basis for the Issuer,

are set out below.

(Amount in INR Million)

For the For the For
nine half year | financial
months ended year
Parameters ended September | ending
December | 30, 2020 March
31, 2020 31, 2020
Net Worth 1,65,750 1,62,904 | (48.85)
Total debt (includes liabilities for finance lease) 7,000! 5,000 -
Of which-Non Current Maturities of Long Term - - -
Borrowing
-Short Term Borrowing - - -
-Current Maturities of Long Term Borrowing - - -
Net Fixed Assets - - -
Non Current Assets 1,69,916 1,63,214 -
Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,908 4,746 0.01
Current Investments - - -
Total Current Assets 2,922 4,750 0.01
Current Liabilities 38 86 48.86
Interest Income 434 125 -
Finance Cost 99 2 -
PAT (Concern share) 2,960 114 | (48.86)
Gross NPA (%) NA NA NA
Net NPA (%) NA NA NA
Leverage Ratio 30.97 60.78 NA
Net sales NA NA NA

1 Total debt of Rs. 7,000 million is excluding Rs. 47 million debt issue cost, which is reduced from the debt in the financials statement.
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For the For the For
nine half year | financial
months ended year
Parameters ended September | ending
December | 30, 2020 March
31, 2020 31, 2020
EBITDA 3,061 118 (48.86)
EBIT 3,061 118 | (48.86)
Finance cost 99 2 -
PAT (Concern share) 2,960 114 | (48.86)
Dividend Amounts (excludes DDT) - - -
Current Ratio 76.27 55.24 0.00
Interest Service Coverage Ratio 30.97 60.78 NA
Gross debt / equity ratio 0.04 0.03 NA
Debt service coverage ratio 30.97 60.78 NA

Gross Debt: Equity ratio of the Issuer as on December 31, 2020

Before the issue

Gross Debt

Total Equity

Gross Debt : Equity ratio (before Issue)
Issue size

Gross Debt : Equity ratio after Issue (provisional)

Amount in Million

As on December 31, 2020

Standalone

7,000?

1,65,750

0.04

750

0.05

Project cost and means of financing, in case of funding of nhew projects

Not applicable

BRIEF HISTORY OF THE ISSUER SINCE ITS REGISTRATION GIVING DETAILS OF THE FOLLOWING

ACTIVITIES

Details of Units issued as on date:

2 Total debt of Rs. 7,000 million is excluding Rs. 47 million debt issue cost, which is reduced from the debt in the financials statement.
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VI.

VII.

Pursuant to the initial public offer of Units by the Issuer, the Issuer allotted 36,363,600 Units at
an offer price of X 275 per Unit and in aggregate 593,018,182 Units are outstanding as on date.

Changes in the capital structure of the Issuer as on last quarter end, for the last five years —

As of December 31, 2020, in aggregate 593,018,182 units are outstanding.

The Issuer allotted its Units on July 30, 2020 and August 4, 2020, pursuant to the initial public offer
of Units. Thus, there were no units as on quarter ending March 31, 2020, i.e. the last quarter end
of FY 2019-20.

*N.B.: THE ISSUER HAD ALLOTTED NO UNITS BEFORE JULY 30, 2020 SAVE AND EXCEPT THE
INITIAL CONTRIBUTION OF INR 10,000 (RUPEES TEN THOUSAND) MADE BY THE SPONSORS, IN
LIEU OF WHICH NO UNITS WERE PREVIOUSLY ALLOTTED.

Date of change i.e. the | Equity Value Particulars
date of the annual
general meeting / extra-
ordinary general
meeting / Board [/
Committee Meeting

N.A. N.A.

The Issuer, being a REIT, does not have an authorised capital.

N.A.

Unit capital history of the Issuer as on last quarter end, for the last five years

As on December 31, 2020, in aggregate 593,018,182 Units are outstanding. The Issuer allotted its
Units on July 30, 2020 and August 4, 2020 as set out below.

Date of
Allotment

No. of Units

Offer
price
per
Unit
(in X)*

Consideration
(Cash other
than cash,
etc)

Nature of
allotment

Cumulative
number of
Units

Remarks

July 30,
2020**

556,654,582

275

Other than

cash

Allotment
pursuant to
the
Formation
Transactions
by swap of
shares of the
Group SPVs

556,654,582

August 4,
2020

36,363,600

275

Cash

Allotment
pursuant to
the initial
public offer
of Units of
the Issuer

59,30,18,182
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* The securities being Units of a real estate investment trust do not have a face value and
accordingly, details of face value and premium in respect of Units have not been disclosed.
** The Issuer had no Units before the initial public offer of the Units on July 30, 2020.

VIIIL. Details of any acquisition or amalgamation in the last one year

Pursuant to the consummation of the Formation Transactions, the Issuer acquired the shares of
the Group SPVs from the Sponsor Group and the BREP Entities.

1X. Details of reorganization or reconstruction in the last one year

The Asset SPV filed a petition on October 24, 2019 before the NCLT, Mumbai for capital reduction
in order to set off the accumulated losses carried forward by the Asset SPV in its financial
statements against the securities premium account, which was approved by NCLT, Mumbai
through its order dated March 12, 2020 and received certificate from Registrar of Companies,
Mumbai on June 11, 2020. The Asset SPV has given effect to this capital reduction in the financial
statements for the financial year ending March 31, 2020.

X. Details of the unitholding of the Issuer as on last quarter end

(i)  Unitholding pattern of the Issuer as on last quarter end

The unitholding pattern of the Issuer as on last quarter end is annexed with this
Information Memorandum as Schedule 9.

(ii)  List of top 10 holders of Units of the Issuer as on the latest quarter end

The unitholding pattern of the top 10 holders of Units of the Issuer as of December 31, 2020 is
set out below:

Sr. Name Total number % to total
No. of Units outstanding
units held as
on December
31, 2020
1. BREP ASIA SG PEARL HOLDING (NQ) PTE LTD 5,42,91,425 9.16
2. PALM SHELTER ESTATE DEVELOPMENT LLP 4,10,95,719 6.93
3. CAPSTAN TRADING LLP 4,10,95,719 6.93
4, CASA MARIA PROPERTIES LLP 4,10,95,719 6.93
5. K RAHEJA CORP PRIVATE LIMITED 3,65,96,296 6.17
6. RAGHUKOOL ESTATE DEVELOPEMENT LLP 3,62,12,069 6.11
7. CAPE TRADING LLP 3,54,04,890 5.97
8. ANBEE CONSTRUCTIONS LLP 3,54,04,890 5.97
9. CHANDRU LACHMANDAS RAHEJA 3,26,34,433 5.50
10. GENEXT HARDWARE AND PARKS PRIVATE LTD 2,28,86,731 3.86
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Xl.

All Units are issued and held in dematerialized form

Parties to the Mindspace Business Parks REIT

Sponsors

The Sponsors of Mindspace REIT are Anbee Constructions LLP (“ACL”) and Cape Trading LLP
(“CTL”). Both the Sponsors are LLPs incorporated under the Limited Liability Partnership Act, 2008
(as amended from time to time, the “LLP Act”), at Mumbai, Maharashtra, India.

Both ACL and CTL form part of the KRC group, which is one of India’s leading real estate
development and retail business groups, with experience of over four decades in developing and
operating assets across commercial, hospitality, retail, malls and residential segments.

KRC group has acquired and/or developed properties across various businesses of approximately
29.3 million square feet of commercial real estate, as of September 30, 2020.

ACL and CTL were one of the promoters of certain Group SPVs which are Intime Properties Limited,
Sundew Properties Limited, K.Raheja IT Park (Hyderabad) Limited, Mindspace Business Parks
Private Limited (the Asset SPV) and Avacado Properties and Trading (India) Private Limited. In
addition to the above mentioned Group SPVs, ACL and CTL are also one of the promoters of certain
other entities which are engaged in hospitality, malls, residential and retail real estate
development. These entities include Chalet Hotels Limited, Inorbit Malls (India) Private Limited,
Shoppers Stop Limited and K Raheja Corp Private Limited.

Each of Mr. Ravi C. Raheja and Mr. Neel C. Raheja are one of the partners of both ACL and CTL.
Mr. Ravi C. Raheja and Mr. Neel C. Raheja have over 20 years of experience in real estate
development activities. Both Mr. Ravi C. Raheja and Mr. Neel C. Raheja are the group presidents
of the KRC group. Both Mr. Ravi C. Raheja and Mr. Neel C. Raheja are one of the promoters of
various entities in the KRC group including Chalet Hotels Limited (owner, developer and asset
manager of six high-end operating hotels comprising 2,554 keys, as of September 30, 2020),
Inorbit Malls (India) Private Limited (retail real estate arm of KRC group with six operating malls
across Mumbai Region, Hyderabad, Bengaluru and Vadodara), K Raheja Corp Private Limited,
Shoppers Stop Limited (retail arm of KRC group with a footprint of 287 retail outlets across India,
as of September 30, 2020) and other companies housing some of the residential projects of the
KRC Group. The significant commercial real estate development projects spearheaded by Mr. Ravi
C. Raheja and Mr. Neel C. Raheja include Mindspace Madhapur in Hyderabad, Mindspace Airoli
East and Mindspace Airoli West in Mumbai Region.

The Sponsor Group
For a list of the entities forming part of the Sponsor Group, see “Glossary”.
The Investment Manager

K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP was incorporated under the LLP Act on February 26, 2018
with LLP identification number AAM-1179. Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement,
K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP has been appointed as the manager of Mindspace REIT
in accordance with the REIT Regulations.
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The partners of the Investment Manager entered into an LLP agreement dated March 7, 2018, to
enable the Investment Manager to (i) provide fund, investment, asset, portfolio and project
management services, (ii) undertake development of real estate, (iii) provide any other type of
services to manage, administer or advise trust or funds including REITs, infrastructure investment
trusts, whether in India or outside India.

The REIT Trustee and Investment Manager have executed the Investment Management
Agreement, under which various powers, duties, rights and liabilities of the Investment Manager
have been prescribed in accordance with the REIT Regulations. The Investment Manager has been
appointed by the REIT Trustee, based on the recommendation of the Sponsors. In accordance with
the Investment Management Agreement, the Investment Manager is, inter alia, empowered to (i)
manage Mindspace REIT and the trust fund and to render investment management services to
Mindspace REIT in accordance with the terms of the Investment Management Agreement, the
REIT Regulations and other applicable laws, (ii) provide (either by itself or by any other entity
which may be identified) property management and other support services to Mindspace REIT
and the Group SPVs and/or holding company (as defined under the REIT Regulations), (iii) manage
the day-to-day affairs of Mindspace REIT and provide other services in accordance with the
provisions of the Investment Management Agreement and the REIT Regulations and (iv) make,
originate, negotiate, acquire, manage, monitor, oversee and sell or otherwise dispose of
investments undertaken by Mindspace REIT, in accordance with the provisions of the REIT
Documents (as defined in the Investment Management Agreement) and applicable law.

The REIT Trustee

Axis Trustee Services Limited is the REIT Trustee of Mindspace REIT. The REIT Trustee is a
registered intermediary with SEBI under the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Debenture
Trustees) Regulations, 1993, as a debenture trustee having registration number INDO0O0000494
which is valid until suspended or cancelled by SEBI. The REIT Trustee is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Axis Bank Limited.

As the REIT Trustee, it ensures compliance with statutory requirements and believes in ethical
standards and best practices in corporate governance. It aims to provide best services in the
industry with its well trained and professionally qualified staff. The REIT Trustee is involved in
varied facets of debenture and bond trusteeships, including, advisory functions and management
functions. The REIT Trustee also acts as a security trustee and is involved in providing services with
respect to security creation, compliance and holding security on behalf of lenders. The REIT
Trustee is also involved in providing services as (i) a facility agent for complex structured
transactions with advice on suitability of the transaction on operational aspects; (ii) an escrow
agent; (iii) a trustee to Alternative Investment Fund as defined in and registered with SEBI under
the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Alternative Investments Funds) Regulations, 2012; (iv)
custodian of documents as a safe keeper; and (v) monitoring agency.

The Sponsors and the REIT Trustee have executed the Trust Deed, under which various powers,
duties, rights and liabilities of the REIT Trustee have been prescribed in accordance with the Indian
Trusts Act, 1882, the REIT Regulations and the applicable SEBI Guidelines. The REIT Trustee shall
hold the trust fund in the name of Mindspace REIT and for the benefit of the Unitholders. The
power to manage and operate the trust fund is entrusted by the REIT Trustee to the Investment
Manager under the Investment Management Agreement; provided that the REIT Trustee shall at
all times remain responsible to oversee the management of the trust fund in accordance with the
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XIl.

XHlI.

provisions of the REIT Documents (as defined under the Trust Deed) and REIT Regulations. The
REIT Trustee, on the advice of the Investment Manager, may, subject to the provisions of the REIT
Documents and applicable law, if it deems expedient, from time to time, review, revise, amend,
vary or alter the investment strategy and objective of Mindspace REIT in accordance with the Trust
Deed. To the extent that the powers, rights and/ or obligations of the REIT Trustee under the Trust
Deed have been entrusted to the Investment Manager (under the Investment Management
Agreement), the REIT Trustee shall not engage in the day to day operations and management of
Mindspace REIT and shall be entitled to exercise such powers, rights and/ or obligations only
where required by applicable law or in the event of failure / inability of the Investment Manager
to exercise such powers, rights and/ or obligations or in the event that the Investment Manager
specifically refers any such matter to the REIT Trustee.

Brief particulars of the management of the Issuer:

Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement, K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP
has been appointed as the Investment Manager of Mindspace REIT to: (i) manage the assets and
investments of Mindspace REIT; (ii) render investment management services; (iii) undertake
operational and administrative activities of Mindspace REIT; and (iv) cause the issuance and listing
of the Units on Stock Exchange.

Pursuant to Regulation 10(4) of the REIT Regulations, the Investment Manager is required to
undertake the management of the assets forming part of the REIT including lease management
and maintenance of the assets either directly or through the appointment and supervision of
appropriate agents. Accordingly, the Investment Manager will also be responsible for supervision
of third party service providers through its representatives forming part of the board of directors
of the Group SPVs.

Accordingly, the Investment Manager provides property management services and certain key
support services for the operation (including finance, taxation and marketing) to Mindspace REIT.
The facility management services for each of the other Group SPVs are carried out by KRC
Infrastructure and Projects Private Limited, one of the Group SPVs, under “CAMPLUS” brand from
October 1, 2020. The future development management services and certain support services
(human resources, information technology, administration and other ancillary and day-to-day
services in relation thereto) is provided by K. Raheja Corporate Services Private Limited.

Following details regarding the members of the Governing Board of the Investment Manager

(i)  Details of the current members of the Governing Board of the Investment Manager

Name, Designation and Age Address Member of the Details of other
DIN Governing Directorships*
Board of the (Details of Indian
Investment Companies in which a
Manager since person is Director is
provided)
Mr. Deepak Ghaisas 63 B/61-62, November 20, Shoppers Stop Limited
(Chairman — Independent | years Swapnashilp 2019
Member) Mahant Road, Vile USV Private Limited
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Name, Designation and
DIN

Age

Address

Member of the
Governing
Board of the
Investment
Manager since

Details of other
Directorships*
(Details of Indian
Companies in which a
person is Director is
provided)

DIN: 00001811

Parle East,
Mumbai 400 057,
Maharashtra,
India

Bhogale Automotive
Private Limited
Citicorp Finance
(India) Limited

Sarvatra Technologies
Private Limited

Healthbridge Advisors
Private Limited

Infrafacilities
Private

Hariom
Services
Limited

GCV Life
Limited

Private

Chitpavan Foundation

Gencoval
Services
Limited

Strategic
Private

Stemade Biotech

Private Limited

Ms. Manisha Girotra
(Independent Member)

DIN: 00774574

51
years

71, Chitrakoot,
Altamount Road,
Mumbai — 400
026,
Maharashtra,
India

November 20,
2019

Ashok Leyland Limited

Jio Payments Bank
Limited

Moelis & Company
India Private Limited

Mr. Bobby Parikh
(Independent Member)

DIN: 00019437

56
years

4, Seven of the
Hill, Auxilium
Convent Road,
Bandra West,
Mumbai 400 050,
Maharashtra,
India

December 17,
2019

Biocon Limited

Indostar Capital
Finance Limited

Infosys Limited
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Name, Designation and
DIN

Age

Address

Member of the
Governing
Board of the
Investment
Manager since

Details of other
Directorships*
(Details of Indian
Companies in which a
person is Director is
provided)

Biocon Biologics India
Limited

Aditya Birla Sun Life
AMC Limited

Aviva Life Insurance
Company India Ltd

BMR Business
Solutions Private
Limited

BMR Global Services
Private Limited

Mr. Ravi C. Raheja
(Non-independent
member)

DIN: 00028044

48
years

Raheja HSE,
Auxilium Convent
Road Pali Hill
Bandra West,
Mumbai

July 18, 2019

Shoppers Stop Limited

Chalet Hotels Limited

K.Raheja Private
Limited
Inorbit Malls (India)

Private Limited

Trion Properities
Private Limited

K.Raheja IT  Park
(Hyderabad) Limited

Intime
Limited

Properties

K Raheja Corp Private
Limited

Ivory Properties And
Hotels Private Limited
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Name, Designation and
DIN

Age

Address

Member of the
Governing
Board of the
Investment
Manager since

Details of other
Directorships*
(Details of Indian
Companies in which a
person is Director is
provided)

Support Properties
Private Limited

Sundew
Limited

Properties

Heights
Private

Whispering
Real Estate
Limited

Genext Hardware &
Parks Private Limited

Mr. Neel C. Raheja
(Non-independent
member)

DIN: 00029010

46
years

4™ Floor, Raheja
House, Auxilium
Convent Road Pali
Hill Bandra West,
Mumbai

July 18, 2019

Shoppers Stop Limited
Chalet Hotels Limited

K.Raheja
Limited

Private
Inorbit Malls (India)
Private Limited

Trion Properities
Private Limited

K.Raheja IT  Park
(Hyderabad) Limited

Intime
Limited

Properties

K Raheja Corp Private
Limited
Eternus Real Estate
Private Limited

Ivory Properties And
Hotels Private Limited

Sundew
Limited

Properties
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Name, Designation and Age Address Member of the Details of other

DIN Governing Directorships*
Board of the (Details of Indian
Investment Companies in which a
Manager since person is Director is
provided)

Genext Hardware &
Parks Private Limited

Mr. Alan Miyasaki 44 8, Orange Grove December 17, Nil
(Non-independent years Road, #10-01, 2019
member) Singapore —
258342
DIN: N.A.

Note: The Issuer to disclose name of the current directors who are appearing in the RBI defaulter list
and/ or ECGC default list, if any:

None of the current members of the governing board of the Investment Manager, are appearing in
the RBI defaulter list and/or ECGC default list.

(ii)  Details of change in the members of the Governing Board of the Investment Manager since
last three years

The Governing Board of the Investment Manager was constituted on July 18, 2019 and the
members of the Governing Board were appointed on different dates as specified in
paragraph XlllI (i) above. There has been no change in the members of the Governing Board
of the Investment Manager since their appointment.

XIV.  Management’s perception of Risk Factors:

Please refer to the section titled “Risk Factors” above of the Information Memorandum.

XV. Following details regarding the auditors of the Issuer
(i) Auditors of the Issuer

Name Address Auditor Since
Deloitte Haskins & One International Centre, Tower 3 FY 2019-20. The
Sells, LLP 27%-32" Floor, Senapati Bapat Marg resolution of the

Elphinstone Mill Compound, Elphinstone (W) governing board of

Mumbai - 400 013 the Investment

Maharashtra, India Manager is annexed
with this Information
Memorandum as
Schedule 6.

(ii) Detdils of change in auditor since last three years
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N/A

XVI. Details of Borrowings of the Issuer, as on last quarter end

(i) Details of secured loan facilities - Nil

(ii) Details of unsecured loan facilities - Nil

(iii) Details of non-convertible debentures

(A) 10 Year G-sec linked secured, listed, senior, taxable, non-cumulative, rated, principal
protected — market linked, redeemable, non-convertible debentures aggregating to INR
500,00,00,000 (Rupees five hundred crores) (“MLD"”)

List of Top 10 MLD holders*

Total number Total holding as a % of
S-No. | Name of the Debenture holder of Debentures total no. of Debentures
1. | LARSEN AND TOUBRO LIMITED 2000 40.00%
2. | RUU RAVINDRAN 300 6.00%
3. | ARUNA TAPARIA 180 3.60%
4. | ANJALI ASHUTOSH TAPARIA 155 3.10%
5. | APURVA MAHESH SHAH 150 3.00%
6. | ROWENTA NETWORKS PRIVATE 2.00%
LIMITED 100
7. | NIRANJAN LAKHUMAL 2.00%
HIRANANDANI 100
8. | ASHOK KUMAR MUNIJAL 100 2.00%
9. | URMILADEVI TAPARIA 1.90%
95
10. | KOTAK MAHINDRA TRUSTEESHIP 1.80%
SERVICES LIMITED 90
Total 3270 65.40%

* As on December 31, 2020, the top ten debenture holders are mentioned in table above

(B) Secured, listed, senior, taxable, non-cumulative, rated, redeemable, non-convertible
debentures aggregating to INR 200,00,00,000/- (Rupees Two Hundred crores only)
(IINCDSH)]
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List of Top 10 NCD holders*

S.No. | Name of the Debenture holder Total number Total holding as a % of total
of Debentures no. of Debentures

1. | KOTAK MAHINDRA TRUSTEE 50.00%
CO. LTD. A/C KOTAK LOW
DURATION FUND 1000

2. | KOTAK MAHINDRA TRUSTEE 50.00%
CO. LTD. A/C KOTAK
CORPORATE BOND FUND 1000
Total 2000 100.00%

* As on December 31, 2020, the were only two debenture holders are mentioned in table
above

The amount of corporate guarantee issued by the Issuer along with the name of the counter
party (like name of subsidiary, JV entity, group company, etc.) on behalf of whom it has
been issued —

0O/s amount
Borrowing . . - . ason
B
T Security details Facility ank Sanction 28.02.2021*
(in crores)
Horizonview Tower B, Axis
Properties Pvt Ltd. Commerzone, Porur LAP Bank 150 49
Sub-Total 150 49
(iv) Details of Commercial Paper — The total face value of commercial papers outstanding as
on the latest quarter end - Nil
(v)  Details of all default/s and/or delay in payments of interest and principal of any kind of
term loans, debt securities and other financial indebtedness including corporate guarantee
issued by the Issuer, in the past 5 years - Nil
(vi) Rest of the borrowing of the Issuer (if any including hybrid debt like FCCB, Optionally
Convertible Debentures / Preference Shares ) as on date — NIL
(vii) Details of any outstanding borrowings taken/ debt securities issued where taken / issued
(i) for consideration other than cash, whether in whole or part, (ii) at a premium or discount,
or (iii) in pursuance of an option: Nil
(viii) Any default in annual filing of the Issuer under the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules made
thereunder: N.A.
XVII.  Details of the Sponsors of the Issuer

(i)

Details of Sponsors’ holding of the Issuer as on the latest quarter end
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The Issuer allotted its Units, pursuant to the swap of shares of the Group SPVs held by
members of the Sponsor Group and BREP Entities on July 30, 2020. Further, the Issuer
allotted its Units to the public on August 4, 2020 pursuant to the initial offer of Units. The
holding of the Sponsor and Sponsor Group in the Issuer as on December 31, 2020 is set out

below:
% of Units
No of Units LA
Sponsor Total . pledge / non
Total no. . . subject to .
S. Name of the / . unitholding Type of disposal
. of Units pledge / non .
No. | unitholders Sponsor as % of total| encumbrance . undertaking
held . disposal .
Group no. of Units . with respect
undertaking .
to Units
owned
1 ACL Sponsor 35404890 | 5.97% Non-disposal 25203273 71.19
undertaking
2 CTL Sponsor 35404890 | 5.97% Non-disposal 25203273 71.19
undertaking
0,
3 Mr. Cha?ndru Sponsor 32634433 5.50% Pledge 32527465 99.67
L. Raheja Group
4 Raghukool Sponsor 6.11% Pledge 17731322 48.97
Estate Group 36212069
Developeme
nt LLP
5 Palm Shelter | Sponsor 6.93% Pledge 27190548 66.16
Estate Group 41095719
Developmen
tLLP
6 K. Raheja Sponsor 6.17% Pledge 36058116 98.53
Corp Pvt. Group 36596296
Ltd.
7 Genext Sponsor 3.86% Pledge 22886731 100.00
Hardware & Group
Parks Pvt. 22886731
Ltd.
8 Ravi C. Sponsor 2.84% -Not - -
1
Raheja Group 6863069 encumbered
9 Neel C. Sponsor 2.84% Not - -
Raheja Group 16860892 encumbered -
. 0, - -
10 | Jyoti C Sponsor 9982050 1.68% Not
Raheja Group encumbered -
11 | Capstan Sponsor 6.93% Not - -
1 1
Trading LLP Group 41095719 encumbered -
12 Casa Maria Sponsor 6.93% Not - -
Properties Group 41095719 encumbered -
LLP
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% of Units
No of Units LG
Sponsor Total . pledge / non
Total no. . . subject to .
. Name of the / of Units unitholding Type of ledge / non disposal
No. | unitholders Sponsor as % of total| encumbrance P .g undertaking
held . disposal .
Group no. of Units . with respect
undertaking .
to Units
owned
13 | Chandru Sponsor 1.48 Not - -
Lachmandas Group 8764604 encumbered -
Raheja*
*held for and behalf of Ivory Property Trust
All Units are issued and held in dematerialized form
XVIII. Particulars of the offer:

Date of passing of resolution by the
governing board of the Investment Manager
(for delegation of certain powers including
the issue of Debentures to the executive
committee of the Investment Manager) and
the executive committee of the Investment
Manager

Governing Board Resolution: September 14, 2020

A copy of the said board resolution is annexed herewith

and marked as Schedule 3.

Executive committee resolution: March 9, 2021

A copy of the said resolution of the executive committee

is annexed herewith and marked as Schedule 3.

Date of passing of resolution in general
meeting, authorizing the offer of securities

N.A.

Kinds of securities offered (i.e. whether unit
or debenture) and class of security; the total
number of unit or other securities to be
issued

In aggregate up to 750 (seven hundred fifty) secured,
non-cumulative,

listed,

senior,

taxable,

redeemable, non-convertible debentures

rated,

Price at which the security is being offered,
including premium if any, along with
justification of the price

The Debentures are being offered at face value of INR
10,00,000/- (Rupees Ten Lakhs Only) per Debenture at

par

Name and address of the valuer who
performed valuation of the security offered
and basis on which the price has been
arrived at along with report of the
registered valuer

Not applicable as the Debentures are being issued at par

Relevant date with reference to which the
price has been arrived at

Not Applicable

Intention of sponsors, members of the
governing board of the Investment Manager
or key managerial personnel to subscribe to
the offer (applicable in case they intend to
subscribe to the offer)

Not applicable
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The change in control, if any, in the Issuer
that would occur consequent to the private
placement

No change in control would occur consequent to the
private placement.

The number of persons to whom allotment
on preferential basis/ private placement/
rights issue has already been made during
the year, in terms of number of securities as
well as price.

NIL

The justification for the allotment proposed
to be made for consideration other than
cash together with valuation report of the
registered valuer.

Not Applicable

Amount, which the Issuer intends to raise by
way of proposed offer of securities

Up to INR 75,00,00,000 (Indian Rupees seventy five crores
only)

Terms of raising of securities:

Duration, if | 38 months from the Deemed
applicable: Date of Allotment

Rate of | As notified in the Pricing
Interest Supplement

Mode of | RTGS / NEFT

Payment

Mode of | RTGS / NEFT

Repayment

Proposed time schedule for which the
Information Memorandum is valid

The Issue will open and close on March 17, 2021 and shall
be valid during the regular business hours on March 17,
2021

Purpose and objects of the Issue

The funds raised by the Issue shall be utilised by the Issuer
in compliance with the provisions of the applicable laws
for general corporate purposes including payment of fees
and expenses in connection with the Issue, repayment of
existing financials indebtedness, interim investments in
cash equivalent investments, direct or indirect acquisition
of commercial properties and for providing loans to the
Group SPVs of the Issuer for meeting their construction
related expenses, working capital or general corporate
requirements, repayment of their existing financial
indebtedness, for providing inter-company deposits to
other Group SPVs financing their operations, and/or
acquisition of commercial properties directly or indirectly
by way of purchase of any securities of other entities
holding commercial properties, each in accordance with
applicable laws.

Contribution being made by the Sponsors or
members of the either as part of the offer or
separately in furtherance of the object

Not Applicable

Principal terms of assets charged as
security, if applicable

* First ranking exclusive charge by way of registered
simple mortgage over immoveable properties of the
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Asset SPV, as set out in Schedule 8 of this Information
Memorandum and as more particularly described in
the Debenture Trust Deed (the “Mortgaged
Properties”) and a first ranking exclusive charge over
the cash flows and receivables of the Asset SPV save
and except any common area maintenance charges
payable to the Asset SPV with respect to the
maintenance of the Mortgaged Properties
(“Receivables (Asset SPV)”) arising exclusively from
the Mortgaged Properties and deposited in a
designated escrow account (“Escrow Account”) with
the Account Bank (Escrow), in favour of the
Debenture Trustee.

* Corporate guarantee from the Asset SPV in favour of
the Debenture Trustee.

More detailed terms pertaining to the Debentures and
the security being created in connection with the
Debentures are captured in the Terms and Conditions
(under Issue Details) and the documents to be executed
in relation to the Debentures. The security shall be
created and perfected in favour of the Debenture Trustee
within 60 Business Days of the Deemed Date of
Allotment.

The details of significant and material orders | N.A.
passed by the regulators, courts and
tribunals impacting the going concern status
of the Issuer and its future operations

Disclosure with regard to interest of members of the governing board of the Investment Manager,
litigation, etc.:

Any financial or other | Nil
material interest of the
members of the governing
board of the Investment
Manager, Sponsors or key
managerial personnel of
the Investment Manager in
the Issue and the effect of
such interest in so far as it
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is different from the
interests of other persons

Details of any litigation or
legal action pending or
taken by any Ministry or
Department of the
Government or a statutory
authority  against  any
Sponsor of the Issuer
during the last 3 (three)

years immediately
preceding the year of the
circulation of this

Information Memorandum
and any direction issued by
such Ministry or
Department or statutory
authority upon conclusion
of such litigation or legal
action shall be disclosed

Nil

Remuneration of members
of the governing board of
the Investment Manager
(during the current
financial year and the last
3 (three) financial years).

The Chairperson of the governing board of the Investment
Manager shall be paid a commission of 0.75% (zero point
seventy five only) of the total fee earned by the Investment
Manager from Mindspace REIT and the Group SPVs in a
Financial Year, subject to a maximum of INR 45,00,000
(Rupees Forty-Five Lakhs Only). No other fees or
remuneration (other than sitting fee) is paid to any other
member of the governing board of the Investment Manager.

However, during nine months ended December 31, 2020 a
commission of INR 14,25,000 has been paid to the
Chairperson of the governing board.

Related party transactions
entered during the last 3
(three) financial years
immediately preceding the
year of circulation of this
Information Memorandum
including with regard to
loans made or, guarantees
given or securities provided

The Issuer was settled as a REIT on November 18, 2019. Thus,
no related party transactions were entered into by the Issuer
during the financial years 2017-18 and 2018-19.

Related party transactions entered into by the Issuer during
the financial year 2019-20 are annexed at Schedule 5 of this
Information Memorandum.

Summary of reservations or
qualifications or adverse
remarks of auditors in the
last 5 (five) financial years
immediately preceding the
year of circulation of this

Nil

57




Information Memorandum
and of their impact on the
financial statements and
financial position of the
Issuer and the corrective
steps taken and proposed
to be taken by the Issuer for
each of the said

reservations or
qualifications or adverse
remark

Details of any inquiry, | Nil
inspections or

investigations initiated or
conducted under the Act or
any previous company law
in the last 3 (three) years
immediately preceding the
year of circulation of
private placement offer
cum application letter in
the case of the Issuer and
all of its Group SPVs. Also if
there were any
prosecutions filed (whether
pending or not) fines
imposed, compounding of
offences in the last 3
(three) years immediately
preceding the year of this
Information Memorandum
and if so, section-wise
details thereof for the
Issuer and all of its
subsidiaries

Details of acts of material | Nil
frauds committed against
the Issuer in the last 3
(three) years, if any, and if
so, the action taken by the
Issuer

XIX. Financial Position of the Issuer:

The capital structure of the Issuer in the following manner in a tabular form:

The authorised, | Not applicable.
issued, subscribed
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and paid up capital

(number of
securities,
description and
aggregate  nominal
value)

The Issuer being a real estate investment trust does not have
authorised, issued, subscribed and paid up capital. The total
number of Units issued by the Issuer as on date, is 593,018,182
Units

Size of the Present
Issue

Up to 750 (seven hundred and fifty) secured, listed, senior, taxable,
non-cumulative, rated, redeemable, non-convertible debentures
aggregating to INR 75,00,00,000 (Indian Rupees seventy five crores
only).

Paid-up Capital:
a. After the offer:

Not applicable. The Issuer being a real estate investment trust does
not have a paid-up capital.

b. After the
conversion of
Convertible
Instruments  (if
applicable)
Share Premium
Account: Not applicable. The Issuer being a real estate investment trust does

a. Before the offer:

b. After the offer:

not have a share premium account.

Details of the existing
unit capital of the
Issuer in a tabular
form, indicating
therein with regard
to each allotment,
the date of allotment,
the number of units
allotted, the face
value of the shares
allotted, the price
and the form of
consideration.

Provided that the
Issuer shall also
disclose the number
and price at which
each of the
allotments were
made in the last one
year preceding the
date of the offer
letter separately
indicating the

As set out in Issuer Information, Section B Part VI
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allotments made for
considerations other
than cash and the
details of the
consideration in each
case

Details of allotments
of Units made by the
Issuer in the last 1
(One) year preceding
the date of the offer
letter for
Consideration other
than cash

As set out in Issuer Information, Section B Part lli

Profits of the Issuer,
before and after
making provision for
tax, for the 3 (three)
financial years
immediately
preceding the date of
circulation of this
Information
Memorandum

The Issuer was settled as a REIT on November 18, 2019. Thus, the
profits of the Issuer for the financial years 2017-18 and 2018-19 are
not applicable.

Profits / (Loss) for the financial year March 31, 2020 — INR (48.86)
million

Profits / (Loss) for the nine months ended December 31, 2020 —
INR 2,960 million

Distribution declared
by the Issuer in
respect of the said 3
(three) financial
years; interest
coverage ratio for last
three years (cash
profit after tax plus
interest paid/interest
paid)

N.A.

A summary of the
financial position of
the Issuer as in the 3

(three) audited
balance sheets
immediately
preceding the date of
circulation of this
Information
Memorandum

Annexed at Schedule 4 of this Information Memorandum

Audited Cash Flow
Statement for the 3
(three) years
immediately

Annexed at Schedule 4 of this Information Memorandum
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XX.

XXI.

XXIl.

XXIII.

XXIV.

preceding the date of
circulation of this
Information
Memorandum

Any change in | None.
accounting policies
during the last 3
(three) vyears and
their effect on the
profits

Abridged version of Financial Statements and auditor qualifications, if any

Standalone Financial Statements of the Issuer for FY 19-20 and quarter ended 31 December 2020
and the Condensed Combined Financial Statements of Mindspace Business Parks Group for FY
19-20, FY 18-19 and FY 17 -18 and Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for quarter
ended 31 December 2020 given in Schedule 4.

Any material event/ development or change having implications on the financials/credit
quality (e.g. any material regulatory proceedings against the Issuer/Sponsors, tax litigations
resulting in material liabilities, corporate restructuring event etc.) at the time of issue which
may affect the Issue or the investor's decision to invest / continue to invest in the debt
securities. — NIL

Debenture Trustee

IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited has given its consent to the Issuer for its appointment as
debenture trustee vide its letter dated February 26, 2021 and has entered into a debenture
trustee agreement dated on or about the date of this Information Memorandum with the Issuer.
Copy of the consent letter dated February 26, 2021 is enclosed in this Information Memorandum
as Schedule 1. The Debenture Trustee has given its consent to the Issuer for its appointment
under applicable laws.

Terms and conditions of appointment of the Debenture Trustee are further specified in the
debenture trustee agreement dated on or about the date of this Information Memorandum.
Details of security to be created for the Issue: Please refer to the section titled “Issue Details”

The detailed rating rationale(s) adopted (not older than 1 year on the date of opening of the
Issue) / credit rating letter issued (not older than 1 month on the date of opening of the Issue)
by the rating agencies

Schedule 2 to this Information Memorandum may be referred for the rating letter issued by the
Credit Rating Agency and the rating rationale respectively.

If the security is backed by a guarantee or letter of comfort or any other document / letter with
similar intent, a copy of the same shall be disclosed. In case such document does not contain
detailed payment structure (procedure of invocation of guarantee and receipt of payment by
the investor along with timelines), the same shall be disclosed in the offer document. —
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XXV.

XXVI.

XXVII.

XXVIII.

The Debentures are secured, inter alia, by way of an unconditional, irrevocable guarantee from
the Asset SPV in favour of the Debenture Trustee for the benefit of the Debenture holders in case
of default in the repayment of outstanding principal and Coupon on the Final Redemption Date
or the Coupon Payment Date, as the case may be, by the Issuer. In consideration for the security
created by the Asset SPV to secure the Debentures and as covered under the Security Documents
(as more particularly described in the Transaction Documents), the Issuer undertakes to pay such
fees to the Asset SPV as more particularly described in the relevant Transaction Documents.

Copy of consent letter from the Debenture Trustee

Attached in Schedule 1.

Listing of Debentures

The Debentures are proposed to be listed on the Stock Exchange.

Other Details

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Debenture Redemption Reserve - relevant regulations and applicability

Not applicable

Recovery expense fund

The Issuer agrees and undertakes to create and maintain a recovery expense fund, in
accordance with the regulations, guidelines and circulars issued by SEBI, and if during the
currency of these presents any guidelines are formulated (or modified or revised) by any
Governmental Authority having authority under Applicable Law in respect of creation of
the recovery expense fund within the timelines prescribed under Applicable Law. The
Issuer shall abide by such guidelines and issue supplemental letters, agreements and
deeds of modification, as may be required, by the Debenture Holders or the Debenture
Trustee and shall also cause the same to be registered, where necessary subject to the
same being applicable. If a recovery expense fund is created, the Issuer shall submit to
the Debenture Trustee evidence in form of a certificate duly certified by the statutory
auditor of the Issuer.

Issue/instrument specific regulations - relevant details

The Debentures offered are subject to provisions of the SEBI ILDS Regulations and
circulars enacted thereunder, SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements)
Regulation, 2015, SEBI (Debenture Trustees) Regulations, 1993, the Depositories Act,
1996, as amended and rules and regulations made under these enactments (as
applicable) and; SEBI circular SEBI/HO/DDHS/DDHS/CIR/P/2018/71 dated April 13, 2018
titled ‘Guidelines for issuance of debt securities by Real Estate Investment Trusts (REITs)
and Infrastructure Investment Trusts (InvITs)’.

Governing Law and Jurisdiction

62



The Debentures are governed by and shall be construed in accordance with the existing laws of
India. Any dispute arising thereof will be subject to the jurisdiction of the courts at Mumbai in
India.

DISCLOSURES PERTAINING TO WILFUL DEFAULTS

Neither the Issuer, nor the Investment Manager or Sponsors have been declared to be a wilful
defaulter and do not appear in the RBI’s wilful defaulter’s list or CIBIL’s defaulter’s list or ECGC'’s
caution list.

PERMISSION / CONSENT FROM THE PRIOR CREDITORS AND UNDERTAKING ON CREATION OF
CHARGE

No prior consent of any third party including any lender(s) is required for the creation, perfection,
preservation and enforcement of the Transaction Security.

DISCLOSURE PERTAINING TO CHARGE CREATION

Please note that the security shall be created in favour of the Debenture Trustee as a condition
subsequent within 60 (sixty) Business Days from the Deemed Date of Allotment.

ISSUE PROCEDURE

The Issuer proposes to issue the Debentures on the terms as set out in this Information
Memorandum subject to the provisions of the SEBI ILDS Regulations, the Debenture Trust Deed
and other applicable laws. This section applies to all applicants.

(i) Mode of bidding

The Debentures are proposed to be issued in the closed bidding mode in accordance
with the EBP Guidelines. There are two modes of bidding prescribed by the EBP
Guidelines, namely: (a) open bidding; and (b) closed bidding. Under closed bidding there
shall be no real time dissemination of bids on the EBP.

(ii) Who can bid/ apply/ invest

All Eligible Investors specifically mapped by the Issuer on the EBP, are eligible to bid /
invest / apply for this Issue.

All applicants are required to comply with the relevant regulations/ guidelines applicable
to them for investing in the Issue as per the norms approved by SEBI, RBI or any other
statutory body from time to time, including but not limited to EBP Guidelines (as
applicable and published by the Stock Exchange on its website) for investing in this Issue.
The contents of this Information Memorandum and any other information supplied in
connection with this Information Memorandum or the Debentures are intended to be
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(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

used only by those investors to whom it is distributed. It is not intended for distribution
to any other person and should not be reproduced or disseminated by the recipient.

The Issue will be under the electronic book mechanism as required in terms of the EBP
Guidelines.

However, out of the aforesaid class of investors eligible to invest, this Information
Memorandum is intended solely for the use of the person to whom it has been sent by
the Issuer for the purpose of evaluating a possible investment opportunity by the
recipient(s) in respect of the securities offered herein, and it is not to be reproduced or
distributed to any other persons (other than professional advisors of the prospective
investor receiving this Information Memorandum from the Issuer).

Minimum Subscription

As the current issue of Debentures is being made on a private placement basis, the
requirement of minimum subscription shall not be applicable and therefore the Issuer
shall not be liable to refund the Issue subscription(s)/ proceed(s) in the event of the total
issue collection falling short of issue size or certain percentage of issue size.

Date of Allotment

All benefits relating to the Debentures will be available to the investors from the Date of
Allotment. The actual allotment of Debentures may take place on a date other than the
Deemed Date of Allotment.

Interest on Application Money

This Issue does not contemplate payment of any interest on application money till
allotment of Debentures.

Debenture holder not a Unitholder

The Debenture holders will not be entitled to any of the rights and privileges available to
the Unitholders.

How to bid

All Eligible Investors will have to register themselves as a one-time exercise (if not already
registered) with BSE’s Bond Platform offered by BSE for participating in electronic book
building mechanism. Eligible Investors should refer to the EBP Guidelines for issuance of
debt securities on private placement basis through an electronic book mechanism as
available on the website of BSE. Eligible Investors will also have to complete the
mandatory know-your-customer verification process. Eligible Investors should refer to
the EBP Guidelines.

(a)  The details of the Issue shall be entered on the EBP by the Issuer at least 2 (two)
working days prior to the Issue Opening Date, in accordance with the EBP

Guidelines.
64



(viii)

(ix)

(x)

(b)

The Issue will be open for bidding for the duration of the bidding window that
would be communicated through the Issuer’s bidding announcement on the EBP,
at least 1 (one) working day before the start of the Issue Opening Date.

Some of the key guidelines in terms of the current EBP Guidelines, are as follows:

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

Modification of Bid:

Eligible Investors may note that modification of bid is allowed during the bidding
period. However, in the last 10 minutes of the bidding period, revision of bid is only
allowed for improvement of yield and upward revision of the bid size. Note that
the present Issue is a fixed coupon instrument.

Cancellation of Bid

Eligible Investors may note that cancellation of bid is allowed during the bidding
period. However, in the last 10 minutes of the bidding period / window, no
cancellation of bids is permitted.

Multiple Bids
Eligible Investors may note that multiple bids are permitted.
Withdrawal of Issue

The Issuer may, at its discretion, withdraw the issue process on the following
conditions:

(i) Non-receipt of bids up to the issue size;

(ii) The bidder has defaulted on payment towards the allotment, within the
stipulated time frame, due to which the Issuer is unable to fulfil the issue
size;

(iii) The cut-off yield entered by the bidder is higher than the estimated cut-off
yield disclosed to the EBP.

Provided that the Issuer shall accept or withdraw the Issue on the EBP within 1
(one) hour of the closing of the bidding window, and not later than 6 pm on the
Issue Closing Date.

However, Eligible Investors should also refer to the EBP Guidelines, as prevailing on the
date of the bid.

Right to accept or reject bids

The Issuer reserves its full, unqualified and absolute right to accept or reject any bid(s),
in part or in full, without assigning any reason thereof and to make provisional / final
allocations at its absolute discretion.

Provisional / Final allocation

Allocation shall be made on a uniform yield basis. Post completion of bidding process,
the Issuer will upload the provisional allocation on the BSE-BOND EBP Platform. Once the
allocation is done then the successful bidders can see their respective allocations on the
allocation report generated by the BSE- BOND EBP Platform.

Payment mechanism
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(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)

Subscription should be as per the final allocation made to the successful bidder as
notified by the Issuer. Successful bidders should pay-in the subscription amount in to the
ICCL Account on or before 10.30 am on the Pay In Date, the details of which have been
provided in this Information Memorandum. Successful bidders should ensure that they
pay from the bank accounts that they have registered with the BSE-BOND EBP Platform
at the time of registration.

Note: If the successful bidders fail to pay the subscription monies within the time
prescribed, their bid will be liable to be rejected and the Issuer shall be not be liable to
issue and allot any debentures to such bidders.

Subscription monies will be paid out from the ICCL Account into the Subscription
Account, the details of which have been provided in this Information Memorandum. This
transfer will be done in accordance with the procedure prescribed by the EBP Guidelines.

Cheque(s), Money orders, postal orders will not be accepted. The bank with which the
ICCL Account is existing assumes no responsibility for any applications lost in mail.
Applications should be for the number of Debentures applied by the investor.
Applications not completed in the said manner are liable to be rejected. The applicant or
in the case of an application in joint names, each of the applicant, should mention his/her
PAN details, or where the same has not been allotted, the GIR No. and the income tax
circle/ward/district. As per the provision of Section 139A (5A) of the Income Tax Act,
PAN/GIR No. needs to be mentioned on the tax deducted at source certificates. Hence,
the investor should mention his PAN/GIR No. In case neither the PAN nor the GIR Number
has been allotted, the applicant shall mention “Applied for” nor in case the applicant is
not assessed to income tax, the applicant shall mention ‘Not Applicable’ (stating reasons
for non-applicability) in the appropriate box provided for the purpose. Application forms
without this information will be considered incomplete and are liable to be rejected.

All applicants are requested to tick the relevant column “Category of Investor” in the
application form.

For further instructions about how to make an application for applying for the Debentures
and procedure for remittance of application money, please refer to the section titled
“Application Process and Other Issue Related Details” below.

Terms of Payment

The full-face value of the Debentures applied for, is to be paid in such process as has
been listed in this Information Memorandum.

Force Majeure

The Issuer reserves the right to withdraw the issue prior to the Issue Closing Date in the
event of any unforeseen development adversely affecting the economic and regulatory
environment.

Post-allocation disclosures as per EBP Guidelines

Upon allocation of the Debentures, the Issuer shall disclose the size of the Issue, coupon
rate, the number of successful bidder, category of the successful bidders etc., in
accordance with the EBP Guidelines. The BSE-BOND EBP Platform shall upload the data
provided by the Issuer on its website to make it available to the public.

Depository arrangements
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(xv)

(xvi)

The Issuer has appointed Link Intime India Private Limited having its office at C 101, 247
Park, L B S Marg, Vikhroli West, Mumbai 400 083 as the Registrar and Transfer Agent for
the present Issue. The Issuer has entered into necessary depository arrangements with
NSDL and CDSL for dematerialization of the Debentures offered under the present Issue,
in accordance with the Depositories Act, 1996 and regulations made there under. In this
context, the Issuer has signed tripartite agreement with the NSDL dated September 28,
2020 and CDSL dated September 22, 2020 and the Registrar and Transfer Agent for
dematerialization of the Debentures offered under the present Issue.

Procedure for applying for the demat facility

(a) Applicant(s) must have a beneficiary account with any Depository Participant of
NSDL/CDSL prior to making the application.

(b) For subscribing to the Debentures, names should be identical to those appearing in
the account details of the Depository. In case of joint holders, the names should
necessarily be in the same sequence as they appear in the account details in the
Depository.

(c) If incomplete/ incorrect beneficiary account details are given which does not match
with the details in the depository system, it will be deemed to be an incomplete
application and the same be held liable for rejection at the sole discretion of the
Issuer.

(d) The Debentures shall be directly credited to the beneficiary account and after due
verification, allotment advice/ refund order, if any, would be sent directly to the
applicant by the RTA but the confirmation of the credit of the Debentures to the
applicant’s depository account will be provided to the applicant by the Depository
Participant of the applicant.

(e) Coupon or other benefits with respect to the Debentures would be paid to those
holders whose names appear on the list of beneficial owners given by the depository
to the Issuer as on the Record Date. In case, the beneficial owner is not identified by
the depository on the Record Date due to any reason whatsoever, the Issuer shall
keep in abeyance the payment of Coupon or other benefits, till such time the
beneficial owner is identified by the depository and intimated to the Issuer. On
receiving such intimation, the Issuer shall pay the Coupon or other benefits to the
beneficiaries identified, within a period of 15 calendar days from the date of receiving
such intimation.

(f) Applicants may please note that the Debentures shall be allotted and traded on the
stock exchange(s) only in dematerialized form.

Allotment resolutions and Credit of debentures

The beneficiary account of the investor(s) with NSDL/CDSL / Depository Participant will
be given initial credit within 2 (two) Trading Days from the Deemed Date of Allotment
and confirmation of the credit of Debentures shall be provided by the relevant
Depository within 2 (two) Trading Days from the Deemed Date of Allotment.

Subject to the completion of all statutory formalities within time frame prescribed in the
applicable laws, an allotment resolution shall be passed by the executive committee of
the Investment Manager on the Pay In Date to record the allotment of the Debentures
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to the relevant investor on the said date and the beneficiary demat account of the
investor would be credited with the number of Debentures so allotted. The Debentures
since issued in electronic (dematerialized) form, will be governed as per the provisions
of the Depository Act, SEBI (Depositories and Participants) Regulations, 1996, rules
notified by NSDL/CDSL / Depository Participant from time to time and other applicable
laws and rules notified in respect thereof. The Debentures shall be allotted in
dematerialized form only.
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APPLICATION PROCESS AND OTHER ISSUE RELATED DETAILS

Terms of offer are set out under the section “Issue Details”. Below are the general terms and
conditions.

Issue

Issue of the Debentures with a face value of INR 10,00,000 (Rupees ten lakh only) each, for an
aggregate principal amount of upto INR 75,00,00,000 (Indian Rupees seventy five crores only) on a
private placement basis, not open for public subscription.

Compliance with laws

The Issue of Debentures is being made in compliance with the SEBI ILDS Regulations, the SEBI (Listing
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015, the SEBI (Debenture Trustees)
Regulations, 1993 and amendments thereto, circulars enacted thereunder, and other applicable laws
in this regard.

Who Can Apply
This Information Memorandum and the contents hereof are restricted to only the intended

recipient(s) who have been addressed directly through a communication by or on behalf of the Issuer,
and only such recipients are eligible to apply for the Debentures.

Who Cannot Apply
The entities apart from the “Eligible Investors” as set out in “Issue Details”, shall not be eligible to
participate in the Issue and any applications from such persons and entities shall be rejected.

Prospective subscribers must make their own independent evaluation and judgment regarding their
eligibility to invest in the Issue. Prior to making any investment in these Debentures, each investor
should satisfy and assure herself/himself/itself that it is authorized and eligible to invest in these
Debentures. The Investment Manager shall be under no obligation to verify the eligibility/authority of
the investor to invest in these Debentures.

DISCLAIMER: AN APPLICATION, EVEN IF COMPLETE IN ALL RESPECTS, IS LIABLE TO BE REJECTED
WITHOUT ASSIGNING ANY REASON FOR THE SAME SUBJECT TO THE PROVISIONS OF THE CIRCULAR
ISSUED BY SEBI DATED JANUARY 5, 2018 WITH RESPECT TO ELECTRONIC BOOK MECHANISM FOR
ISSUANCE OF DEBENTURES ON A PRIVATE PLACEMENT BASIS READ WITH THE APPLICABLE OPERATING
GUIDELINES ISSUED BY THE STOCK EXCHANGE. THE LIST OF DOCUMENTS PROVIDED ABOVE IS ONLY
INDICATIVE, AND AN INVESTOR IS REQUIRED TO PROVIDE ALL THOSE DOCUMENTS /
AUTHORIZATIONS / INFORMATION, WHICH ARE LIKELY TO BE REQUIRED BY THE ISSUER. THE ISSUER
MAY, BUT IS NOT BOUND TO REVERT TO ANY INVESTOR FOR ANY ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTS /
INFORMATION, AND CAN ACCEPT OR REJECT AN APPLICATION AS IT DEEMS FIT. INVESTMENT BY
INVESTORS FALLING IN THE CATEGORIES MENTIONED ABOVE ARE MERELY INDICATIVE AND THE
ISSUER DOES NOT WARRANT THAT THEY ARE PERMITTED TO INVEST AS PER EXTANT LAWS,
REGULATIONS, ETC. EACH OF THE ABOVE CATEGORIES OF INVESTORS IS REQUIRED TO CHECK AND
COMPLY WITH EXTANT RULES/REGULATIONS/ GUIDELINES, ETC. GOVERNING OR REGULATING THEIR
INVESTMENTS AS APPLICABLE TO THEM AND THE ISSUER IS NOT, IN ANY WAY, DIRECTLY OR
INDIRECTLY, RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY STATUTORY OR REGULATORY BREACHES BY ANY INVESTOR,
NEITHER IS THE ISSUER REQUIRED TO CHECK OR CONFIRM THE SAME.
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How to Apply

Application(s) for the Debentures must be made by submitting the Applications Form which must be
completed in block letters in English substantially in the format as set out in Schedule 7. Application
form must be accompanied by electronic fund transfer instruction as per below details.

The payment can be made by Real Time Gross Settlement (RTGS) / NEFT by crediting the funds to the
account of the clearing corporation of the Stock Exchange selected by the Issuer for pay-in of
subscription monies as prescribed under the electronic book building procedure i.e. the ICCL Account.
The details of the ICCL Account are as given below:

Beneficiary Name Indian Clearing Corporation Ltd
Name of Beneficiary Bank HDFC Bank

Account number of | ICCLEB

Beneficiary Bank
IFSC Code of Beneficiary | HDFCO000060
Bank

The subscription monies transferred to the ICCL Account, by the applicants successful under the
electronic book building procedure will subsequent to the fulfilment of procedural requirements
under the applicable law, be transferred to the Subscription Account. The details of the Subscription
Account are as follows:

Beneficiary Name Mindspace Business Parks REIT

Address of Beneficiary Raheja Tower, Level 8, Block ‘G’, C-30, Bandra Kurla Complex,
Mumbai - 400 051

Name of Beneficiary | HDFC Bank Ltd.,

Bank and Address Fort - Ground floor, Jehangir Building, MG Road, Fort, Mumbai

Account number of | 57500000569645
Beneficiary Bank
Account Name Mindspace Business Parks REIT-NCD Subscription Account

The applications must be accompanied by certified true copies of (i) a letter of authorization, and (ii)
specimen signatures of authorised signatories.

Instructions for filling up the application form

1) Application must be completed in BLOCK LETTERS IN ENGLISH. A blank must be left between
two or more parts of the name.

2) Signatures should be made in English.
3) The Debentures are being issued at par to the face value. Full amount has to be paid on

application per Debenture applied for. Applications for incorrect amounts are liable to be
rejected. Face Value: INR 10,00,000 (Rupees ten lakh only) each.
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4)

10)

11)

Money orders or postal orders will not be accepted. The payments can be made by NEFT/ RTGS,
the details of which are given above. Payment shall be made from the bank account of the
person subscribing. In case of joint-holders, monies payable shall be paid from the bank account
of the person whose name appears first in the application.

No cash will be accepted.

The applicant should mention its permanent account number or the GIR number allotted to it
under the Income Tax Act, 1961 and also the relevant Income-tax circle/ward/District.

Applications under power of attorney/relevant authority

In case of an application made under a power of attorney or resolution or authority to make
the application a certified true copy of such power of attorney or resolution or authority to
make the application and the Memorandum and Articles of Association and/or bye-laws of the
investor must be attached to the application form at the time of making the application, failing
which, the Issuer reserves the full, unqualified and absolute right to accept or reject any
application in whole or in part and in either case without assigning any reason therefore. Further
any modifications / additions in the power of attorney or authority should be notified to the
Issuer at its registered office. Names and specimen signatures of all the authorised signatories
must also be lodged along with the submission of the completed application.

An application once submitted cannot be withdrawn. The applications should be submitted
during normal banking hours at the office mentioned below:

Address: Raheja Tower, Level 8, Block ‘G’, C-30, Bandra Kurla Complex
Bandra (East) Mumbai 400051

Attention: Mr. Rohit Bhase

The applications would be scrutinised and accepted as per the terms and conditions specified
in this Information Memorandum.

Any application, which is not complete in any respect, is liable to be rejected.

The investor / applicant shall apply for the Debentures in electronic, i.e., dematerialised form
only. Applicants should mention their Depository Participant’s name, DP-ID and Beneficiary
Account Number in the application form. In case of any discrepancy in the information of
Depository/Beneficiary Account, the Issuer shall be entitled to not credit the beneficiary’s
demat account pending resolution of the discrepancy.

The applicant is requested to contact the office of the Issuer as mentioned above for any clarifications.

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Depositories and Participants) Regulations, 2018

The Issue is governed by the provisions of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Depositories and
Participants) Regulations, 2018.
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Over and above the aforesaid terms and conditions, the Debentures, if any issued under this
Information Memorandum, shall be subject to this Information Memorandum, the Debenture Trust
Deed and also be subject to the provisions of the constitutional documents of the Issuer.

Option to Subscribe

The Issuer has made arrangements for issue and holding of the Debentures in dematerialized form.

Right to NCD holders:

The Debentures shall not, confer upon the Debenture Holders thereof any rights or privileges available
to the Unitholders of the Issuer.

Right to accept or reject applications

The Issuer reserves its full, unqualified and absolute right to accept or reject any application, in part
or in full, without assigning any reason thereof subject to the provisions of the circular issued by SEBI
dated January 5, 2018 with respect to electronic book mechanism for issuance of debentures on a
private placement basis read with the applicable operating guidelines issued by the stock exchange.
The rejected applicants will be intimated along with the refund warrant, if applicable, to be sent.
Application would be liable to be rejected on one or more technical grounds, including but not
restricted to:

1) incomplete application forms;

2) applications exceeding the Issue size;

3) bank account details have not been provided;

4) details for issue of Debentures in electronic / dematerialised form not given;
5) PAN or GIR No. and the income tax circle / ward / district is not given;

6) in case of applications made through power of attorneys, if the relevant documents are not
submitted.

The full amount of Debenture has to be submitted along with the application form. Also, in case of
over subscription, the Issuer reserves the right to increase the size of the placement subject to
necessary approvals/certifications, and the basis of allotment shall be decided by the Issuer.

Allotment

The Debentures allotted to investor in dematerialized form would be directly credited to the
beneficiary account as given in the application form after verification. The Debentures will be credited
to the account of the allottee(s) as soon as practicable but in any event within two (2) Trading Days of

Deemed Date of Allotment.

Register of Debentures Holder(s)
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A register of all Debenture holder(s) containing necessary particulars of the Debenture holders will be
maintained with the Depository. The Issuer shall at all times duly maintain all details of Debenture
Holders in the form and manner as required under Applicable Laws.

Tax Deduction at Sources

All payments to be made by the Issuer and/or the Asset SPV to a Debenture Holder in accordance with
the provisions of the Debenture Trust Deed and other transaction documents, including any
outstanding nominal value, all other payments upon redemption of the Debentures, shall be made
free and clear of and without any deduction or withholding for or on account of tax unless the Issuer
and/or the Asset SPV is required to make a tax deduction by the applicable law in which case the Issuer
and/or the Asset SPV shall make that tax deduction in accordance with and within the time prescribed
by the applicable law and deliver to the relevant Debenture Holder a tax deduction certificate in the
format prescribed and within the time prescribed under the applicable laws.

Transfer / Transmission/Trading of Debentures

The Debentures shall be transferable freely to all classes of Eligible Investors. It is clarified that the
Debentures are not intended to be held by any category of persons who are not Eligible Investors.
Subject to the foregoing, the Debentures may be transferred and/or transmitted in accordance with
the applicable provisions of the applicable laws. The Debentures held in dematerialised form shall be
transferred subject to and in accordance with the rules/procedures as prescribed by depositories and
the relevant Depository Participants of the transferor or transferee and any other applicable laws and
rules notified in respect thereof. The transferee(s) should ensure that the transfer formalities are
completed prior to the Record Date. In the absence of the same, Coupon will be paid/redemption will
be made to the person, whose name appears in the register of Debenture holders maintained by the
Depositories. In such cases, claims, if any, by the transferees would need to be settled with the
transferor(s) and not with the Issuer.

Provided further that nothing in this section shall prejudice any power of the Issuer to register as
Debenture holder any person to whom the right to any Debenture of the Issuer has been transmitted
by operation of law.

Subject to the terms of the Debenture Trust Deed, the normal procedure followed for transfer of
securities held in dematerialized form shall be followed for transfer of these Debentures held in
electronic form. The seller should give delivery instructions containing details of the buyer’s
Depository Participant account to its Depository Participant. The Issuer undertakes that there will be
a common transfer form / procedure for transfer of debentures.

The Debentures shall be issued only in dematerialised form in compliance with the provisions of the
Depositories Act, 1996 (as amended from time to time), any other applicable regulations (including of
any relevant stock exchange) and these conditions. No physical certificates of the Debentures would
be issued.

Authority for the placement
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This private placement of Debentures is being made pursuant to the resolution passed by the
governing board of K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP dated September 14, 2020, read with the
resolution passed by the executive committee of K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP dated
March 9, 2021 authorising the Issuer to borrow monies by way of issue of non-convertible debentures.
Further, this private placement of Debentures is being made in compliance with the borrowing policy
adopted by the Investment Manager.

The Issuer can carry on its existing activities and future activities planned by it in view of the existing
approvals, and no further approvals from any Government authority are required by the Issuer to
carry on its said activities save and except as may be required for creation of security in connection
with the Debentures.

Record Date

This will be 15 (fifteen) calendar days prior to the payment date. The list of beneficial owner(s)
provided by the Depository as at the end of day of Record Date shall be used to determine the name(s)
of person(s) to whom the Coupon and/or principal instalment is to be paid notwithstanding any

subsequent transfer by the existing Debenture Holders after the Record Date.

Effect of Holidays

In case the Coupon Payment Date or the Scheduled Redemption Date falls on a day which is not a
Business Day, the payments to be made on such Coupon Payment Date or Scheduled Redemption
Date shall be made on the immediately preceding Business Day, provided that the Issuer shall make
the payment of the coupon or any other amount till the actual due date of such payment.

Redemption on Maturity of Debenture

The Issuer shall pay, in respect of each outstanding Debenture, an amount that is equal to the
outstanding principal amount of that Debenture on the expiry of 38 months (thirty eight months) from
the Deemed Date of Allotment and any accrued but unpaid Coupon applicable to the principal amount
of each Debenture is payable annually.

The details of the settlement mechanism upon redemption of Debentures have been specified under
“Issue Details”.

Compliance Officer

The investor may contact the Issuer in case of any pre -issue / post-issue related problems such as
non-receipt of credit of debentures / refund orders etc.

Debentures to Rank Pari-Passu

The Debentures of this Issue shall rank pari-passu inter-se without preference or priority of one other
or others.

Payments at Par
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Payment of the principal, all Coupon and other monies will be made to the registered Debenture
holder(s)/ beneficial owner(s) and in case of joint holders to the one whose name stands first in the
register of Debenture holder(s) / in the list of beneficial owner(s) provided to the Issuer by the
Depository. Such payment shall be made through electronic clearing services (ECS), real time gross
settlement (RTGS), direct credit or national electronic fund transfer (NEFT). Upon failure of the Issuer
to make the relevant payments through the aforesaid mode, the Issuer shall pay the redemption,
Coupon and all other amounts to the registered debenture holders by way of demand draft(s)/credit
in the name of the Debenture Holder(s) whose names appear on the list of beneficial owners given by
the Depository to the Issuer as on the Record Date. The Debentures shall be taken as discharged on
payment of the redemption amount by the Issuer on maturity to the registered Debenture Holder(s)
whose name appears in the Register of Debenture Holder(s) on the Record Date. On such payment
being made, the Issuer will inform NSDL/ CDSL and accordingly the account of the Debenture Holder(s)
with NSDL/ CDSL will be adjusted.

Tax Benefits

There are no specific tax benefits attached to the Debentures. Investors are advised to consider the
tax implications of their respective investment in the Debentures.

All the rights and remedies of the Debenture holder(s) shall vest in and shall be exercised by the
Debenture Trustees without having it referred to the Debentures holder(s).

Payment Instruments (if applicable)

Loss of any payment instrument, if applicable, should be intimated to the Issuer along with the request
for issue of a duplicate payment instrument(s), if applicable. If any payment instrument(s), if
applicable, is lost, stolen, or destroyed, then upon production of proof thereof, to the satisfaction of
the Issuer and upon furnishing such indemnity, as the Issuer may deem adequate and upon payment
of any expenses incurred by the Issuer in connection thereof, new payment instrument(s), if applicable
shall be issued. Payments shall be made through electronic mode only. Upon failure of the Issuer to
make the relevant payments through the aforesaid mode, the Issuer shall pay the redemption, interest
and all other amounts to the registered debenture holders by way of demand draft(s)/credit in the
name of the Debenture Holder(s) whose names appear on the list of beneficial owners given by the
Depository to the Issuer as on the Record Date. The Debentures shall be taken as discharged on
payment of the redemption amount by the Issuer on maturity to the registered Debenture Holder(s)
whose name appears in the Register of Debenture Holder(s) on the Record Date. On such payment
being made, the Issuer will inform NSDL/ CDSL and accordingly the account of the Debenture Holder(s)
with NSDL/ CDSL will be adjusted.

Refunds

In case of delay in listing of the Debentures beyond 4 (four) Trading Days from the Deemed Date of
Allotment, the Issuer shall pay a penal interest of 1% (one per cent.) per annum over and above the
Coupon which shall be computed on and from the date falling on the expiry of 4 (four) Trading Days
from the Deemed Date of Allotment until the Debentures are listed on the Stock Exchange.

Notices
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Any communication to be made under or in connection with the Debentures and the Transaction
Documents shall be in accordance with the provisions of Clause 19 (Notices) of Part A
(Statutory/Standard information pertaining to issuance of non-convertible debentures) of the
Debenture Trust Deed.

All transfer related documents, tax exemption certificates, intimation for loss of allotment
resolutions/Debenture(s), etc., requests for issue of duplicate documents and/or any other notice /
correspondence by the Debenture holder(s) to the Issuer with regard to the Issue should be sent in
the manner and to the persons specified by the Issuer in the Transaction Documents.

Sharing of Information

The Issuer may, at its option, use on its own, as well as exchange, share or part with any financial or
other information about the Debenture holders available with the Issuer, with its subsidiaries and
affiliates and other banks, financial institutions, credit bureaus, agencies, statutory bodies, as may be
required and neither the Issuer or its subsidiaries and affiliates nor their agents shall be liable for use
of the aforesaid information.

Debentures subject to the Debenture Trust Deed, etc.

Over and above the aforesaid terms and conditions, the Debentures, issued under this Information
Memorandum, shall be subject to prevailing guidelines/regulations of RBI and other authorities and
also be subject to the provisions of the Debenture Trust Deed and all documents to be entered into
by the Issuer in relation to the Issue, including this Information Memorandum, the Debenture Trust
Deed and other transaction documents.

Governing Law

The Debentures are governed by and will be construed in accordance with Indian law. The Issuer and
Issuer’s obligations under the Debentures shall, at all times, be subject to the directions of RBI, SEBI
and stock exchanges and other applicable regulations from time to time. Applicants, by purchasing
the Debentures, agree that the courts at Mumbai shall have jurisdiction with respect to matters
relating to the Debentures.

Conflict

This Information Memorandum supersedes all previous deeds, documents arrangements,
agreements, memoranda of understanding including any term sheet that may have been entered into
by the Issuer and/or the Asset SPV with the Debenture Holders and/or the Debenture Trustee in
connection with the Debentures and in the event of any conflict or inconsistency with such documents,
deeds and agreements the provisions of this Information Memorandum shall prevail. However, in case
of any repugnancy, inconsistency or where there is a conflict between the conditions as are stipulated
in this Information Memorandum and the Debenture Trust Deed executed by the Issuer, the provisions
as contained in the Debenture Trust Deed shall prevail and override the provisions of such Information
Memorandum.

Investor Relation and Grievance Redressal
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Arrangements have been made to redress investor grievances expeditiously. The Issuer endeavours to
resolve the investors’ grievances within promptly upon receipt. All grievances related to the Issue
qguoting the application number (including prefix), number of Debentures applied for, amount paid on
application, may be addressed to the Registrar and Transfer Agent / Compliance Officer. All investors
are hereby informed that the company has appointed a Registrar and Transfer Agent / Compliance
Officer who may be contacted in case of any problem related to this Issue.
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MATERIAL CONTRACTS AND AGREEMENTS

Set out below is the statement containing particulars of, dates of, and parties to all material contracts
and agreements of the Issuer:

° Trust Deed and the certificate of registration granted by SEBI.

. Debenture Trust Deed dated on or about this Information Memorandum to be executed
between the Issuer (represented by the Investment Manager) and the Debenture Trustee for
recording the terms and conditions and stipulations pursuant to which the Debentures are
being issued.

. Indenture of Mortgage to be executed by the Asset SPV in favour of the Debenture Trustee for
creating first ranking exclusive charge over the Mortgaged Properties (as more particularly
described therein) in favour of the Debenture Trustee.

) Account Agreement to be executed by the Asset SPV in favour of the Debenture Trustee in
relation to the operation and maintenance of the Escrow Account.
. Corporate Guarantee to be executed by the Asset SPV as the guarantor, and the Issuer as a

confirming party in favour of the Debenture Trustee for guaranteeing the obligations of the
Issuer under the Transaction Documents.

. Debenture Trustee Agreement dated on or about this Information Memorandum between the
Issuer and the Debenture Trustee for the appointment of the Debenture Trustee in relation to
the issue of Debentures.

. Credit rating letter dated March 9, 2021 assigning final credit rating for the Debentures from
the Credit Rating Agency.

. Consent from IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited to act as debenture trustee vide their letter
dated February 26, 2021.
. Copy of the resolution(s) of the governing board of the Investment Manager authorizing, inter

alia, issue of the Debentures dated September 14, 2020 and executive committee of the
Investment Manager dated March 9, 2021.

. The Issuer hereby undertakes that it shall execute the necessary documents for the creation of
the charge, where applicable, including the Debenture Trust Deed within the time frame
prescribed in the relevant Transaction Documents and as per applicable law, and shall upload
on the website of the Stock Exchange, within 5 (five) working days of execution of the same.

Future Borrowings

The Issuer shall be entitled from time to time to make further issue of debentures or any other
instruments to the public, members of the Issuer and /or any other person(s) and to raise further
loans, advances or such other facilities from Banks, Financial Institutions and / or any other person(s)
on the security or otherwise of its assets, subject to such consents and approvals, as may be required
under applicable law or any existing financing agreement(s) and compliance with applicable financial
covenants.
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ISSUE DETAILS

Below is a brief summary of the terms and conditions of the Debentures, each of which shall be more
particularly specified in the Debenture Trust Deed.

S.
N TERMS & CONDITIONS
(o]
1. | Issuer Mindspace Business Parks REIT (“REIT” or “Issuer”)
2. | Sponsor Cape Trading LLP & Anbee Constructions LLP
3. | Group (REIT) The Issuer and its Group SPVs including the Asset SPV
4. | Asset SPV Mindspace Business Parks Private Limited
5. | Investment Manager K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP
6. | Security Name Mindspace Business Parks REIT NCD Series 2
7. | ISIN INEOCCUO07033
8. | Debenture Trustee IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited
Secured, listed, senior, taxable, non-cumulative, rated,
9. | Type of Instrument .
redeemable non-convertible debentures
10.‘ Mode of Issue ‘ Private Placement ‘
The Issuer shall list the Debentures on the Wholesale Debt
11.| Listing Market segment of BSE within 4 (four) Trading Days from the
Deemed Date of Allotment.
12.| Seniority Senior
e resident individuals,
e Hindu undivided family,
e trust,
e limited liability partnerships, partnership firm(s),
e portfolio managers,
e association of persons,
13, Eligible Investors e companies and bodies corporate including public sector
undertakings,
e commercial banks, regional rural banks, financial
institutions and non-banking financial companies
e insurance companies,
e mutual funds/ alternative investment fund (AIF), and
any other investor eligible to invest in these Debentures,
in each case, as may be permitted under Applicable Law.
14.| Issue Size (INR) INR 75,00,00,000 (Indian Rupees seventy five crores only)
Option to Retain .
15. O\F:ersubscription Not Applicable
16.| Minimum Application Size In multiples of 1 debenture
17. Face Value INR 10,00,000/- Per Debenture
18.| Issue Price INR 10,00,000/- Per Debenture
Discount at which security is
19.| issued and the effective NA

yield because of such
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20.
21.

22.

23.
24.
25.

26.

27.
28.
29.

30.

discount.
Mode of Allocation
Justification of Issue Price

Purpose and objects of the
Issue

Tenure

Issue Opening Date

Issue Closing Date
Scheduled Redemption
Date

Redemption Value

Pay In Date

Deemed Date of Allotment

Redemption

Uniform Yield

NA

The funds raised by the Issue shall be utilised by the Issuer in
compliance with the provisions of the applicable laws for
general corporate purposes including payment of fees and
expenses in connection with the Issue, repayment of existing
financials indebtedness, interim investments in cash equivalent
investments, direct or indirect acquisition of commercial
properties and for providing loans to the Group SPVs of the
Issuer for meeting their construction related expenses, working
capital or general corporate requirements, repayment of their
existing financial indebtedness, for providing inter-company
deposits to other Group SPVs financing their operations, and/or
acquisition of commercial properties directly or indirectly by
way of purchase of any securities of other entities holding
commercial properties, each in accordance with applicable
laws.

38 (thirty eight) months from the Deemed Date of Allotment
March 17, 2021

March 17, 2021

May 17, 2024

Principal + Coupon less applicable taxes
March 18, 2021

March 18, 2021

Scheduled Redemption

The Issuer shall, on the Scheduled Redemption Date,
unconditionally pay to, or to the order of, each Debenture
Holder whose names appears on its register of beneficial
owners as on the Record Date, in INR, the aggregate of the
applicable scheduled redemption amount and all other
amounts due in respect of the Debentures being redeemed, in
accordance with the Debenture Trust Deed and the other
Transaction Documents.

Mandatory Redemption

Upon occurrence of a mandatory redemption event (in
accordance with the provisions of the Debenture Trust Deed),
the Issuer shall promptly notify the Debenture Trustee and the
Debenture Holders shall have the right to require the Issuer to
redeem the Debentures issued to and held by them.

Upon occurrence of a mandatory redemption event, the

Debenture Trustee may, by issuing not less than 30 (thirty)

Business Days’ notice to the lIssuer, require the Issuer to

redeem in full (or as the case may be, in part) all the Debentures

then outstanding by paying an amount equal to the mandatory
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31. Coupon

32.| Coupon Step Up/Step Down

33.) Coupon payment frequency

34.) Coupon payment dates

redemption amount in respect of each Debenture. The
Debenture Trustee shall notify the mandatory redemption
amount payable by the Issuer in the notice specified above, in
accordance with the Debenture Trust Deed.

The Issuer shall, on the date specified by the Debenture Trustee
in the notice, unconditionally pay to, or to the order of, each
Debenture Holder whose names appears on its register of
beneficial owners as on the Record Date in INR, an amount that
is equal to the mandatory redemption amount and all other
amounts due in respect of the Debentures being redeemed, in
accordance with the Debenture Trust Deed and the other
Transaction Documents.

“Final Redemption Date” means the date on which all (and not
less than all) the Debentures have been redeemed and the
outstanding debt (as per the terms of the Debenture Trust
Deed) has been irrevocably and unconditionally paid and
discharged in full to the satisfaction of the Debenture Trustee

As notified in the Pricing Supplement

Coupon shall be increased by 25 bps for every notch downgrade
in the rating by the Credit Rating Agency. In case rating is
upgraded after any rating downgrade, the Coupon shall be
decreased by 25 bps for each upgrade.

The change in Coupon shall be applicable from the date of such
rating action as more particularly set out in the Debenture Trust
Deed.

The Investors shall have the right to accelerate the Debentures
if the rating is downgraded to A+.

Quarterly Coupon payment, beginning from the end of first full
quarter from the Deemed Date of Allotment i.e. June 30, 2021,
with last coupon payment on the Scheduled Redemption Date
i.e. May 17, 2024

30 June 2021

30 September 2021

31 December 2021

31 March 2022

30 June 2022

30 September 2022
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35.

36.

37.

38.

39.
40.
41.
42.
43.
44.
45.
46.

47.

48.

Coupon Reset Process

(including rates, spread,
effective date, interest rate

cap and floor etc).
Day Count Basis
Proposed time
schedule for which
the Information
Memorandum is valid
Redemption
Premium/Discount
Put Option

Put Option Date

Put Option Price

Put Notification Time
Call Option

Call Option Date

Call Option Price

Call Notification Time

Listing

Issuance mode of
Debenture

31 December 2022
31 March 2023

30 June 2023

30 September 2023
31 December 2023
31 March 2024

17 May, 2024

Fixed pricing

Actual / Actual

Till redemption of Debentures

Not Applicable

Not Applicable
Not Applicable
Not Applicable
Not Applicable
Not Applicable
Not Applicable
Not Applicable
Not Applicable

The Issuer proposes to list these Debentures on the BSE WDM
segment. The Issuer confirms that the Debentures would be
listed within 4 (four) Trading Days from the Deemed Date of

Allotment.

In dematerialised mode

.| Default

Settlement mode of the RTGS

Instrument

Any payment obligation of the Issuer in connection with its
financial indebtedness is declared to be in default or otherwise
becomes due and payable prior to its specified maturity as a
result of any actual default in payment by the Issuer and such
default is not cured within the applicable grace period provided
in the relevant transaction documents of the Issuer in respect
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51.

52.

53.

Trading mode of the
Debenture

Depository

Security

(where applicable)
(including type of security
(movable/immovable/tangi
ble etc.), type of charge
(pledge/ hypothecation/
mortgage etc.), date of
creation of security/ likely
date of creation of security,
minimum security cover,
revaluation, replacement of
security, interest to the
debenture holder over and
above the coupon rate as
specified in the Trust Deed
and disclosed in the
Information Memorandum)

of such financial indebtedness.

In dematerialised mode

NSDL and CDSL
a) Description of security

The obligations of the Issuer under the Debentures, all Coupon
and other monies in respect of the Debentures shall be secured
by:

*  First ranking exclusive charge by way of registered simple
mortgage over the Mortgaged Properties, as more
particularly described in the Debenture Trust Deed and as
set out in Schedule 8 of this Information Memorandum and
the Receivables (Asset SPV) being and as more particularly
described in the Debenture Trust Deed deposited in the
Escrow Account with the Account Bank (Escrow).

* Corporate Guarantees from the Asset SPV.

b) Security cover: The Security shall provide a cover of at least
2x (“Required Security Cover”) over the Mortgaged
Properties.

c) Date/ likely date of creation of security:

The security shall be created in favour of Debenture Trustee
as a condition subsequent within 60 (sixty) Business Days
from the Deemed Date of Allotment.

d) Revaluation and replacement of security:

In the event the security cover falls below 1.9x for 2 (two)
consecutive financial covenant testing dates (determined
in accordance with the Debenture Trust Deed), it shall
ensure that within 45 (forty five) days from the second
financial covenant testing date after the date on which the
security cover falls below 1.9x or such other extended
timeline as may be agreed with the Debenture Trustee,
execute, acknowledge and deliver or cause to be executed,
acknowledged and delivered such further instruments as
may reasonably be requested by the Debenture Holders for
the creation, perfection and preservation of additional
Security over such assets as may be mutually agreed
between the Issuer and the Debenture Trustee, to ensure

83



54.

55.

56.

57.

58.

59.

60.

61.

Valuation Agency

Security valuation

Security Testing Date

Default interest rate

Rating

Contribution by Sponsors or
members of the Sponsor
Group either as part of this
offer or separately in
furtherance of the objects
of the Issue

Business Day

Business Day Convention

that the Security Cover is at least equal to the Required
Security Cover.

Incremental debt shall be permissible in the Asset SPV subject
to covenant compliance as mentioned below.

The valuation agency appointed by the Issuer in relation to the
valuation of the Mortgaged Properties, presently being
Cushman & Wakefield (India) Private Limited as on the date of
this Information Memorandum and any replacement thereof.
The Issuer shall at its own costs, on or prior to the Deemed Date
of Allotment appoint the Valuation Agency and shall furnish to
the Debenture Trustee, the valuation report prepared by the
Valuation Agency on or prior to the Deemed Date of Allotment.

The Issuer shall further ensure that the Valuation Agency shall
on a half yearly basis and at such other intervals prescribed by
Applicable Law, furnish its valuation reports in relation to the
Mortgaged Properties in a manner more particularly described
in the Clause 8.1 read with Clause 1.2 (b) of Schedule 5
(Covenants and Undertakings) of Part A (Statutory/Standard
information pertaining to issuance of non-convertible
debentures) of the Debenture Trust Deed.

The date falling on the expiry of 45 (forty five) days of each
Financial Quarter as more particularly described in Clause 8.1
read with Clause 1.2 (b) of Schedule 5 (Covenants and
Undertakings) of Part A (Statutory/Standard information
pertaining to issuance of non-convertible debentures) of the
Debenture Trust Deed. The first Security Testing Date after the
Deemed Date of Allotment shall be May 31, 2021.

In case of default in payment of Coupon and/or principal
redemption on the Redemption date, additional interest @ 2%
p.a. over the Coupon will be payable by the Issuer for the
defaulting period on the amount of default.

“CRISIL/AAA Stable” (pronounced as “CRISIL triple A rating
with stable outlook”)

Nil

A day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which banks are
open for general business in Mumbai

Unless otherwise stated, Modified Following Business Day
Convention
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BANK HDFC Bank Limited

BRANCH Fort
Ground floor, Jehangir Building, MG Road,
Settlement/Details of ADDRESS Fort, Mumbai
"| Subscription Account Mindspace Business Parks REIT-NCD
Bank A/C Name Subscription Account
Bank A/C No 57500000569645

RTGS/NEFT IFSC HDFC0000060

The date, as may be fixed by the Issuer, which will be 15

calendar days prior to the redemption date on which the
Record Date determination of the persons entitled to receive

coupon/redemption amount in respect of the Debentures

(i.e., persons whose names are registered in the register of

Debenture holders or NSDL/CDSL record) shall be made.

(a) Covenants of the Issue:

63.

The covenants for the Issue as more particularly set outin the
clause 2 of Schedule 5 (Covenants and Undertakings) of Part
A (Statutory/Standard information pertaining to issuance of
non-convertible debentures) of the Debenture Trust Deed, as
customary for transactions of similar nature, including the
following:

e The Issuer shall maintain and comply with its
authorisations.

e The |Issuer shall ensure compliance with all
Applicable Law.

e The Issuer shall create and maintain a recovery
expense fund in accordance with the guidelines
issued by SEBI.

e Thelssuershall ensure that the Asset SPV shall create
the security and provide guarantee in accordance
with the terms of the Transaction Documents, as
further specified in clause 2.4 of Schedule 5
(Covenants and Undertakings) of Part A
(Statutory/Standard information pertaining to
issuance of non-convertible debentures) of the
Debenture Trust Deed.

e The Issuer shall not enter into any transaction of
amalgamation, demerger, merger, corporate
reconstruction, reorganization or restructuring.

e The Issuer shall conduct its business in accordance
with Applicable Laws.

e The Issuer shall not take any steps for official
management, bankruptcy, liquidation, winding-up or
dissolution.

All covenants of the issue
(including side letters,

"I accelerated payment clause,
etc.)
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The Issuer shall pay and discharge all Taxes and
governmental charges applicable to it.

The Issuer shall attend to and redress grievances, if
any, of the Debenture Holders.

The Issuer shall not do anything which could
reasonably be expected to jeopardise the rights of
the Debenture Holders and/or Debenture Trustee.
The Issuer shall not amend its constitutional
documents in any manner which may adversely
affect the interest of Debenture Holders.

The Issuer shall ensure that the Asset SPV shall not
invest in or acquire any interest in the capital of any
person, as further specified in clause 2.13 of
Schedule 5 (Covenants and Undertakings) of Part A
(Statutory/Standard information pertaining to
issuance of non-convertible debentures) of the
Debenture Trust Deed.

The Issuer shall comply with the Financial Covenants
specified below.

The Issuer shall ensure that the Asset SPV shall keep
all assets in relation to the Mortgaged Properties
insured.

The Issuer shall not file any voluntary insolvency or
winding up petition under any Applicable Law

The Issuer shall not enter into any partnership, profit
sharing, royalty or other such arrangement, exceptin
the ordinary course of business, by which any of its
income or profits might be shared with a third party.
The Issuer shall not appoint any statutory auditor
other than any "Big Four" accounting firm or change
its financial year / accounting policies.

The Issuer shall take expeditious and effective steps
for removal of director, partner or promoter (as the
case may be) of the Issuer or the Asset SPV who have
been identified as wilful defaulter.

The Issuer shall obtain on a half yearly basis, a
certificate from its statutory auditor setting out the
value of receivables / book debts and confirming
compliance with the covenants as out in the
Transaction Documents, as per Applicable Laws.

The Issuer shall not provide any financing
loans/guarantees to any entity outside the Group
(REIT) except in case of any forward purchase of
assets in the REIT portfolio and subject to Financial
Covenants.

Sponsor of the Issuer to be a member of the Group
(REIT)
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65.  Interest on Application Money

66. Other Fees

e No encumbrance on the shares of the Asset SPV held
by the Issuer

e The Group SPVs shall not incur any indebtedness
which contains terms restricting such Group SPV
from making distributions to the Issuer other than
upon the occurrence of an event of default.

e Valuation report by the valuer appointed by the
Issuer with respect to the assets provided as Security
to be submitted to the Debenture Trustee prior to
disbursement and on a semi-annual basis thereafter
beginning September 30, 2021.

(b) Side Letters
Not applicable

(c) Accelerated payment clause

Upon the occurrence of one or more Events of Default
(described below):

e the Debenture Trustee shall immediately send a notice
to all the Debenture Holders requesting instructions as
to whether immediate payment by the Issuer of the
amounts outstanding with respect to the Debentures is
required, and other actions to be taken in relation to
such Event of Default; and

e the Debenture Trustee may and shall in accordance with
the provisions of the Debenture Trust Deed, declare by
way of an acceleration notice, to the Issuer that all or any
part of the amounts outstanding with respect to the
Debentures to be immediately due and payable
whereupon it shall become so due and payable within
the timelines as set out in the notice.

This Issue does not contemplate payment of any interest on

application money till allotment of Debentures.

The Issuer further agrees and undertakes to pay fees not

exceeding 0.15% (zero decimal one five per cent.) of the

aggregate nominal value of the Debentures that may be
issued from time to time in consideration, for the security
provided or to be provided by the Asset SPV in relation to the

Debentures. Provided however, the payment of such fees

shall stand subordinated to the obligations of the Issuer

and/or the Asset SPV under the Transaction Documents in
the order of priority of payments and shall be payable by the

Issuer to the Asset SPV only after the Final Redemption Date.
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67. Transaction Documents

68.| Security Documents

Conditions Precedent to
" Disbursement:

Tripartite agreement with the NSDL dated
September 28, 2020 and CDSL dated September 22,
2020 and the Registrar and Transfer Agent.
Debenture Trust Deed.

Indenture of Mortgage to be executed by the Asset
SPV in favour of the Debenture Trustee in relation to
the creation of a first ranking exclusive charge by way
of a registered mortgage over the Mortgaged
Properties (“Indenture of Mortgage”).

Account Agreement to be executed by the Asset SPV
in favour of the Debenture Trustee in relation to the
operation and maintenance of the Escrow Account
(“Account Agreement”).

Corporate Guarantee to be executed by the Asset
SPV and the Issuer in favour of the Debenture
Trustee (“Corporate Guarantee”).

Debenture Trustee Agreement.

Credit rating letter dated March 9, 2021 from the
Credit Rating Agency.

Consent from IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited to
act as debenture trustee vide their letter dated
February 26, 2021.

Copy of the resolution(s) of the governing board of
the Investment Manager authorizing, inter alia, issue
of the Debentures dated September 14, 2020 and
executive committee of the Investment Manager
dated March 9, 2021.

Any other documents as per the Debenture Trust
Deed.

Indenture of Mortgage.

Account Agreement.

Corporate Guarantee.

nditions precedent in relation to the Debenture

a certified copy of the registration certificate issued
by the SEBI to the Issuer;

a certified copy of the memorandum of association
and the articles of association of the Asset SPV;

a certified copy of the constitutional documents of
the Investment Manager;

a copy of a resolution of the executive committee of
the Investment Manager;

1.
2.
3.
4,
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
1.
2.
3.

The co

include:

1.

2.

3.

4,

5.

a copy of a resolution of the governing board of the
Investment Manager constituting an executive
committee and authorizing such committee to pass
the resolutions to carry out activities set out in
paragraph 4;
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

a copy of the board resolution of the Asset SPV;

a copy of the resolution passed by the shareholders
of the Asset SPV pursuant to Section 185 of the
Companies Act, 2013 or, in case not applicable, a
copy of the certificate from the director of the Asset
SPV certifying the non-applicability of the provisions
of Section 185 of the Companies Act, 2013 along with
the reasons thereof;

a copy of the unanimous resolution passed by the
board of directors and a resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Asset SPV pursuant to Section
186 of the Companies Act, 2013 or, in case not
applicable, a copy of the certificate from the director
of the Asset SPV certifying the non-applicability of
the provisions of Section 186 of the Companies Act,
2013 along with the reasons thereof;

specimen signatures of the authorized signatories of
the Asset SPV authorised under the resolutions
above;

a certificate issued by an independent chartered
accountant certifying the net worth of the Asset SPV
as on the Effective Date;

evidence that all the fully paid up equity shares of the
Asset SPV are held by the Issuer, in a form and
manner satisfactory to the Debenture Trustee
(including, if required, demat statements issued by
the depository participant of the Issuer);

evidence that all fees, charges, taxes due and
payable as may be required for the issuance of NCD
have been duly paid in full;

an original of each Transaction Document (other
than the Security Documents), duly executed by all
parties thereto and appropriately stamped, in form
and substance satisfactory to the Debenture
Holders;

a copy of the consent letter issued by the Debenture
Trustee;

a copy of in-principle listing approval for Debentures
from the Stock Exchange;

a copy of the consent letter issued by the RTA;

a copy of the tri-partite agreement with the Stock
Exchange and the RTA to the issue of the
Debentures;

evidence of receipt of the ISIN in relation to the
Debentures;

evidence, in a form and manner satisfactory to the
Debenture Trustee, that the Issuer has duly
appointed the Valuation Agency;
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Conditions Subsequent to

" Disbursement:

20. a copy of the valuation report in relation to the
Mortgaged Properties in a form and manner
satisfactory to the Debenture Trustee issued by the
Valuation Agency;

21. evidence in form and manner satisfactory to the
Debenture Trustee that the Issuer has completed
and duly satisfied all other requirements (including
rating, listing, electronic book building) that are to be
completed before the Deemed Date of Allotment as
required under Applicable Laws;

22. details of the Subscription Account from which it
proposes to discharge the Debt in accordance with
Applicable Laws;

23. authorisation from the Issuer to the Debenture
Trustee to seek redemption payment related
information from the Account Bank (Subscription) in
accordance with Applicable Laws;

24, issuance of a conditions precedent satisfaction
certificate by the Issuer to the Debenture Trustee,
confirming that all conditions precedent under the
REIT NCD Transaction Documents have been
satisfied, and

as further specified in Schedule 2 (Conditions Precedent) of
the Debenture Trust Deed.

The conditions subsequent in relation to the Debenture
include:

1. on the Deemed Date of Allotment, certified copy of
all corporate actions approving and allotting the
Debentures;

2. within 2 (two) Trading Days of the Deemed Date of
Allotment, evidence of credit of the Debentures in the
specified dematerialized account(s) of the Debenture
Holders;

3. within 4 (four) Trading Days from the Deemed Date
of Allotment, listing the Debentures on the wholesale debt
market segment of the Stock Exchange along with a copy of
the final listing approval from the Stock Exchange;

4. within 30 (thirty) Business Days from the Deemed
Date of Allotment, an updated title search report issued by
Hariani & Co. in respected of the Mortgaged Properties, for
the period up to the Effective Date, addressed to the
Debenture Trustee;

5. within 60 (sixty) Business Days from the Deemed
Date of Allotment, evidence of opening of Escrow Account;
6. within 60 (sixty) Business Days from the Deemed

Date of Allotment, evidence, in a form and manner
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satisfactory to the Debenture Trustee, to demonstrate that
the Issuer has duly created and perfected the Security in
accordance with the Security Documents over the Secured
Assets;

7. within 60 (sixty) Business Days from the Deemed
Date of Allotment, a certificate certified by an authorised
signatory of the Asset SPV certifying that the Security has
been created and perfected the Security in accordance with
the Security Documents over the Secured Assets;

8. within 60 (sixty) Business Days from the Deemed
Date of Allotment, an original of the Mortgage Documents,
duly executed by all parties thereto and appropriately
stamped, in form and substance satisfactory to the
Debenture Holders;

9. within 60 (sixty) Business Days from the Deemed
Date of Allotment, an original of the Corporate Guarantee,
duly executed by all parties thereto and appropriately
stamped, in form and substance satisfactory to the
Debenture Holders;

10. within 60 (sixty) Business Days from the Deemed
Date of Allotment, a copy of the opinion issued by Wadia
Ghandy & Co. pertaining to the applicability of the provisions
of Section 185 of the Companies Act, 2013 to the Asset SPV;
11. within 30 (thirty) days from the date of creation of
Security over Secured Assets, Form | is filed with the Central
Registry of Securitisation Asset Reconstruction and Security
Interest of India under section 23 of the SARFAESI Act, 2002
read with the Securitisation and Reconstruction of Financial
Assets and Enforcement of Security Interest (Central
Registry) Rules, 2011, in relation to the Security created
under the Security Documents;

12. evidence, in a form and manner satisfactory to the
Debenture Trustee, that the Debentures have received a
final rating of ‘AAA’ from the Credit Rating Agency (including
copies of final rating letter dated not earlier than 30 days
from the Deemed Date of Allotment or rationale dated not
earlier than 180 days from the Deemed Date of Allotment,
or such other timeline permitted under the Applicable Law).
13. evidence of payment of stamp duty on the
Debentures in accordance with Applicable Law, in aform and
manner satisfactory to the Debenture Trustee;

14. within no later than 60 (sixty) Business Days from the
Pay In Date, evidence that: (a) the Debenture Trustee (or its
nominee) is named as the first loss payee with respect to the
insurance policies relating to the Secured Assets; and (b) all
insurance policies in connection with the Secured Assets
have been endorsed in favour of the Debenture Trustee, in a
form and substance satisfactory to the Debenture Trustee;
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Events of Default and
71.) consequences of Events of
Default:

and

15. within 60 (sixty) Business Days from the Pay In Date,
a counter acknowledged copy of the letter issued by the
Asset SPV, notifying the existing lessees of the Mortgaged
Properties, to deposit all rental monies only into the Escrow
Account,

and as further specified in Schedule 3 (Conditions
Subsequent) of the Debenture Trust Deed
Events of Default:

The events of default include:

1. Non Payment

2. Breach in performance or compliance of other
covenants and undertakings contained in the
Transaction Documents

3. Misrepresentation

Insolvency of the Issuer or the Asset SPV

Insolvency proceedings against the Issuer or the Asset

SPV

Failure to list or dematerialise the Debentures

Judgments, Creditors' Process

Moratorium by the Governmental Authority

. Expropriation

10.Cessation of business

11.Unlawfulness

12.Failure to maintain authorisations by the Issuer and
Asset SPV

13.Repudiation

14.Material litigation

15.Immunity

16.Wilful default

17.Non-creation of security or security in jeopardy for the
Issue or breach of security cover for the Debentures,

18.Cancellation of the registration of the Issuer

19.Audit qualification

20.Cross default.

v ok

©® N

Any other event specified in Clause 6 (Events of Default and
Remedies) of Part A (Statutory/Standard information
pertaining to issuance of non-convertible debentures) of the
Debenture Trust Deed, each subject to cure periods, as
applicable and as more particularly described in the
Debenture Trust Deed.

Consequences of event of default, as more particularly
described in clause 6 (Events of Default and Remedies) of
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72.

Manner of voting/conditions
of joining the inter creditor
agreement with other lenders
to the Issuer

Part A (Statutory/Standard information pertaining to
issuance of non-convertible debentures) of the Debenture
Trust Deed:

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Debenture
Trustee shall:

1. issue an acceleration notice to the Issuer which shall
state all or any part of the amounts outstanding with
respect to the Debentures to be immediately due and
payable whereupon it shall become so due and payable
within the timelines as set out in such notice;

2. enforce any security created to secure the Debentures,
and/or invoke the Corporate Guarantee and initiate any
proceedings in that respect;

3. transfer the assets secured by the Issuer under the
relevant security documents, to the Debenture Holders
or to such other Person as determined by the
Debenture Trustee, by way of lease, sale, deal or
otherwise, and as may be permissible by Applicable
Laws, in each case in accordance with and subject to the
terms of such documents;

4. direct the Account Bank (Escrow) (with respect to the
escrow account) to act only on the instructions of the
Debenture Trustee;

5. appoint consultants, including for the purpose of
initiating enforcement action; and/or

6. take any other action and exercise any rights available
to it under the Transaction Documents and Applicable
Law.

The particulars are further specified in clause 6 (Events of
Default and Remedies) of Part A (Statutory/Standard
information pertaining to issuance of non-convertible
debentures) of the Debenture Trust Deed.

The Debenture Trustee shall be required to obtain the
consent of such number of Debenture Holders and/or
Debenture Holders holding such value of Debentures and in
such manner, as may be prescribed under the Applicable
Laws, for inter alia entering into an inter-creditor agreement
with other lenders who have extended financial
indebtedness to the Issuer and/or taking such other action as
may be required with respect to the enforcement of the
security created for the Debentures (upon the occurrence of
payment related event of default (as specified in Clause 6.1
(Non-payment) of Part A (Statutory/Standard information
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Roles and Responsibilities of
" Debenture Trustee
74.| Risk Factors of the Issue

75.| Financial Covenants

76. Operation of Escrow Account

pertaining to issuance of non-convertible debentures) of the
Debenture Trust Deed).

As per Debenture Trust Deed

Please refer to “Risk Factors” section above
At the REIT level:
e Gross Debt / NOI not exceeding 5.00x; and
e Loan to Value Ratio not exceeding 49% (forty nine
per cent.)

At the Asset SPV Level:
e Gross Debt / NOI not exceeding 5.00x; and
e Loan to Value Ratio not exceeding 49% (forty nine
per cent.)

The above financial covenants shall be tested on annual
basis, no later than 60 days from the end of every financial
year until the final redemption date of the Debentures.

For the purpose of this paragraph,

“Cash and Cash Equivalent” means cash in hand, any credit
balance or any cash equivalent including in the form of liquid
fixed deposits maintained with the Account Bank (Escrow) in
the Escrow Account.

“Net Operating Income” or “NOI” means revenues from
operations less: direct operating expenses (which includes
Maintenance services expense, property tax, insurance
expense, cost of material sold and cost of power purchased,
if any).

“Gross Debt” means the consolidated external financial
indebtedness availed by the Issuer or the Asset SPV, as the
context may require.

“Loan to Value Ratio” means the aggregate borrowings and
deferred payments, net of Cash and Cash Equivalents divided
by the value of assets owned by the Issuer, on a consolidated
basis and expressed as a percentage.
The Issuer shall ensure that all Receivables (Asset SPV) shall
only be deposited in the Escrow Account and shall ensure
that all monies deposited into and lying to the credit of the
Escrow Account are used in the manner as set out in the
Transaction Documents. For the removal of doubts, the
common area maintenance charges with respect to the
maintenance of the Mortgaged Properties payable by the
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Distribution of proceeds from
77.| Escrow Account prior to an
Event of Default

Distribution of proceeds from
78.| Escrow Account after an Event
of Default:

Asset SPV shall not be required to be deposited into the
Escrow Account and shall not constitute the Mortgaged
Properties for the purposes of the Transaction Documents.

Prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default in accordance
with the Debenture Trust Deed and other transaction
documents, the Asset SPV shall have the right to deal with
and operate the Escrow Account and deal with all amounts
lying in and/or standing to the credit thereof, withdraw or
transfer any amount from the Escrow Account, in any manner
whatsoever including, without limitation, issuing standing
instructions to the Account Bank (Escrow) for transfer,
withdrawal or debits of any amounts from the Escrow
Account and, at its sole and absolute discretion, and for the
avoidance of doubt, without any intimation to or consent
from the Debenture Holders and/or Debenture Trustee.

Upon occurrence of an event of default (“Event of Default”)
in accordance with the Debenture Trust Deed and other
transaction documents and only for so long as such Event of
Default is outstanding, no debits shall be permitted from the
Escrow Account without the prior written consent of the
Debenture Trustee, save and except any debits, withdrawals
or transfers made by the Asset SPV and specifically for the
purposes specifically permitted under the Debenture Trust
Deed and other transaction documents, for which no consent
from or instructions of the Debenture Trustee shall be
required in the order of priority as set out below:

(i) payment of any statutory dues including Taxes;

(ii) payment of operational expenses of the Asset SPV
including operational and maintenance expenditure
required by it to operate as a going concern and
expenses required for capital expenditure required by
it to comply with the relevant safety guidelines or
regulations under applicable laws and any payments
towards insurance premia, excluding payment of fees
to the Investment Manager in accordance with the
terms of the Investment Management Agreement;

(iii) payment of accrued but unpaid Coupon on the
Debentures;

(iv) payment of mandatory redemption amount or
scheduled redemption amount (as the case maybe), or
any other amounts due and payable by the Issuer to
the Debenture Holders in accordance with the
Debenture Trust Deed and other Transaction
Documents (as may be applicable); and
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80.

81.

82.

83.

84.

85.

86.

Information Provision

Governing Law

Jurisdiction

Recovery Expense Fund

Conditions for breach of

covenants

Premature Exit

Terms and conditions of
debenture trustee agreement

Other Terms

(v) balance amount, if any, shall be available to the Asset
SPV and or the Issuer.

The Issuer undertakes to provide information pertinent to a

credit assessment of the Issuer by the potential investors in

a timely fashion. This information will include, but not be

limited to, latest financial information, rating letter and

rating rationale, copies of the resolutions authorizing the

borrowing and the latest company profile.

Indian Law

(a) Courts of Mumbai for all Transaction Documents
(other than the corporate guarantee to be issued by
the Asset SPV)

(b)  Courts of Hyderabad with respect to the corporate
guarantee to be issued by the Asset SPV.

The Issuer shall set up a recovery expense fund for an amount

equal to 0.01% of the Issue with the Stock Exchange, in

accordance with the provisions of the Applicable Law,

including but not limited to the SEBI circular dated October

22, 2020.

The recovery expense fund shall be utilised for meeting the
expenses incurred by the Debenture Trustee with respect to
enforcement of security and recovery of all outstanding
amounts with respect to the Debentures.

Default or breach in the performance or compliance of any
covenant or undertaking, as more particularly set out in
Schedule 5 (Covenants and Undertakings) of the Debenture
Trust Deed, contained in any Transaction Document by the
Issuer or the Asset SPV, unless remedied within the cure
period as may be agreed between the parties and as per the
provisions contained in the Debenture Trust Deed.

At the request of an Investor, the Issuer shall at its discretion
and without being obliged to do so, arrange for the buyback
of such number of Debentures as the Investor shall request.
The particulars are specified in clause 2 (Appointment of the
Debenture Trustee, settlement of trust and effective date) of
Part A (Statutory/Standard information pertaining to
issuance of non-convertible debentures) of the Debenture
Trust Deed and the Debenture Trustee Agreement.
Customary to transactions of this nature, the detailed terms
and conditions would include clauses related to conditions
precedent to issuance, conditions subsequent, events of
default and consequences of events of defaults,
representations and warranties, affirmative covenants,
negative covenants, information covenants, arbitration,
costs and taxes etc.

96



Notes: (if any)

In case of default in payment of Coupon and/or principal redemption on the due dates, additional
interest of atleast @ 2% p.a. over the coupon rate shall be payable by the Issuer for the defaulting
period

While the debt securities are secured to the tune of 100% of the principal and Coupon amount or as
per the terms of offer document/ information Memorandum, in favour of Debenture Trustee, it is the
duty of the Debenture Trustee to monitor that the security is maintained, however, the recovery of
100% of the amount shall depend on the market scenario prevalent at the time of enforcement of the
security.

In case of any inconsistency between the terms of this Information Memorandum and the Transaction
Documents, the terms of the Transaction Documents will prevail.
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lllustration of cash flows for the Debentures

As per SEBI Circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/18/2013 dated October 29, 2013, the cash flows emanating from
the Debentures is set out below:

lllustration of Debenture Cash Flows to be shown in Information
Memorandum

Company Issuer

Face Value (per security) INR 10,00,000

Date of Allotment March 18, 2021
Redemption May 17, 2024

Coupon Rate As notified in the Pricing
Supplement
Frequency of the Coupon Payment with | Quarterly Coupon payment,
specified dates beginning from the end of first
full quarter from the Deemed
Date of Allotment i.e. June 30,
2021, with last coupon payment
on the Scheduled Redemption
Datei.e. May 17, 2024

30 June 2021

30 September 2021

31 December 2021

31 March 2022

30 June 2022

30 September 2022

31 December 2022

31 March 2023

30 June 2023

30 September 2023

31 December 2023

31 March 2024

17 May, 2024

Day Count Convention Actual / Actual

The above table is for illustration purposes only, actual cashflow might differ from above. The above
working is as per the final term sheet of the Issue.

Commission

No commissions/fees/charges, if any, have been paid by the Issuer to any other third party
intermediary for selling/ distribution of the Debentures to the Investors.
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SCHEDULE 1

IDBI Trusteeship Sewices Ltd CONSENT LETTER FROM DEBENTURE TRUSTEE
CIN : U65991MH2001GOT131154 @ IDBI trustee

Ref: 24698/ITSL/OPR/CL/20-21/DEB/556/4
February 26, 2021

Mindspace Business Parks REIT,

GST Principal Place of Business:

Raheja Tower, Block ‘G,

C-30, Bandra Kurla Complex Bandra (East)

Kind Attn: Mr. Rohit Bhise

Dear Sir,

Subiject: Consent to act as Debenture Trustee for Listed, Rated Secured NCDs aggregating upto Rs 75
Crs,

This has reference to our discussion and subsequent mail regarding the appointment of IDBI Trusteeship
Services Ltd. (ITSL) as Debenture Trustee for the Trust's proposed debentures issue aggregating to INR
75 Crores on private placement basis. In this connection, we confirm our acceptance to act as Debenture
Trustee for the same, subject to the trust agreeing the conditions as set out in Annexure - A.

We are also agreeable for inclusion of our name as trustees in the Trust’s offer document / disclosure
document / listing application / any other document to be filed with SEBI / ROC / the Stock
Exchange(s) or any other authority as required.

Mindspace Business Parks REIT shall enter into Debenture Trustee Agreement for the said issue of the
NCDs.

Yours Faithfully,

I*Wrusteeship Services Limited

Authorized Signatory &5

Regd. Office : Asian Building, Ground Floor, 17, R. Kamani Marg, Ballard Estate, Mumbai - 400 001.
Tel. : 022-4080 7000 « Fax : 022-6631 1776 « Email : itsl@idbitrustee.com < response@idbitrustee.com
Website : www.idbitrustee.com



Annexure A

i) The Trust confirms that all necessary disclosures will be made in the Information
Memorandum/Disclosure document including but not limited to statutory and other regulatory
disclosures. Investors should carefully read and note the contents of the Information
Memorandum/ Disclosure document. Each prospective investor should make its own independent
assessment of the merit of the investment in NCDs/Bonds Issue and Trust. Prospective Investor should
consult their own financial, legal, tax and other professional advisors as to the risks and investment
considerations arising from an investment in the NCDs/ Bonds and should possess the appropriate
resources to analyze such investment and suitability of such investment to such investor’s particular
circumstance . Prospective investors are required to make their own independent evaluation and
judgment before making the investment and are believed to be experienced in investing in debt markets
and are able to bear the economic risk of mvesting in such instruments.

ii) The Trustees, “ipso facto” do not have the obligations of a borrower or a Principal Debtor or a
Guarantor as to the Monies paid/invested by investors for the Debentures/Bonds,

iii) The Trust agrees and undertakes to create the securities wherever applicable over such of its
immovable and moveable properties and on such terms and conditions as agreed by (he
Debenture/Bond holders and disclose in the Information Memorandum or Disclosure Document and
execute, the Debenture/ Bond Trust Deed and other hecessary security documents for each series of
debentures/ bonds as approved by the Debenture/ Bond Trustee, within a period as agreed by us in the
Information Memorandum or Disclosure Document in any case not exceeding 3 months from the date of
closure,

iv) The Trust agrees & undertakes to pay to the Debenture/ Bond Trustees so long as they hold the office
of the Debenture/ Bond Trustee, remuneration as mutually agreed for their services as Debenture/ Bond
Trustee in addition to all legal, traveling and other costs, charges and expenses which the Debenture/
Bond Trustee or their officers, employees or agents may incur in relation to execution of the Debenture/
Bond Trust Deed and all other Documents affecting the Security till the monies in respect of the
Debentures/ Bonds have been fully paid-off and the requisite formalities for satisfaction of charge in all
respects, have been complied with.

v) The Trust agrees & undertakes to comply with the provisions of SEBI (Debenture Trustees)
Regulations, 1993, SEBI (Issue and Listing of Debt Securities) Regulations, 2008, SEBI Circular No.
SEBI/]MD/DOF-I/BUnd/ZUO‘)/T]/05 dated 11/05/2009 on Simplified Listing Agreement for Debt
Securities read with the SEBI Circular No. SEBI/IMD/DOF-I/BOND/Cir-S/ZUUQ dated the 26th
November, 2009, the Companies Act, 1956 and other applicable provisions as amended from time to time
and agrees to furnish to Trustees such information in terms of the same on regular basis.

For IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited

Authorized Signatnrsr\‘ff/\r,, T f‘/



SCHEDULE 2

R . CREDIT RATING LETTERS AND RATING RATIONALE C R I S I L
atin gS FROM THE CREDIT RATING AGENCY

CONFIDENTIAL

RL/MIBPKR/266510/NCD/0321/04078/89661367.1
March 09, 2021

An S&P Global Company

Ms. Preeti Chheda

Chief Financial Officer

Mindspace Business Parks REIT (Mindspace REIT)
Raheja Tower, Level 8

Block G, C-30
Bandra-Kurla Complex
Mumbai - 400051
Re: Review of CRISIL Rating on the Rs.300 Crore Non Convertible Debentures of Mindspace Business Parks REIT
(Mindspace REIT)
Based on this review, the Provisional rating for the rated instruments has been converted into a final rating, as given below:
Rated amount
SL No. C N Rat
0 ompany Name (in Rs. Crore) ing
1 stpace Business Parks REIT 300 CRISIL AAA/Stable
(Mindspace REIT)

Instruments with “CRISIL AAA/Stable” (pronounced as CRISIL wiple A rating with stable outlook) rating indicates the
highest degree of safety regarding tmely payment of financial obligations on the insorument. Such instruments carry lowest
credit risk

Please note that, in arriving at the ratungs. CRISIL Rartings has assumed thar the representations made by Mindspace REIT are
true and thar the structure, shall work and operate as represented by Mindspace REIT. CRISIL Ratings does not guarantee the
accuracy, adequacy, or completeness of the representations made by you to CRISIL Ratings and/or the representations made
in the wansaction documents. CRISIL Ratings is not responsible for any acts of commission or omission of the Mindspace
REIT and/or the Trustee.

As per our Rating Agreement, CRISIL Rartings would disseminate the rating along with outlook through its publications and
other media. and keep the rating along with outlook under surveillance for the life of the instrument. CRISIL Ratings reserves
the right to suspend, withdraw. or revise the ratings at any time, on the basis of new informartion. or wmavailability of
information. or other circumstances which CRISIL Ratings believes may have an impact on the ratngs.

As per the latest SEBI circular (reference number: CIR/IMD/DF/17/2013: dated Ocrober 22, 2013) on centralized database
for corporate bonds/debentures, you are required to provide international securities identification number (ISIN: along with
the reference number and the date of the rating letter) of all bond/debenture issuances made against this rating letter to us. The
circular also requires you to share this informarion with us within 2 days after the allomment of the ISIN. We request you to
mail us all the necessary and relevant information ar debtissue@crisil.com. This will enable CRISIL Ratings to verify and
confirm to the depositories, including NSDL and CDSL., the ISIN details of debrt rated by us. as required by SEBL Feel free 1o
contact us for any clarifications you may have at debrissue @crisil. com

Should you require any clarifications, please feel free to get in touch with us.
With warm regards,

Yours sincerely,

\“‘.:3'_.» D = ﬁ

= CRISI!
Anuj Sethi Nivedita Shibu 4
Senior Director - CRISIL Ratings Associate Director - CRISIL Ratings m

A CRISIL rating reflects CRISIL's current opinion on the likelihood of timely payment of the obligations under the rated instrument and does not constitute an audit of
the rated entify by CRISIL. CRISIL ratings are based on information provided by the issuer or obtained by CRISIL from sources it considers reliable. CRISIL does not
guarantee the completeness or accuracy of the information on which the rafing is based. A CRISIL rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell, or hold the rated
instrument; it does not comment on the market price or suitability for a parficular investor. All CRISIL ratings are under surveillance. CRISIL or its associales may
have other commercial transactions with the company/entity. Ratings are revised as and when circumsiances so warrant. CRISIL is not responsible for any emrors
and especially states that it has no financial liability whatsoever to the subscribers / users / transmiiters / distributors of this product. CRISIL Ratings rating criteria are
available without charge to the public on the CRISIL web site, www.crisil.com. For the latest rating information on any instrument of any company rated by CRISIL,
please contact Customer Service Helpdesk at 1800-267-1301.

CRISIL Ratings Limited
(A subsidiary of CRISIL Limited)
Corporate Identity Number: U67100MH2019PLC326247

Registered Office: CRISIL House, Central Avenue, Hiranandani Business Park, Powai, Mumbai- 400 076. Phone: +91 22 3342 3000 |
Fax: +91 22 4040 5800
www crisil com/ratings




3/10/2021 Rating Rationale

Ratings CRISIL

An S&P Global Company

Pursuant to SEBI notifications, CRISIL Limited (CRISIL) has transferred its Ratings business to its wholly owned
subsidiary, CRISIL Ratings Limited (CRISIL Ratings), with effect from December 31st 2020. Any reference to CRISIL in
the documents published by the Ratings division of CRISIL, such as Rating Rationales, Credit Rating Reports, Press
Releases, Criteria, Methodology, FAQs, Policies and Disclosures, shall henceforth refer to CRISIL Ratings.

Rating Rationale
March 09, 2021 | Mumbai

Mindspace Business Parks REIT (Mindspace REIT)

'‘CRISIL PPMLD AAA r /Stable' assigned to Long Term Principal Protected Market Linked Debentures;
'CRISIL AAA/Stable’ Converted from Provisional Rating to Final Rating for Rs.300 Crore NCD

Rating Action

Rs.375 Crore Long Term Principal Protected Market CRISIL PPMLD AAA r /Stable (Assigned)
Linked Debentures 9

R_s.500 Crore Long Term Principal Protected Market CRISIL PPMLD AAA r /Stable (Reaffirmed)
Linked Debentures

Rs.200 Crore Non Convertible Debentures CRISIL AAA/Stable (Reaffirmed)

CRISIL AAA/Stable (Converted from Provisional Rating
to Final Rating)

Corporate Credit Rating CCR AAA/Stable (Reaffirmed)
Rs.250 Crore Commercial Paper CRISIL A1+ (Reaffirmed)

1 crore = 10 million
Refer to Annexure for Details of Instruments & Bank Facilities

Rs.300 Crore Non Convertible Debentures

Detailed Rationale

CRISIL Ratings has assigned its ‘CRISIL PP-MLD AAAr/Stable’ rating to the proposed long-term principal protected
market-linked debentures (MLDs) worth Rs 375 crore of Mindspace Business Parks REIT (Mindspace REIT). CRISIL
Ratings has also converted the provisional rating assigned to the Rs 300 crore non-convertible debentures (NCDs) to a final
rating of 'CRISIL AAA/Stable'. CRISIL has received draft term sheets for the MLDs of Rs 375 crore and NCDs of Rs 75
crore, and the proposed terms and conditions are in line with those of the real estate investment trust's (REIT’s) existing
debentures. Furthermore, the already placed debentures incorporate covenants capping incremental debt throughout their
tenure. Consequently, these covenants will be applicable to the new instruments by default. Hence, CRISIL Ratings has
converted the provisional rating on the NCDs of Rs 300 crore to a final rating.

CRISIL Ratings has also reaffirmed its rating on MLDs of Rs 500 crore, NCDs of Rs 200 crore and commercial paper at
'CRISIL PP-MLD AAAr/CRISIL AAA/Stable/CRISIL A1+'. The corporate credit rating has also been reaffirmed at 'CCR
AAA/Stable'.

Mindspace REIT is sponsored by the K Raheja Corp group. The REIT owns eight special purpose vehicles (asset SPVs)
comprising 10 commercial offices, information technology (IT) parks and special economic zone (SEZ) assets, and houses
the facility management division.

The ratings continue to reflect Mindspace REIT's comfortable net loan-to-value (LTV) ratio, characterised by low debt,
strong debt protection metrics supported by a cap on incremental borrowings, and stable revenue profile of the assets,
amidst benefits of high occupancy and geographic diversification. The strengths are partially offset by susceptibility to
volatility in the real estate sector, causing fluctuations in rental rates and occupancy levels

Subdued economic activity or extended periods of work-from-home adopted by certain corporates may lead to build up of
vacancy in the near term. Further, there was a temporary halt in planned construction activity during the lockdown phase.
Nevertheless, work has resumed for most projects now. CRISIL Ratings will continue to monitor events around the
pandemic.

Analytical Approach

CRISIL Ratings has combined the business and financial risk profiles of Mindspace REIT with those of its asset SPVs, in-
line with its criteria for rating entities in homogeneous groups. This is because Mindspace REIT has direct control over the
asset SPVs, and will support them in the event of any exigency. Additionally, as per Securities and Exchange Board of
India’s (SEBI's) REIT Regulations, 2014, Mindspace REIT and its asset SPVs are mandated to distribute 90% of their net
distributable cash flow. Also, the cap on borrowing by the REIT has been defined at a consolidated level (equivalent to 49%
of the aggregate value of Mindspace REIT’s assets).

Please refer Annexure - List of entities consolidated, which captures the list of entities considered and their analytical treatment of
consolidation.

https://lwww.crisil.com/mnt/winshare/Ratings/RatingList/RatingDocs/MindspaceBusinessParksREITMindspaceREIT_March 09, 2021_RR_266510.... 1/8
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Key Rating Drivers & Detailed Description

Strengths:

« Comfortable LTV ratio, supporting the ability to refinance: Consolidated debt was low at Rs 3,634 crore as on
December 31, 2020. Consequently, Mindspace REIT has a comfortable LTV ratio of around 15% (as per external
valuation dated September 30, 2020). The low LTV ratio shields investors from the risk of any decline in property prices
and its consequent impact on refinancing.

The proceeds from the NCDs of Rs 200 crore were utilised primarily for refinancing external debt at underlying asset
SPVs. These instruments are non-amortising with bullet repayment at the end of 36 months from deemed date of
allotment, while the coupon is payable quarterly.

The MLDs of Rs 500 crore were utilised for refinancing external debt at underlying asset SPVs. These instruments are
similar to the NCDs in terms of amortisation, and have a tenure of 577 days from the date of allotment. The coupon is
accruing and to be paid at the time of redemption of MLDs, subject to terms of and conditions mentioned in the
transaction documents.

The proposed MLDs and NCDs of Rs 450 crore are expected to be utilised for - a) refinancing of external debt at
underlying SPVs, b) construction finance for ongoing projects and future development c) working capital, d) funding
acquisitions and/or e) other general corporate purposes. These are also expected to be non-amortising with bullet
repayment at the end of 3-5 years. Coupon, if any, may be payable quarterly, half-yearly or annually.

e Strong debt protection metrics: Residual debt at the asset SPVs are amortising and will run down over the next 10-12
years. However, incremental debt may be availed for repayments, construction, working capital requirement,
acquisitions and other corporate purposes. Average consolidated interest service coverage ratio (ISCR) should be
comfortable at over 2.0 times, including for all incremental financing in the underlying asset SPVs. This is because
incremental debt, over and above the proposed instruments and existing debt, to be raised over the next 3-5 years is
expected to be around Rs 3,000 crore. Consequently, LTV and debt-to-NOI/EBITDA (net operating income/earnings
before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization) ratios should remain comfortable at below 40% and 4.5 times,
respectively, vis-a-vis 49% and 5.0 times, respectively, as proposed in the MLD and NCD term sheets.

+ Stable revenue of asset SPVs: Mindspace REIT’s entire revenue comes from 10 commercial offices, IT parks and
SEZs. Consolidated revenue was Rs 1,202 crore (excluding revenue from works contract) for 9 months ended
December 31, 2020. The portfolio assets had committed occupancy of 86.9% as on December 31, 2020. Committed
occupancy has come down from 92.0% in March 2020, mainly because of addition of new area in June 2020, of 8.0
lakh square feet (sq. ft), which is to be leased out gradually; committed occupancy on same store basis remained robust
at close to 90%. The rentals have high mark-to-market potential, given the superior asset and service quality, favourable
location in prime areas of Hyderabad, Mumbai Region, Pune and Chennai, good demand and competitive rental rates.

Weakness:

« Susceptibility to volatility in the real estate sector: Rental collection remains susceptible to economic downturns,
which may constrain the tenant’s business risk profile, and therefore, limit occupancy and rental rates. Top 10 tenants
and technology sector concentration at 40.9% and 46.3% of gross contracted rentals, respectively, as on December 31,
2020, exposes the REIT to moderate concentration risk. Further, as on December 31, 2020, 20.3% of the total
completed leasable area will be due for renewal between the fourth quarter of fiscal 2021 and fiscal 2023. While
majority of the tenants are established corporates and may continue to occupy the property, any industry shock leading
to vacancies may make it difficult to find alternate lessees within the stipulated time. This could adversely impact cash
flow, and hence, will be a key rating sensitivity factor.

Liquidity: Superior

Liquidity remains strong, supported by healthy average consolidated ISCR of over 2.0 times, including for permitted
additional financing. Further, a low LTV ratio enhances the REIT’s financial flexibility. Consolidated debt is unlikely to cause
LTV ratio to exceed 40%, thus protecting investors from any decline in property prices and the consequent impact on
refinancing.

Outlook Stable
CRISIL Ratings believes Mindspace REIT will continue to benefit from the quality of its underlying assets over the medium
term.

Rating Sensitivity factors

Downward Factors:

* Reduction in the value of underlying assets, leading to LTV ratio of over 40%

« Higher-than-expected incremental borrowing

* Increase in overall vacancy by over 5% for completed assets of 239 lakh sq. ft, of which 207 lakh sq. ft has been leased
(occupied and committed) as on December 31, 2020

« Significant delay in the completion and leasing of under construction assets

* Any other non-adherence to the structural features of the transaction

About the Trust
Mindspace REIT is registered as an irrevocable trust under the Indian Trust Act, 1882, and as a REIT with SEBI's REIT
Regulations, 2014, as amended. Mindspace REIT’s portfolio assets are held through the following asset SPVs:

K Raheja IT Park (Hyderabad) Ltd (KRIT), Sundew Properties Ltd (Sundew) and Intime Properties Ltd (Intime) own and
operate a SEZ/IT park, Mindspace, in Madhapur, Hyderabad. The property has been operational since 2005, and has a total
completed area of approximately (approx.) 100 lakh sq. ft with committed occupancy 95.2% as on December 31, 2020,
while an additional area of approx. 6 lakh sq. ft is expected to be developed over the medium term.

Avacado Properties and Trading (India) Pvt. Ltd (Avacado) owns and operates:

https://lwww.crisil.com/mnt/winshare/Ratings/RatingList/RatingDocs/MindspaceBusinessParksREITMindspaceREIT_March 09, 2021_RR_266510.... 2/8



3/10/2021 Rating Rationale

a) An IT park, Mindspace, in Malad, Mumbai region. The property has been operational since 2004, and has a total
leasable area of approx. 7 lakh sq. ft with committed occupancy of 82.4% as on December 31, 2020.

b) A commercial office, The Square, in Bandra Kurla Complex, Mumbai region, with a total leasable area of approx. 1 lakh
sq. ft and committed occupancy of 27.4% as on December 31, 2020. The property was acquired by the group in August
2019, and is being leased gradually.

Mindspace Business Parks Pvt. Ltd (MBPPL) owns and operates:

a) An SEZ, Mindspace, in Airoli (East), Mumbai region. The property has been operational since 2007, and has a total
completed leasable area of approx. 47 lakh sq. ft with committed occupancy of 93.2% as on December 31, 2020, while
an additional area of approx. 21 lakh sq. ft is expected to be gradually developed over the medium-to-long term.

b) An IT park, Commerzone, in Yerwada, Pune. The property has been operational since 2010, and has a total leasable
area of approx. 17 lakh sq. ft with committed occupancy of 97.5% as on December 31, 2020.

c) An IT park/commercial office, The Square, in Nagar Road, Pune. The property has been operational since 2015, and
has a total leasable area of approx. 7 lakh sq. ft with committed occupancy of 79.8% as on December 31, 2020.

d) An SEZ, Mindspace, in Pocharam, Hyderabad. The property has been operational since 2012 and has a total
completed leasable area of approx. 4 lakh sq. ft with committed occupancy of 71.1% as on December 31, 2020.

Gigaplex Estate Pvt. Ltd (Gigaplex) owns and operates an SEZ/IT park, Mindspace, in Airoli (West) (Mumbai region). The
property has been operational since 2013, and has a total completed leasable area of approx. 35 lakh sq. ft with committed
occupancy of 72.3% as on December 31, 2020, while an additional area of approx. 10 lakh sq. ft is under construction and
expected to be completed in phases over the next 12 months.

KRC Infrastructure and Projects Pvt. Ltd (KRC Infra):

a) Owns and operates an SEZ/IT park, Commerzone, in Kharadi, Pune. The property was completed in fiscal 2020, and
has completed leasable area of approx. 13 lakh sq. ft with committed occupancy of 93.1% as on December 31, 2020.
Another approx. 13 lakh sq. ft of area is under development or proposed to be developed over the medium term.

b)  The facility management arm, housed under this entity beginning October 1, 2020, provides services for each asset
under the REIT. Services include housekeeping, management of equipment, facade cleaning, security expenses, repair
and maintenance and maintenance of common areas, etc.

Horizonview Properties Pvt. Ltd (Horizonview) owns an IT park, Commerzone, in Porur, Chennai. The property was
completed in June 2020, having completed leasable area of approx. 8 lakh sq. ft, to be leased gradually over the medium
term.

Key Financial Indicators*

Particulars Unit 2020 2019
Revenue from operations Rs crore 1,757 1,422
Profit after tax (PAT) Rs crore 514 515
PAT margin % 29.3 36.2
Adjusted gearing Times 3.22 3.29
Interest coverage Times 2.67 2.83

*CRISIL-adjusted numbers

Any other information: Not applicable

Note on complexity levels of the rated instrument:

CRISIL complexity levels are assigned to various types of financial instruments. The CRISIL complexity levels are available
on www.crisil.com/complexity-levels. Users are advised to refer to the CRISIL complexity levels for instruments that they
consider for investment. Users may also call the Customer Service Helpdesk with queries on specific instruments.

Annexure - Details of Instrument(s

ISIN Name of Date of Coupon | Maturity | Issue size | Complexity assiRiiirc‘igwith
instrument allotment rate (%) date (Rs.Crore) level o%tlook
Non-convertible CRISIL
NA debentures* NA NA NA 300.0 NA AAA/Stable
Non-convertible 17-Dec- o 16-Dec- . CRISIL
INEOCCUQ7025 debentures 2020 6.45% 2023 200.0 Simple AAA/Stable
Long-term
principal 29-Sep- | 19¥€ar | o9 apr- Highl CRISIL
INEOCCU07017 |  protected 000 G-Sec 00 500.0 Conﬁ’plgx PPMLD AAA
market linked linked r /Stable
debentures
Long-term
principal CRISIL
NA protected NA NA NA 375.0 NA PPMLD AAA
market linked r /Stable
debentures*
NA Commercial NA NA 7365 1 2500 Simple | CRISIL A1+
paper days
*Not yet placed
Annexure — List of entities consolidated
[ Names of Entities Consolidated | Extent of Consolidation | Rationale for Consolidation
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KRIT Full 89% subsidiary
Sundew Full 89% subsidiary
Intime Full 89% subsidiary
Avacado Full 100% subsidiary
MBPPL Full 100% subsidiary
Gigaplex Full 100% subsidiary
KRC Infra Full 100% subsidiary
Horizonview Full 100% subsidiary

Annexure - Rating History for last 3 Years

Instrument

Corporate
Credit Rating

Commercial
Paper

Non Convertible
Debentures

Long Term
Principal
Protected
Market Linked
Debentures

Type

LT

ST

LT

LT

All amounts are in Rs.Cr.

Current

Outstanding
Amount

0.0

250.0

500.0

875.0

Links to related criteria
CRISILs rating_criteria for REITs and InVITs

Rating

CCR
AAA/Stable

CRISIL
Al+

CRISIL
AAA/Stable

CRISIL
PPMLD
AAA 1
/Stable

2021 (History)

Date

Media Relations

Saman Khan

Media Relations
CRISIL Limited
D: +91 22 3342 3895
B: +91 22 3342 3000

saman.khan@qcrisil.com

Naireen Ahmed
Media Relations
CRISIL Limited
D: +91 22 3342 1818
B: +91 22 3342 3000

naireen.ahmed@qcrisil.com

Rating

2020 2019
Date Rating Date Rating
11-12-20  CCR AAA/Stable -
09-10-20  CCR AAA/Stable -
22-09-20 CCR AAA/Stable -
18-08-20 = CCR AAA/Stable -
Provisional CCR
26-06-20 " AAA/Stable -
11-12-20 CRISIL A1+ -
09-10-20 CRISIL A1+ -
22-09-20 CRISIL A1+ -
Provisional CRISIL
11-12-20 = AAA/Stable,CRISIL -
AAA/Stable
Provisional CRISIL
09-10-20 " Aap/Stable -
Provisional CRISIL
22:0920 " AapsStable -
CRISIL PPMLD
11220 “apa 't /Stable -
CRISIL PPMLD
09-10-20 AAA r /Stable -
Provisional CRISIL
22-09-20 PPMLD AAA T -
/Stable
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Note for Media:

This rating rationale is transmitted to you for the sole purpose of dissemination through your newspaper / magazine / agency. The rating rationale may be
used by you in full or in part without changing the meaning or context thereof but with due credit to CRISIL Ratings. However, CRISIL Ratings alone has
the sole right of distribution (whether directly or indirectly) of its rationales for consideration or otherwise through any media including websites, portals etc.

About CRISIL Ratings Limited

CRISIL Ratings pioneered the concept of credit rating in India in 1987. With a tradition of independence, analytical rigour and
innovation, we set the standards in the credit rating business. We rate the entire range of debt instruments, such as, bank loans,
certificates of deposit, commercial paper, non-convertible / convertible / partially convertible bonds and debentures, perpetual
bonds, bank hybrid capital instruments, asset-backed and mortgage-backed securities, partial guarantees and other structured
debt instruments. We have rated over 33,000 large and mid-scale corporates and financial institutions. We have also instituted
several innovations in India in the rating business, including rating municipal bonds, partially guaranteed instruments and
infrastructure investment trusts (InvITs).

CRISIL Ratings Limited ("CRISIL Ratings") is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRISIL Limited ("CRISIL"). CRISIL Ratings Limited is
registered in India as a credit rating agency with the Securities and Exchange Board of India ("SEBI").

For more information, visit www.crisil.com/ratings

About CRISIL Limited

CRISIL is a global analytical company providing ratings, research, and risk and policy advisory services. We are India's leading
ratings agency. We are also the foremost provider of high-end research to the world's largest banks and leading corporations.

CRISIL is majority owned by S&P Global Inc., a leading provider of transparent and independent ratings, benchmarks, analytics
and data to the capital and commaodity markets worldwide

For more information, visit www.crisil.com

Connect with us: TWITTER | LINKEDIN | YOUTUBE | FACEBOOK

CRISIL PRIVACY NOTICE

CRISIL respects your privacy. We may use your contact information, such as your name, address, and email id to fulfil your request and service your
account and to provide you with additional information from CRISIL.For further information on CRISIL’s privacy policy please visit www.crisil.com.

DISCLAIMER

This disclaimer forms part of and applies to each credit rating report and/or credit rating rationale (each a "Report") that is provided by CRISIL Ratings Limited
(hereinafter referred to as "CRISIL Ratings") . For the avoidance of doubt, the term "Report" includes the information, ratings and other content forming part of the
Report. The Report is intended for the jurisdiction of India only. This Report does not constitute an offer of services. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing,
nothing in the Report is to be construed as CRISIL Ratings providing or intending to provide any services in jurisdictions where CRISIL Ratings does not have the
necessary licenses and/or registration to carry out its business activities referred to above. Access or use of this Report does not create a client relationship between
CRISIL Ratings and the user.

We are not aware that any user intends to rely on the Report or of the manner in which a user intends to use the Report. In preparing our Report we have not taken
into consideration the objectives or particular needs of any particular user. It is made abundantly clear that the Report is not intended to and does not constitute an
investment advice. The Report is not an offer to sell or an offer to purchase or subscribe for any investment in any securities, instruments, facilities or solicitation of
any kind or otherwise enter into any deal or transaction with the entity to which the Report pertains. The Report should not be the sole or primary basis for any
investment decision within the meaning of any law or regulation (including the laws and regulations applicable in the US).

Ratings from CRISIL Ratings are statements of opinion as of the date they are expressed and not statements of fact or recommendations to purchase, hold, or sell
any securities / instruments or to make any investment decisions. Any opinions expressed here are in good faith, are subject to change without notice, and are only
current as of the stated date of their issue. CRISIL Ratings assumes no obligation to update its opinions following publication in any form or format although CRISIL
Ratings may disseminate its opinions and analysis. Rating by CRISIL Ratings contained in the Report is not a substitute for the skill, judgment and experience of the
user, its management, employees, advisors and/or clients when making investment or other business decisions. The recipients of the Report should rely on their own
judgment and take their own professional advice before acting on the Report in any way. CRISIL Ratings or its associates may have other commercial transactions
with the company/entity.

Neither CRISIL Ratings nor its affiliates, third party providers, as well as their directors, officers, shareholders, employees or agents (collectively, "CRISIL Ratings
Parties") guarantee the accuracy, completeness or adequacy of the Report, and no CRISIL Ratings Party shall have any liability for any errors, omissions, or
interruptions therein, regardless of the cause, or for the results obtained from the use of any part of the Report. EACH CRISIL RATINGS' PARTY DISCLAIMS ANY
AND ALL EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, ANY WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, SUITABILITY OR FITNESS
FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR USE. In no event shall any CRISIL Ratings Party be liable to any party for any direct, indirect, incidental, exemplary,
compensatory, punitive, special or consequential damages, costs, expenses, legal fees, or losses (including, without limitation, lost income or lost profits and
opportunity costs) in connection with any use of any part of the Report even if advised of the possibility of such damages.

CRISIL Ratings may receive compensation for its ratings and certain credit-related analyses, normally from issuers or underwriters of the instruments, facilities,
securities or from obligors. CRISIL Rating's public ratings and analysis as are required to be disclosed under the regulations of the Securities and Exchange Board of
India (and other applicable regulations, if any) are made available on its web sites, www.crisil.com (free of charge). Reports with more detail and additional
information may be available for subscription at a fee - more details about ratings by CRISIL Ratings are available here: www.crisilratings.com.

CRISIL Ratings and its affiliates do not act as a fiduciary. While CRISIL Ratings has obtained information from sources it believes to be reliable, CRISIL Ratings does
not perform an audit and undertakes no duty of due diligence or independent verification of any information it receives and / or relies in its Reports. CRISIL Ratings
has established policies and procedures to maintain the confidentiality of certain non-public information received in connection with each analytical process. CRISIL
Ratings has in place a ratings code of conduct and policies for analytical firewalls and for managing conflict of interest. For details please refer to:
http://www.crisil.com/ratings/highlightedpolicy.html

Rating criteria by CRISIL Ratings are generally available without charge to the public on the CRISIL Ratings public web site, www.crisil.com. For latest rating
information on any instrument of any company rated by CRISIL Ratings you may contact CRISIL RATING DESK at CRISILratingdesk@crisil.com, or at (0091) 1800
267 1301.

This Report should not be reproduced or redistributed to any other person or in any form without a prior written consent of CRISIL Ratings.

All rights reserved @ CRISIL Ratings Limited. CRISIL Ratings Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of CRISIL Limited.

CRISIL Ratings uses the prefix ‘PP-MLD’ for the ratings of principal-protected market-linked debentures (PPMLD) with effect from November 1, 2011 to comply with
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the SEBI circular, "Guidelines for Issue and Listing of Structured Products/Market Linked Debentures”. The revision in rating symbols for PPMLDs should not be

construed as a change in the rating of the subject instrument. For details on CRISIL Ratiings' use of 'PP-MLD' please refer to the notes to Rating scale for Debt
Instruments and Structured Finance Instruments at the following link: www.crisil.com/ratings/credit-rating-scale.html
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SCHEDULE -3 - GOVERNING BOARD AND COMMITTEE RESOLUTIONS

HULINESS PARKS REIT

CERTIFIED TRUE COPY OF THE RESOLUTION PASSED BY THE GOVERNING BOARD {“BOARD”) OF K RAHEJA
CORP INVESTMENT MANAGERS LLP {“MANAGER”) AT THEIR MEETING HELD ON SEPTEMBER 14, 2020

Amendment to the terms of reference of Executive Committee:

“RESOLVED THAT in partial modification of the resolutions passed by the Board at its meetings held on March
31, 2020 and June 20, 2020 and circular resolution dated July 20, 2020, the Board hereby approves
substitution of the existing terms of reference of the Executive Committee with the revised terms of reference

specified hereunder.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the Executive Committee be and is hereby authorized to exercise / perform all or
any of the following powers / acts on behalf of the Manager and/or Mindspace Business Parks REIT
(“Mindspace REIT”) from time to time;

1. To approve transfer and/or transmission of units of Mindspace Business Parks REIT, approve any
communication required to be sent to the unitholders of Mindspace Business Parks REIT,

2. To open, operate, close or change the operating instructions of any bank accounts, demat accounts,
escrow account, investment account, and authorize any person(s} (a} for execution of any application,
form, KYC, declaration, disclosure, affidavit and any other submission required to be made in respect of
any such account and (b) for operation of any such account, from time to time and to avail additional
facilities and features such as online access, net-banking services, cash management, treasury
management from bankers, depository participants and other intermediaries,

3. To authorise any persons for attending and representing Mindspace Business Parks REIT and/or the
Manager and voting at any meetings including general meetings {and/or by way of postal ballot or any
other modes and means permitted under the applicable law for exercising the voting rights) of any
company or limited liability partnership of which Mindspace Business Parks REIT and/or the Manager is a
shareholder, member or partner,

4. (A) To receive, consider and evaluate proposals for {i) acquisition of properties, real estate projects,
directly or through holdco or special purpose vehicle including Asset SPVs and/or {ii} expansion,
modification, alteration of existing projects and properties (“Acquisition Prospects”), (B} to sign and
execute non-disciosure agreements for the Acquisition Prospects and (C) to appoint, change or remove
lawyers, valuers, surveyors, architects, chartered accountants, property consultants, brokers and such
other consultants, advisors and service providers as the Executive Committee may deem fit for study,
assessment, evaluation of the Acquisition Prospects,

K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP
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BUSINESS S PARKS REIT

To appoint, change or remove nominees shareholders to hold shares for and on behalf of Mindspace
Business Parks REIT in any holdco or Asset SPV from time to time,

To grant permission and authorise holdco and/or Asset SPV and/or any other person, to use any
trademark and logo, which Mindspace Business Parks REIT or Manager is entitled to use pursuant to and
in accordance with the agreements entered into by Mindspace Business Parks REIT,

To give effect to the policies adopted by the Board from time to time in respect of Mindspace Business
Parks REIT, holdco or Asset SPVs, lay down necessary systems and procedures, appoint officials,
consultants and advisors as may be necessary in this regard and to resolve any difficulties and questions
as may be faced in implementation of such policies,

To regularly review and monitor (i} the statutory approvals required for Mindspace Business Parks REIT,
holdce and Asset SPVs and any assets owned or businesses carried on by them, (ii) progress of the under-
construction properties, {iii} outstanding litigations against Mindspace Business Parks REIT, Manager,
holdco and Asset SPVs and (iv) compliance with extant SEBI (Real Estate Investment Trusts) Regulations,
2014 {"REIT Regulations”), SEBI (Issue and Listing of Debt Securities) Regulations, 2008, SEBI (Listing
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements), 2015, SEBI {Prohibition of insider Trading) Regulations, 2015,
read together with the circulars, guidelines, notifications issued or framed thereunder and any other
applicable acts, regulations, rules, circulars, orders under the applicable laws,

To take any steps required for managing and mitigating any crisis arising at or in respect of the portfolio
of Mindspace Business Parks REIT,

To make donations and contributions pursuant to the Environment, Social and Governance (ESG)
Initiatives of Mindspace Business Parks REIT, Manager and its SPVs,

To apply, obtain, renew and surrender any membership / registration as may be required to be obtained
legally, commercially or under any regulation,

To consider, approve (with or without appointment of signatories wherever required in this regard), sign
and submit (a) any applications, submissions, forms, letters, reports, certificates, statements,
confirmations, intimations, notices, replies or any other documents for availing any certificate,
registration, membership, access login or facility, (whether afresh or for renewal) to the depositories,
stock exchanges, SEBI, RBI or any other statutory bodies, any authorities (including under any tax laws),
local authorities and bodies, ministries, government departments, undertakings, corporations (including
Telangana State Industrial Infrastructure Corporation, Maharashtra State Industrial Corporation),
municipalities, local authorities, and any other regulatory or statutory authorities as may be required from
time to time, (b) any applications, submissions, forms, letters, reports, certificates, statements,
confirmations, intimations, notices, replies or any other documents to the Trustee, debenture trustee,
security trustee, valuer, auditors, depositories, credit rating agencies, stock exchanges, SEBI, RBI or any
other statutory bodies, any authorities (including under any tax laws), local authorities and bodies,
ministries, government departments, undertakings, corporations {including Telangana State Industrial
Infrastructure Corporation, Maharashtra State Industrial Corporation), municipalities, local authorities,
and any other regulatory or statutory authorities as may be necessary from time to time, which are
required to be submitted in compliance with any extant and applicable laws or pszuant}J/
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FUSINESS FARKS REIT

agreement, arrangement or engagement with these parties and (c] any modifications, variations,
amendments, supplements (however fundamental they may be) to the documents specified and/or
signatories appointed, under this clause,

To negotiate, approve, execute, deliver and perform various documents like certificates, non- disclosure
agreements, engagement letters, consents, forms, any other applications, agreements, deeds, letters and
documents in respect of accounting, audit, valuation, statutory registrations and permissions,

To appoint any vendors, service providers, advisors, consultants and any other agencies as may be
statutorily, legally or otherwise required from time to time and to negotiate, approve, execute, deliver
and perform (a) any non-disclosure agreements, engagement letters, service level agreements for their
appointment and/or cessation and (b} any modifications, variations, amendments, supplements (however
fundamental they may be) thereto,

To approve sending of any letter, notice, demand in respect of any matter related to Mindspace Business
Parks REIT and / or Manager and filing of any complaint, suit, petition, application, affidavit, declaration,
undertaking, written statement, reply, rejoinder, consent, settlement in respect of any dispute / litigation
and also to authorize any individual, consultant or any company or firm to represent Mindspace Business
Parks REIT and/or the Manager before any court, tribunal, consumer redressal forum or any statutory,
judicial or regulatory or any other authority on any matter relating or concerning Mindspace Business
Parks REIT and/or the Manager or with which Mindspace Business Parks REIT and/or the Manager is in
any way connected and to represent Mindspace Business Parks REIT and/or the Manager generally or for

any specific purpose(s),

To invest / divest / redeem from time to time any funds of Mindspace Business Parks REIT and/or
Manager, in fixed deposit with any bank or financial institution, securities, mutual funds, liquid and/or
money market instruments and / or any other instrument as permitted under applicable law and to
authorise employees of the Manager or any other person from time to time to undertake all necessary
and incidental activities in respect of such investment, divestment or redemption,

To make administrative arrangements for holding of meetings of unitholders including selecting and
booking of the venue, hiring service providers (a) for designing, printing and despatch of notices, annual
/ half yearly / other reports and any other documents to unitholders by email or physical delivery, (b} for
providing e-voting facilities, (c) for providing participation by any audio- visual means and such other
consultants including scrutinizers, and all other ancillary and incidental activities in relation to holding of

© meetings of unitholders,

18.

In respect of (a) giving loan(s} or any other credit facility(ies) to the Asset SPVs of Mindspace Business
Parks REIT, (b) subscribing, purchasing, selling or redeeming the debt securities issued by the Asset SPVs,
(¢) giving guarantee and/or providing security for any loan(s) or credit facility(ies} of any nature as may be
availed by the Asset SPVs from time to time, from any person as may be permitted under extant applicable
law and/or any debt securities as may be issued by the Asset SPVs to any person as may be permitted
under extant applicable law, the Executive Committee be and is hereby authorised and empowered to
undertake all the activities and to exercise all powers and perform all acts, which are necessary and
incidental in this regard, including but not limited to: e
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a) granting of any type and nature of credit facilities to the Asset SPVs and terms of such loans including
interest rate, interest period, due dates etc. from time to time,

b) approving draw-down of any credit facility to Asset SPVs,

c) repayment and/or prepayment of any credit facility availed by Asset SPVs,

d) subscription of debt securities issued by Asset SPVs and terms of such debt securities,

e} sale, purchase or redemption of debt securities issued by Asset SPVs,

f}  giving of guarantee(s) by Mindspace Business Parks REIT and withdrawal of such guarantee(s),

g) providing of security(ies) by Mindspace Business Parks REIT and withdrawal or redemption of such
security(ies),

h} obtaining necessary approvals, permissions, registrations whether statutory or otherwise and/or
submitting necessary intimations in this regard,

i)  negotiating and settling the terms and conditions of any facility agreements and other agreements
and deeds, drawdown request letters and such other documents, applications, notices, letters,
instrument or papers as may be required, including amendments, supplements, modifications,
rectifications, cancellations thereof (collectively, hereinafter referred to as the “Transaction
Documents”), and (ii) executing, delivering and performing the Transaction Documents, in this regard,

i) designing, approving and laying down such standard operating procedures {“SOPs”), authority matrix
and other processes as it may deem fit for authorization and operationalization of such {a) giving
loan(s} or any other credit facility(ies) to the Asset SPVs, (b} subscribing, purchasing, selling or
redeeming the debt securities issued by the Asset SPVs, (c) giving guarantee and/or providing security
for any loan(s) or credit facility(ies) of any nature as may be availed by the Asset SPVs from time to
time, in this regard,

k) engaging / appointing any advisors, consultants, service providers or agency registrar & transfer
agent, merchant banker, arranger, depository participant, stock exchange and or any other consultant
or agency as may be required for the purpose of grant of such credit facility and / or guarantee and /
or security and as the Executive Committee may deem fit in this regard,

i}  settling any question or difficulties that may arise for giving effect to this resolution.

19. To borrow, from time-to-time, at Mindspace Business Parks REIT level such that the aggregate
consolidated borrowing and deferred payments {excluding refundable security deposits to tenants) of
Mindspace Business Parks REIT and its Asset SPVs net of cash and cash equivalents does not exceed 25%
(twenty-five per cent) of the value of total assets of Mindspace Business Parks REIT together with its Asset
SPVs:

- from any bank, housing finance company, non-banking finance company, financial institution, mutual
fund, foreign institutional investor, statutory corporation, government organization or body, company
{including the Asset SPVs of Mindspace Business Parks REIT), limited liability partnership firm, trust,
society or any person or entity (“Lenders”), whether in rupee or foreign currency and as may be
permitted under extant applicable law and as the Executive Committee may deem fit,

- whether as a loan, line of credit, overdraft facility or any other form of credit facility as may be permitted
under extant applicable law and as the Executive Committee may deem fit {“Borrowings”),

- by offering, issuing and allotting debentures, bonds or any other debt security or such other instrument
as may be permitted under extant applicable law and as the Executive Committee may deem fit
{“Offerings”), and

- in each case, on such terms as the Executive Committee may approve, sangtion and/or ratify and as may
be permitted under extant applicable law, =
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and in relation to such Borrowings and/or Offerings, the Executive Committee be and is hereby also
empowered to undertake all activities pertaining to the Borrowings and Offerings from time to time,
including without limitation:

A. negotiating, finalizing and approving (a} the terms of Borrowings and Offerings, (b) allotment of
securities and instruments under Offerings, {c} the terms of all agreements, deeds, letters (including
sanction letters, engagement letters), term sheets, undertakings, documents including offer
documents etc. in relation to the Borrowings and Offerings, {d) execution, delivery and performance
of all agreements, deeds, letters (including sanction letters, engagement letters), term sheets,
undertakings, documents including offer documents etc. in relation to the Borrowings and Offerings
and (e} any modifications, variations, amendments, supplements (however fundamental they may be)
thereto;

B. negotiating, finalizing and approving (a} creation of security in favour of the Lenders, debenture
trustee and/ or the security trustee for the repayment of all amounts in connection with the
Borrowings and Offerings, over movable and/or immovable properties of the Mindspace Business
Parks REIT and/or any SPVs of Mindspace Business Parks REIT, whether by way of pledge,
hypothecation, mortgage, lien or any form of encumbrance, (b) terms of documents for creation of
the aforesaid security for the Borrowings and Offerings, {clexecution, delivery and performance of
documents for creation of the aforesaid security for the Borrowings and Offerings, {d) execution,
presentation and registration of any documents before the sub registrar of assurances for creation of
the aforesaid security for the Borrowings and Offerings and (e} any modifications, variations,
amendments, supplements {however fundamental they may be) thereto;

C. liaising with and completing all legal, statutory, procedural, operational, registration, engagement and
appointment related formalities for applying, borrowing, draw-down, repayment, prepayment,
restructuring of the Borrowings and/or for marketing, issue, security creation, allotment, listing and
redemption of securities and instruments offered under the Offerings, including (a) appointment of
various intermediaries [including but not limited to debenture trustee(s}, security trustee(s),
merchant banker(s) and lead manager(s), arranger(s), registrar and transfer agent(s), custodians, legal
and tax counsel(s), valuation agency(s), credit rating agency(ies), banker(s), depository{ies)
subscriber(s), investor(s), underwriter(s), guarantor(s), escrow agent{s), consultant(s), advisor(s),
auditor(s), chartered accountant(s}, monitoring agency(ies), advertising agency(ies) and any other
agency(ies} or person(s} or intermediary(ies)] and negotiating terms of their appointment and
execution, delivery and performance of any agreements, letters and documents with them and any
modifications, variations, amendments, supplements (however fundamental they may be} to such
agreements, letters and documents, {b} filing / registering of any documents including the Information
Memorandum with SEBI, the Stock Exchange(s), {c) payment of stamp duties, registration fees and all
other stamp taxes, as required under applicable law and (d) approving, executing and submitting any
other forms, documents, letters, undertakings or applications required to be filed with any other
governmental/regulatory/statutory/quasi- judicial and judicial authorities, including any local
authority, the Reserve Bank of India (“RBI”), SEBI, the central government, any state government, the
Ministry of Corporate Affairs, {as may be applicable), tax authorities and/or other governmental
bodies or undertakings (coliectively “Governmental Authorities”), in accordance with applicable law
and (e) to do all acts in relation thereto;

D.to seek, if required, the consent of the lenders, parties with whom the Asset SPVs have entered into
various commercial and other agreements, all concerned government and regulatory authorities in
India or outside India, and any other consents that may be required ir(‘ onnection with the Borrowings

and Offerings,
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E. to negotiate, finalise, approve and settle and to execute where applicable and deliver or arrange the
delivery of the draft and/or final offer document / information memorandum, offer letter or any other
document inviting subscriptions to the securities and instruments offered under the Offerings
{including any notices, amendments, addenda, corrigenda or supplements thereto), the agreements
and all other documents, deeds, agreements and instruments and any notices, supplements and
corrigenda thereto, as may be required or desirable with respect to the securities and instruments
offered under the Offerings and to set up an online bidding mechanism on the electronic book
platform of the Stock Exchanges, if required;

F. to issue advertisements and/or notices as it may deem fit and proper in accordance with applicable
law;

G.to finalize the allotment of and to allot the securities and instruments offered under the Offerings on
the basis of the applications received including the basis of the allotment;

H.to authorize and approve, the incurting of expenditure and payment of fees, commission,
remuneration and expenses, including the stamp duty, registration costs and all other charges to be
incurred in connection with the Borrowings and Offerings; !

I. giving or authorizing any concerned person to give such declarations, affidavits, certificates, consents
and authorities as may be required from time to time;

1. approving terms of and acceptance or execution of the sanction letter, term sheet, Information
Memorandum, application form etc. (including amending, varying or modifying the same, however
fundamental they may be, as may be considered desirable or expedient), in relation to the Borrowings
and Offerings;

K. filing of the information memorandum with the Stock Exchange within the prescribed time period and
setting up an online bidding mechanism on the electronic book platform of the Stock Exchanges, if
required, in accordance with applicable law;

L. filing and obtaining listing approval {in-principle and final), seeking the listing of the securities and
instruments offered under the Offerings on the Stock Exchange and taking all actions that may be
necessary in connection with obtaining such listing;

M. authorizing the maintenance of a register of debenture holders;

N. dealing with all matters relating to the issue, allotment and listing of the securities and instruments
offered under the Offerings including but not limited to as specified under the SEBI {Real Estate
Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 (“REIT Regulations”), the SEBI {lssue and Listing of Debt
Securities) Regulations, 2008, SEBI {Debenture Trustees) Regulations, 1993, guidelines issued by SEBI
titled ‘Guidelines for issuance of debt securities by Real Estate Investment Trusts (REITs) and
Infrastructure Investment Trusts (InviTs) dated April 13, 2018, as may be amended from time to time
(“REIT Debenture Guidelines”), guidelines issued by SEBI titled ‘Guidelines for Issue and Listing of
Structured Products/ Market Linked Debentures dated September 28, 2011, as may be amended from
time to time (“MLD Guidelines”) and other circulars, directives and regulations issued by SEBI and
other regulatory/governmental/statutory bodies, from time to time;

0. accepting and utilizing the proceeds of the Borrowings and Offerings in the manner provided under
the respective agreements, deeds, letters, documents etc. to be executed in relation to the
Borrowings and Offerings and the applicable law with power to amend the utilization in accordance
with applicable laws and the respective agreements, deeds, letters, documents etc. to be executed in
relation to the Borrowings and Offerings;

P. deciding the pricing and all the other terms of the Borrowings and Offexings (including interest,
repayment, prepayment, coupon, redemption amounts and all other m ieg payable in relation to
the Borrowings and Offerings), and all other related matters; ) '
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Q. appointing the registrar and any other intermediaries and security trustee / debenture trustee in
relation to the Borrowings and Offerings, in accordance with the provisions of the REIT Regulations
and other applicable law and entering into the required agreements with all intermediaries and
security trustee / debenture trustee; and

R. designing, approving and laying down such standard operating procedures (“SOPs”}, authority matrix
and other processes as it may deem fit for Borrowings and Offerings and reviewing and revising the
same from time to time,

S. to open, operate, close or change the operating instructions of any bank accounts, demat accounts,
escrow account, investment account, and authorize any person(s) (a} for execution of any application,
form, KYC, declaration, disclosure, affidavit and any other submission required to be made in respect
of any such account and (b} for operation of any such account, from time to time and to avail
additional facilities and features such as online access, net- banking services, cash management,
treasury management from bankers, depository participants and other intermediaries,

T. to (a) do any other act and/or deed, (b) negotiate and execute any document(s), application(s),
agreement(s), undertaking(s}, deed(s), affidavits, declarations and certificates, settle any questions or
difficulties that may arise for giving effect to this resolution, and give such direction as it deems fit or
as may be necessary or desirable with regard, and

20. To design, approve, lay down and revise from time to time, such Standard Operating Procedures {“SOPs”)
and Delegation of Authority Matrix for day to day management of the business (including laying down
monetary limits, appointment of third party consultants, advisors,contractors, agents, etc. as the case
may be, authority to make filings to government authorities etc., sign and execute various documents or
writings as may be required for day to day management of the business, etc.) to the employees of the
Manager or such other persons as the Executive Committee may deem fit.

wherein the term “Asset SPVs” consist of the following:

Avacado Properties and Trading (India) Private Limited (“Avacado”)

Gigaplex Estate Pvt. Ltd. {“Gigaplex”)

Horizonview Properties Private Limited {“Horizonview”)

KRC Infrastructure and Projects Private Limited (“KRC Infra”)

Mindspace Business Parks Private Limited {(“MBPPL")

Sundew Properties Limited {“Sundew”)

¢ intime Properties Limited {“Intime”)

e K.Raheja IT Park (Hyderabad) Limited (“KRIT")

¢ or any other company which shall become Holdco and/or special purpose vehicle as defined under
SEBI (Real Estate Investment Trust) Regulations, 2014, of Mindspace Business Parks REIT in future.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT in connection with any of the foregoing resolution, the Executive Committee be
and is hereby authorized to delegate all or any such powers vested in it to any employee(s) of the Manager
or any other person, including by the grant of power of attorney, to do such acts, deeds and things as such
authorized person in his/her/its absolute discretion may deem necessary or desirable and giving or
authorizing any concerned person to give such declarations, affidavits, certificates, consents and authorities
as may be required in furtherance of the powers vested in the Executive Commit
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RESOLVED FURTHER THAT a copy of the above resolution, certified to be true by any Member of the Board

or Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer or Compliance Officer of the Manager, be provided to the
concerned authorities or such other persons as may be required.”

For and on behalf of K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP
(acting as the Manager to Mindspace Business Parks REIT)

Authorised\Signa oty
Name: Neel
Date: Decen

; Authorised Signatory
4 Name: Vinod Rehira
Date: December 4, 2020
Place: Mumbai
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Place: Mumbai
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CERTIFIED TRUE COPY OF THE RESOLUTION PASSED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
(“COMMITTEE”) OF K RAHEJA CORP INVESTMENT MANAGERS LLP (“MANAGER”) AT THEIR MEETING
HELD ON TUESDAY, MARCH 9, 2021.

To approve issue of upto 750 Secured, listed, senior, taxable, non-cumulative, rated, redeemable, non-
convertible debentures (“non-convertible debentures”) by Mindspace Business Parks REIT:

The Committee was informed that Mindspace Business Parks REIT (“Mindspace REIT”) was proposing to
avail financial facility by way of issue of upto 750 Secured, listed, senior, taxable, non cumulative, rated,
redeemable, non-convertible debentures, aggregating upto Rs. 75,00,00,000/- (Rupees seventy five
crores only), in one or more tranches / series / issuances / phases, in dematerialised form, on private
placement basis (“Debentures”), proposed to be listed on the debt segment of any recognized stock
exchange in India including BSE Limited and/or National Stock Exchange of India Limited.

The Committee was further informed that for the issue of Debentures, Mindspace REIT would be required
to execute various documents, as applicable, including but not limited to:

(a) the debenture trustee agreement(s) between Mindspace REIT, IDBI Trusteeship Services Ltd
(“Debenture Trustee”) acting on behalf of and for the benefit of the Debenture Holders;

(b)  the debenture trust deed(s) between Mindspace REIT and the Debenture Trustee;

(c)  the letter agreement(s) appointing Link Intime India Private Limited as the registrar and transfer
agent with respect to the Debentures (“RTA”);

(d) the letter appointing Cushman & Wakefield India Private Limited (and/or any other valuation
agency), as the valuation agency in connection with the Debentures (“Valuation Agency”);

(e) the tripartite agreement between Mindspace REIT, the RTA and National Security Depository
Limited/Central Depository Services (India) Limited;

(f)  the listing agreement between Mindspace REIT and BSE Limited and/or National Stock Exchange of
India Limited (the “Stock Exchange”);

(g) the information memorandum(s) / disclosure document(s) in the form specified in the Securities
and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing of Debt Securities) Regulations, 2008 (“Debt Listing
Regulations”) and in accordance with the provisions contained in the Securities and Exchange Board
of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements), 2015, Securities and Exchange Board of
India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015, Guidelines for Electronic book mechanism
for issuance of securities on private placement basis issued by SEBI vide circular dated January 5,
2018 and August 16, 2018, including any amendment or substitution thereof and other circulars,
directives and regulations issued by SEBI and other regulatory/governmental/statutory bodies,
from time to time and to be circulated by Mindspace REIT to the subscribers to the Debentures
(“Debenture Holders”) for offering the Debentures by way of private placement (“Information
Memorandum”);
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(h)  corporate guarantee(s) to be executed by Mindspace Business Parks Private Limited or any other
special purpose vehicle (“Asset SPV”) forming part of the assets of Mindspace REIT in favour of the
Debenture Trustee and/ or the Security Trustee;

(i) the indenture of mortgage by Mindspace Business Parks Private Limited or any other Asset SPV
forming part of the identified immoveable property and moveable property to be mortgaged in
favour of the Debenture Trustee and/ or the Security Trustee;

(i the accounts agreement by and between inter alia Mindspace Business Parks Private Limited, the
account bank and the debenture trustee and/or the security trustee in connection with operation
of bank accounts of Mindspace Business Parks Private Limited; and

(k) any other documents relating to the Debentures including but not limited to term sheet and/or any
other document executed by Mindspace REIT with the Debenture Trustee, security trustee,
registrar and transfer agent, credit rating agency, valuer and/or valuation agency, depositories,
stock exchanges, arrangers, debenture holders or such other persons and entities as may be
necessary in respect of the Debentures and/or designated as such by the debenture holders and
Mindspace REIT (collectively, the “Transaction Documents”).

The Committee was further informed that as per Regulation 20 of SEBI (Real Estate Investment Trusts)
Regulations, 2014 (“REIT Regulations”), a REIT whose units are listed on a recognized stock exchange
could issue debt securities in the manner as specified by SEBI from time to time. Provided that such debt
securities should be listed on recognized stock exchange(s). Further, as per Regulation 22 of REIT
Regulations, 2014, if the aggregate consolidated borrowing and deferred payments (excluding refundable
security deposits to tenants) of a REIT, holdco and SPV net of cash and cash equivalents exceeded 25% of
the value of the REIT assets, then such REIT have to inter-alia obtain approval of unitholders for any further
borrowings. Thus, a REIT could avail loans and/or issue debt securities upto 25% of the value of the REIT
assets, without requiring any approval of the unitholders.

Accordingly, the Committee is requested to approve issue of Debentures by Mindspace REIT. The
Committee discussed the matter and passed the following resolution unanimously:

“RESOLVED THAT pursuant to the provisions of (a) SEBI (Real Estate Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014)
(“REIT Regulations”), (b) SEBI (Issue and Listing Of Debt Securities) Regulations, 2008, (c) Guidelines for
issuance of debt securities by Real Estate Investment Trusts (REITs) and Infrastructure Investment Trusts
(InvITs) issued by SEBI vide circular dated April 13, 2018, (d) SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure
Requirements), 2015 (e) Guidelines for Electronic book mechanism for issuance of securities on private
placement basis issued by SEBI vide circular dated January 5, 2018 and August 16, 2018, including any
amendment or substitution thereof read with all other applicable regulations, circulars, notifications and
guidelines issued by Securities and Exchange Board of India (“SEBI”) or any other regulatory body and as
may be applicable and the applicable provisions of the trust deed executed by and between Cape Trading
LLP, Anbee Constructions LLP and Axis Trustee Services Limited dated November 18, 2019 (“REIT Trust
Deed”), and the applicable provisions of the investment management agreement executed by and
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between Axis Trustee Services Limited and K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP dated November 21,
2019, the issue of 750 Secured, listed, senior, taxable, non-cumulative, rated, redeemable, non-
convertible debentures (“Debentures”), of upto Rs. 75,00,00,000/- (Rupees seventy five crores only), in
one or more tranches / series / issuances / phases, in dematerialised form, on private placement basis,
proposed to be listed on the debt segment of any recognized stock exchange in India including BSE Limited
and/or National Stock Exchange of India Limited, to eligible investors by Mindspace Business Parks REIT,
on such terms and in such manner as may be deemed fit, be and is hereby approved.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the consent of the Committee be and is hereby given to create security for the
due repayment of all amounts payable in relation to the Debentures, pursuant to the Transaction
Documents, as applicable and as set out below and as may be agreed with the debenture holders and the
debenture trustee / security trustee, including by way of mortgage, hypothecation, pledge, lien, guarantee
or any other security or encumbrance, in each case, in favour of the debenture trustee and/ or the security
trustee (acting for the benefit of the Debenture Holders):

(a) the debenture trustee agreement(s) between Mindspace REIT, IDBI Trusteeship Services Ltd
(“Debenture Trustee”) acting on behalf of and for the benefit of the Debenture Holders;

(b) the debenture trust deed(s) between Mindspace REIT and the Debenture Trustee;

(c) the letter agreement(s) appointing Link Intime India Private Limited as the registrar and transfer
agent with respect to the Debentures (“RTA”);

(d) the letter appointing the Cushman & Wakefield India Private Limited (and/or any other valuation
agency) as the valuation agency in connection with the Debentures (“Valuation Agency”);

(e) the tripartite agreement between Mindspace REIT, the RTA and National Security Depository
Limited/Central Depository Services (India) Limited;

(f) the listing agreement between Mindspace REIT and BSE Limited and/or National Stock Exchange
of India Limited (the “Stock Exchange”);

(g) the information memorandum(s) / disclosure document(s) in the form specified in the Securities
and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing of Debt Securities) Regulations, 2008 (“Debt Listing
Regulations”) and in accordance with the provisions contained in the Securities and Exchange
Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements), 2015, Securities and Exchange
Board of India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015, Guidelines for Electronic book
mechanism for issuance of securities on private placement basis issued by SEBI vide circular dated
January 5, 2018 and August 16, 2018, including any amendment or substitution thereof and other
circulars, directives and regulations issued by SEBI and other regulatory/governmental/statutory
bodies, from time to time and to be circulated by Mindspace REIT to the subscribers to the
Debentures (“Debenture Holders”) for offering the Debentures by way of private placement
(“Information Memorandum”);

(h) corporate guarantee(s) to be executed by Mindspace Business Parks Private Limited or any other
SPV forming part of the assets of Mindspace REIT in favour of the Debenture Trustee and/ or the
Security Trustee;
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(i) theindenture of mortgage by Mindspace Business Parks Private Limited or any other SPV forming
part of the identified immoveable property and moveable property to be mortgaged in favour of
the Debenture Trustee and/ or the Security Trustee;

(j) the accounts agreement by and between inter alia Mindspace Business Parks Private Limited, the
account bank and the debenture trustee and/ or the security trustee in connection with operation
of bank accounts of Mindspace Business Parks Private Limited; and

(k) any other documents relating to the Debentures including but not limited to term sheet and/or
any other document executed by Mindspace REIT with the Debenture Trustee, security trustee,
registrar and transfer agent, credit rating agency, valuer and/or valuation agency, depositories,
stock exchanges, arrangers, debenture holders or such other persons and entities as may be
necessary in respect of the Debentures and/or designated as such by the Debenture Holders and
Mindspace REIT (collectively, the “Transaction Documents”)

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT the consent of the Committee be and is hereby given for execution of various
documents by Mindspace Business Parks REIT including but not limited to the Transaction Documents.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT Mr. Ravi Raheja, Mr. Neel Raheja, Mr. Vinod Rohira and Ms. Preeti Chheda,
members of the committee, be and are hereby severally authorised to approve and finalize, sign, execute,
deliver and perform Transaction Documents, agreements including without limitation listing agreement,
applications, documents, writings, undertakings, letters, and to file the necessary forms, returns,
documentation for availing electronic book mechanism, authorize intermediaries and to do all such acts
and deeds as required to issue the Debentures via electronic book mechanism, documentation for in-
principles approval, information, application, intimation and any other related documents with Stock
Exchange, SEBI, depositories, Reserve Bank of India (as applicable) or any other government authority and
to do all such deeds and acts in connection there with ancillary and incidental thereto.

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT Mr. Ravi Raheja, Mr. Neel Raheja, Mr. Vinod Rohira and Ms. Preeti Chheda,
members of the committee, be and are hereby severally authorised to do all such acts, deeds, matters
and things as may be necessary to give effect to this resolution.
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RESOLVED FURTHER THAT a copy of the above resolution, certified to be true by any member of the Board
or Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer or Compliance Officer of the Manager, be provided to
the concerned authorities or such other persons as may be required.”

//Certified to be true//
For K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP
(acting as the Manager to Mindspace Business Parks REIT)

PREETI Digitally signed

by PREETI

NAVEEN NAVEEN CHHEDA

Date: 2021.03.11
CHHEDA 124238+0530'
Preeti Chheda
Chief Financial Officer
Place: Mumbai
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To

The Governing Board,

K. Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP (the “Investment Manager”) in its capacity as an
Investment Manager of the Mindspace Business Parks REIT (the “Issuer” or “the Trust™)

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Mindspace Business Parks REIT (the
“Trust"), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2020 and Statement of Profit and
Loss for the period November 18, 2019 to March 31, 2020 (including Other Comprehensive
Income), Statement of Cash Flow for the period November 18, 2019 to March 31, 2020 and
Statement of Changes in Equity for the period then ended and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to
us, the aforesaid financial statements give the true and fair view in conformity with the
Indian Accounting Standards prescribed under section 133 of the Company’s Act, 2013 read
with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, {“Ind AS") and
other accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Trust as at
March 31, 2020, and its loss, total comprehensive loss, its changes in equity and cash flows far
the period ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit of the financial statements in accordance with the Standards on
Auditing (SAs) issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI). Qur
responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibility for
the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Trust in
accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India
(ICAI) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the ICAI's Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the financial statements.

Management’'s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Governing Board of the Investment Manager is responsible for the preparation of these
financial statements that give a true and fair view of the financial position, financial
performance including other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows of the
Company in accordance with the Ind AS and other accounting principles generally accepted in
India. This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records for
safeguarding the assets of the Trust and for preventing and detecting frauds and other
irreguiarities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments
and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance
of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy
and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of
the financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the financial statements, the Governing Board of Investment Manager is
responsible for assessing the ability of the Trust ta continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the Trust or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Governing Board of Investment Manager is also responsible for overseeing the financial
reporting process of the Trust.

Auditor's Responsibility for the audit of the FInancial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit ¢conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

* Obtain an understanding of internal financial control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal financial control of the Trust.

« Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Management.

+ Conclude on the appropriateness of Management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditiens that may cast significant doubt on the Trust’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Qur conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Trust to cease to continue as a going concern.

« Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the standalone financial statements that,
individually or in aggregate, makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonabiy
knowledgeable user of the financial statements may be influenced. We consider quantitative
materiality and qualitative factors in (i} planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating
the results of our work; and (ii} to evaluate the effect of any identified misstatements in the
financial statements.
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scape and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

We further report that:

(a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our
knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit;

(b} The Balance Sheet and the Statement of Profit and Loss including the Statement of Other
Comprehensive Income, Statement of Cash Flow and Statement of Changes in Equity dealt
with by this Report are in agreement with the books of account of the REIT

For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS LLP
Chartered Accountants
{Firm’s Registration No. 117366W / W-100018)

Nilesh Shah

Partner

Membership No. 49650
UDIN:20049660AAAAAL3356

Place: Mumbai
Date: 20 June 2020
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MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS REIT
RN:IN/REIT/19-20/003
Balance sheet as at March 31, 2020

(Al amounts in Rs. Milfion unless otherwise stated}

Particulars Notes As at
March 31, 2020
ASSETS
I. Current asscts
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4 0.01
Total Current assels 0.01
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
1. Equity
(i) Corpus 0.01
(i) Other equity 5 (48.86)
TOTAL (48.85)
2, Liabilitues
Financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities 6 48.86
48.86
TOTAL 0.01
See the accompanying notes to the {inancial statements. f-14

In 1erms of our report of even date attached.

For Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP
Chartered Accountants
Firm’s registration number: 117366W/W-100018

et

Nilesh Shah
Partner
Membership number: 49660

b~

Place: Mumbai
Date: 2o JN MNE 2o

for and on behalf of the Governing Board of
K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP
(as Manager of the Mindspace Business Il'a rks REIT)

avi C. Raheja
Member
DIN: 00028044

e
Vinod N. Rohira

Chief Executive Gfficer
DIN: 00460667

DINY 00029010

Precti N. Chheda

DIN: 08066703

Place: Mumbai

Date : 20 JUN 2020

/MU ey

Chief Financial Officer
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Statement of profit and loss for the period from November 18, 2019 to March 31, 2020

(Al amounts in Rs. Million unless otherwise stated}

Particulars Notes For the period from
November 18, 2019 o
March 31, 2020

(I} Income and gains

(I1) Total income

{11I) Expenses

Other expenses
{T¥) Total expenses

(V) Loss before tax

48.86

48.86

(48.80)

(V1) Tax expenses
Current tax
Deferred tax -

(V1) Loss for the year (48.806)

{VIII) Other comprehensive income

(i) NMems that will not be reclassified to Profit & Loss -
(i) Items that will be reclassified to Profit & Loss 5

(IX) Total comprehensive income for the year {48.86)

Earning per unit (EI'U) 10

See the accompanying notes to the financial stalements. {-14

In terms ol our report attached.

For Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP for and on behalf of the Governing Board of
Chartered Accountants K Raleju Corp Investment Managers LLP

W (#ns Manager of the Mindspace Business Parks REIT)

N

\ \) )
"
=g

\ o
A
Nilesh Shah Nedl Rahejn
Partner Member
DIN; 00029010
/ /u,z,ua M U&J-‘-J—"/L
Yinod N, Rohira Preeti N, Chheda
Chief Executive Qfficer Chief Financial Officer
DIN: 00460667 DIN: 08066703
Place: Mumbai Place: Mumbai

Dite: 2 T AC s 0

Date: 20 JUN 2020
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Statement of changes in equity for the year ended March 31, 2020

(Alf amounts in Rs. Million unless otherwise stated}

{A) Other Equity

Particulars Reserves and surplus Total Equity
Retained earning

Opening balance - -

Loss for the period (48.86) {48.86)

Other comprehensive income for the year - -

Balance at March 31, 2020 {48.80) {48.86)

In terms of our report of even date atiached.

For Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP
Chartered Accountants

Firm’'s registration number: 117366W/W-100018

ﬂVzWV

Nitesh Shah
Partner
Membership number: 49660

per

Place: Mumbai
Dale: 2.0 JIM EeTe20

for and on behalf of the Governing Board of
K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLI
(as Manager of the Mindspace Business Parks REIT)

U~

avi C. Raheja 100 ¥Yinod N, Rohira

Member Chief Executive Officer
DIN: (0028044 DIN: Q0A29010 DIN; 00460667
[l M htirot—

Preeti N, Chheda

Chief Financial Officer

DIN: 08066703

Place: Mumbai

Date : z 0 JUN ZUZU
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Statement of Cash Flow for the vear ended March 31, 2020

(A amounts in Ry, Mitlion unless otherwise stated)
Particulars For the year ended
March 31, 2020

A, |Cash flow from operating activities
Loss as per statement of profit & loss (48.86)

Operating loss before working capital changes (48.86)

Changes in working capital
Increase in other financial liabilities 48.86
Net Cash from/(used in) operating activities -

B. |[Cash flow from investing activitics .
Net Cash from /(used in) investing activities

C. |Cash flow from financing activitics

Proceeds received 0.01
Net Cash from/(used in) financing activities 0.01
Net increase/(decrease) in cash or cash equivalents (A+B+C) 0.01

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period .

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period .01

1 The above Statement of Cash Flow has been prepared under the Indirect Method’ as set out in the Ind AS 7 - Statement of Cash
Flows.
See the accompanying notes to the special purpose interim financial statements.
In terms of our veport of even date attached.

For Deloitic Haskins & Sells LLP for and on behalf of the Governing Beard of
Chartered Accountants K Raheja Corp Investment Mannagers LLP
Firm's registration number: 117366W/W-100018 (as Mapdfer of the Mindspace Business Parks REIT)

I

Nilesh Shah

Partner Ravi C. Raheja Yinod N. Rohira
Membership number: 49664 Member Chief Executive Qfficer
e DIN: 00028044 DIN: 00460667

[ b p bt

Preeti N. Chheda

Chief Financial Officer

DIN: 08066703
Place: Mumbai Place: Mumbai

Dae: 2o FJPE Lo~ Dae: 70 JUN 2020




MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS REIT
RN:IN/REI'T/19-20/003

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2020

Trust background

Mindspace Bustness Parks REIT (" Mindspace REIT' or 'the Trust '} was registered in India on November 18, 2019, The
Trust's registered office and principal place of business address is at Plot No. C-30, Block 'G', Opp. SIDBI, Bandra Kurla
Complex, Bandra (East), Mumbai, INIMA.

The objectives of Mindspace Business Parks REIT are to undertake activities in accordance with the provisions of the
SEBI REIT Regulations and the Trust Deed. The principal activity of Mindspace Business Parks RE!T is to own and
invest in rent or income generating real estale and related assets in India with the objective of producing stable and
suslainable distributions to Unit holders.

Basis of preparation

a} These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards (IndAS) as per the
Companies {Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015,

) These financial stalements were authorised for issue in accordance with the resolution passed by the Governing Board

of the Investment Manager on _2_ _g_:;U_N ZUZU
Significant accounting policies

a) Functional and Presentation Currency
These financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees, which is also the Trust’s functional currency and the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the Frust operates. All financial information presented in
Indian Rupees has been rounded off to the nearest million except otherwise stated.

b} Basis of measurement
These financial statements are on the hislorical cost basis, except for certain financial assets and liabilitics (refer

accounting policy regarding lnancial instrument) measured at fair values;

¢} Use of judgments and estimates
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with generally aceepled accounting principles in India (Ind
AS) tequires management o make estimates and assumptions that affect the reporied amounts ol assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Estimated and underlying assumptions are reviewed on a periodic basis. Revisions (¢ accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimales are vevised and in any luture periods affected.

&) Current versus non-current elassification
The Trust presents asscts and liabilities in the Balance Sheet based on current/ non-current classification:

An asset is treated as current when it is:

- Lixpeeted 1o be reatised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle;

- Held primarily lor the purpose of trading;

- Expected to be realised within twelve months afier the reporting date; or

- Cash or cash equivalent unless it is restricted from being exchanged or used to selile a Hability for at Jeast twelve

months afler the reporting date.

CHARTERRD

CCOUNTAN




MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS REIT
RN:IN/REIT/19-20/003

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2020

All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is current when:

- 1l is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle;

- I is held primarily for the purpose of trading;

- It is due to be setlled within iwelve months afier the reporting date; or

- There is ne unconditional right to defer the scitlement of the liability for at least twelve months afier the reporting
period.

The Trust classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.
The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation in cash and cash
equivalenis, The Trust has identified twelve months as its operating cycle.

¢} Measarement of fair values
The Trusts accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both financial and non-
financial assets and liabilities. The Trust has an established control framewortk with respect to the measurement of fair
values,
They regularly review significant uncbservable inputs and valuation adjustments. If third party information is used lo
measure fait values then the finance team assesses the evidence oblained from the third parties to supporl the
conclusion that such valualions meet the requirements of Ind AS, including the level in the fair value hierarchy in
which such valuvations should be classifted.
When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liabilily, the Trust uses observable markel data as iar as pessible. Fair
values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on (he inputs used in the valuation
techniques as follows:

» Level I: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that entity can access on
measurement date,

+ Level 2; inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
direcily {i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

+ Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data {unobservable inputs).

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall inte different levels of the fair value hierarchy,
ihen the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest
level input that is significant 10 the entire measurement.

3.1 Tax expense
Income tax expense comprises current 1ax and deferred tax charge or credit, I is recognised in the Sialement of’ Profit and
Loss exeept 10 the extent that it relales (o an ilem recognised direetly in equity or in other eomprehensive income in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

a} Current tax
Current tax comprises the expected fax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and any
adjustment to the Lax payable or receivable in respect of previous years, The amount of current tax retlects the best
estimate of the tax amount expecied 1o be paid or received after considering the uncertainty, if any, related to income
taxes. [ is measured using tax rates (and tax laws} enacied or substantively enacted by end of reporting period.




MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS REIT
RN:IN/REFT/19-20/003

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2020

b} Deferred tax
Deferred tax assel/ liabilily is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the Financial Statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred {ax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively

enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets refleets the tax consequences that would {ollow from the
manner in which the Trust expects, at the end of the reporting period, 1o recover oc seille the carrying amount of its
assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognized for all deductible temporary differences lo the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such deferred 1ax assels and Habilitics are not
recognized if the temporary difference arises from he initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of
assels and liabilities in a transaction that alfects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting prolit.

‘The casrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed al the end ol each reporting period and reduced (o the extent
that it is no longer probable that sulficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the assel to be

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset il there is a legally enforceable right to ofTset curtent tax liabilities and
assets, and they relate 1o income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax
entities, but they intend to seftle current tax liabilities and assels on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be
realized simulianeously.

3.2 Provisions, contingent lahilities and contingent assets

Provisions are recognised when the Trust has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is
ptobable that the Trust will be required to settle the obligation, and a t¢liable estimate can be made of the amount of the
abligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate ol the consideralion required to setlle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, laking into account the risks and uncertainties surroundling the obligation.
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised
as finance cost.

Contingent liabilities are disclosed when there is a possible obligation or a present obligation that may, but will probably
nol, require an outflow of resources. When there is a possible obligation of a present obligation in respect of which the
likelihood of owtflow of resources is remote, no provision or disclosure is made.

A contingent asset is disclosed when there would be a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will
be confirmed only by the occusrence or non-occurtence of one or more unceriain fulure events not wholly within the
control of the Trust,

Provisions, Contingent V.iabilitics and Contingent Assets are reviewed at each Balance Sheet date and adjusted to reflect
the current best estimales,




MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS REIT
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Notes to the Financind Statements Tor the yesr ended March 31, 2020

3.3 Financial inscroments
I loitial vecognition and measurement
Finaneial assets and/or (inancial liabililies are recognised when the Trust becomes parly 1o u contract embodying the
related financial insteuments. All financial assels, Binancial liabilitics are initially measured i air value, Transaclion
costs that are attribulable o the acquisition or ssue of financial assets and lnancial liabilities (other than financia
assets and financial liabilities al fair value through profit or loss) are added to ot deducied from as the case may be, the
fair value of such assets or liabilities, on initial recognition. ‘Transaction costs direclly attributable to the ycquisition of
finuncial assets or financial liabilitics at Fair value theough profil or loss are recognised immediately in the Statement

of Profit and Loss.

2 Financial assets:

a) Classification of financial assets:

(D

(i}

(iii}
(iv)

The Trust ¢lassifies its financial assets in the following measuremenl categories:
- those 1o be measured subsequently al fair value (either through other comprehensive income, or throogh (he
Staiemeni of Profit and Loss), and

- those measuted at amortised cost.
The classification is done depending upon the Trust business model for managing the financial assels and the

contractual lerms of the cash flows.
For investments in debt instruments, this will depend on the business model in which the investment is held.

The Trusi reclassifies debt investments when and only when ils business model for managing those assels
changes.

b) Subsequent Measurement

0]

Debt instruments:

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Trusts business moded for managing the asset and
the eash Mow elaracieristics of the asset, There are three measurement categories inte which the Trust classifies
its debt instruments:

Financial assets al amortised cost

Financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost if these financial assets are held within @ business
whose objective is (o hold these assels in order 1o collect contraciual cash fows and the contractual terms of the
financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and intercst on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial asscts at faiv value through ether comprehensive income (FYTOCH)

Financial asseis are subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if thesc financial
assels are held within a business whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows that give
rise on specilied dales 10 solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding and by

selling financial assets.

Financial assets at Tair value through the Statement of Profit and Loss (FYTPL})

Financial assels are subscquently measured at fair value through the Statement of Profit and Loss unless it is
measured al amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income on initial recognitien. The
transaction costs directly atiributable to the acquisilion of (inancial assets and liabilities at fair value through
prefit or loss are immediately recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

¢} Derccognition of financial assets:
A tinancial asset is primarily derecognised when:

(i)
(i)

the right lo receive cash {lows from the asset has expired, or

the Trust has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset; and

the Trust hag transferred substantislly all the risks and rewards of the assel. or

ihe Trust has neither tansferred nor relained substontially all the risks and rewards ol the asset, but has
trunsferred control of the assel.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2020

3.4

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety (other than investments in equity insttuments at FVOCT), the
ditferences belween the carrying amounts measured at the date of derecognition and the consideration received is
recognised in Statement of Profit and Loss. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained
by the Trust is recognised as a separale assel or liability,

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

(4} Classification as debl or equity

Financial liabilities and equily instruments issued by the Trust are classified according to the substance of the
contraciual arrangements entered into and the definitions ol a financial liability and an equity instrument,

Finnncinl Liabilities

Recognition, measurement and classifieation
Financial fiabilities are clossified s either held at a) fair value through the Statement of Profit and Loss, or b) al
amortised cost. Management determings the classification of its inancial linbilities a1 the time of initial recognition or,
where applicable, at the (ime of reclassification.

The Trust's financial libilities include trade and olher payables, loans and borrowings and derivative financial
instruments. Subsequent measurement of financial liabilitics depends on their classification as fair value through the
Statement of Profit and Loss or at amortised cost, All changes in fair value of linancial liabilities classified as FVTPL
are recognised in the  Stalement of Profit and Loss. Amortised cost category is applicable to loans and borrowings,
trade and other payables. After initial recognition the financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the

Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged ot cancelled or expires. Gains
and losses are recognised in the  Statement of Profit and Loss when the liabilities are derecognised.

Offsctting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabililics are offset and presented on net basis in the Balance Sheet when there is a
currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention either to settle on a net basis
or to realise the assets and settle ibe liabilities simultancously.

3.5 Cash and cash equivalents

36

Cash and cash equivalents comprises ol cash ai bank.

Statement of Cash flow

Cash Now is reported using the indireet method, whereby net profit before lax is adjusted for the effects of transactions of
a non-cash nature snd any deferrals or accruals of past or {uture cash receipts or payments, The cush flows from operating,
investing und linancing activitics of the Trust are segregaled.

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flow, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposils, as
defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafis as they arc considered an integral part of the Trust’s cash management.
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Notes to the Financlal $tatements for the year ended March 31, 2020

3.7

33

Subsequent events

The Tinancial Statements are adjusted to refleci events that occur afler the reporting date but before the Financial
Statements are issued. The Financial Statements have their own date of authorisation, which differs fromn that of the
financial statements of the combining entities. Therefore, when preparing the Financial Statements, management considers
events up to the date of authorisation of these financial statements (i¢. including those that occurred after the

authorisation date of the financial statements).

Errors and estimates
The Trust revises its accounting policies if the change is required due to a change in Ind AS or if the change will provide
more relevant and reliable information to the users of the Financial Statement. Changes in accounting policies are applied

retrospectively.

A change in an accounting estimate that results in changes in the carrying amounts of recognised assets or liabilities or 1o
profit or loss is applied prospectively in the period(s} of change.

Discovery of ertors results in revisions retrospectively by restating the comparative amounts of assets, liabilities and
equity of the earliest prior period in which the error is discovered. The opening balances of the earliest period presented
are also restated.




MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS REI'T

2, Notes to linancial statements as ot March 31, 2020

(AL comounts (e Rs. Million wiless gtherwise stated)

Notes Particulars Asat
Mavch 31, 2020
Rs,
4 Cash & Cash Equivalents
Balance with bank in Cyrrent Account 0.01
0.0
5 Other Equity
Retained earnings
Opening balance =
Loss for the year (48.86)
Balance as at March 31, 2020 (48.86)
6 Other financial liabilities
Other liabilities {refer note 8) 48.86
48.86




MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS REI'T

2. Notes to the financial statements as at March 31, 2020

(ALl amounts in Rs. Million unless otherwise stated)

Notes Particulars For the period from
November 18, 2019 1o
March 31, 2020
7 Other expenses
Royalty charges 7.70
Legal, professional and other fees (refer note 7.1} 24,95
Filing and stamping fees 14.93
Payment to auditors (refer note 7.1} 0.71
Travelling expenses 0.57
48.86
7.1 Payment to auditors (including goods and services tax)

As auditor
- for statutory audit 0.36
- for other services 0.35
0.71

Note:

Legal, professional and other fees includes amount of Rs. 14.40 million for professional services
rendered by auditor in connection with the proposed initial public offering of the units of the Trust,
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Notes lo e financinl statements a8 ot March 31, 2020
(AN amaonets in Rs. Miflion unless otherwise siated)

8 Related party disclosares
A. Pariles to Mindspace REIT (vefer note Lelow)

Particulars Name of Enlities Fromoters/Pariners Direciurs

Trustee Axis Trosiee Services Limited - 4

Mr. Ravi C. Raheja
i, Neel C Raleja
M1, Chandm L. Raheja
Mrs. Jyoti C. Rubeja

Anbee Constructions LLP

e Mr, Ravi C. Raheja
T Mr. Neel C. Raheja
Cape Trading LLP Mr. Chandrn L. Raheja
Mrs. Jyoti C.Raheja -
Mr. Ravi C. Raheja
Manager K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP  [Mr. Neel C. Raheja
Sponsors Group Mr._Chandru |.. Raheja - -

Me. Ravi C. Raheja - -

. Neel C Raheja - - = I
Mis. Jyoti C. Raheja - 3

Mr. Ravi C. Raheja
Mr. Negl C. Raheja
Mr. Chandiu L. Raheja
Mrs. Jyoti C. Raheja

Capstan Trading LLP

Mr. Ravi C. Raheja
Mr. Negl C, Raheja
Mr. Cliandru L. Raheja
Mus. Jyoli C. Raheja

Casa Maria Properties LLP

Mr. Ravi C. Raheja
Mr. Neel C. Raheja
Mr. Chandru L. Raheja
Mrs. Jvati £. Rabeia

Raghukool Estate Developement LLP

Mr. Ravi C. Rahegja
Mr. Neel C, Raheja
Mr. Chandsu L, Raheja
Mrs. Jvoli C. Rahein

Palm Sheher Cstale Developmen LLP

Mr. Chandru L. Raheja Jointly with
Mrs. Jyoti C. Raheja

Mus. Jyoti C. Raheja Jointly with
M. Chandru L. Raheja

Mr. Ravi C. Rahgja Jointly with
Mr. Chandru L. Raheja Jointly with
Mus. Jyorl C. Raheia

Ravi C. Raheja

) Mr. Neel C. Raligja Jointly with Neel C. Raheja
K. Raheja Corp Pvt. Ltd Mr. Chandru L. Raheja Jointly with Ramesh Valef:ha
Mes. Jyoti C. Raheja Vinod Rohira

Anbee Constroctions LLP

Cape Trading L1.P

Capstan Trading LLP

Casa Maria Properiies LLP

Raghukool Estate Developement LLP
Palin Shelier Estate Developinenl LLP
Me. Neel C. Raheja Jointly with

Mr, Ramesh M. Valecha
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Motes 1o the financial statements as al March 31, 2020
FAH cmonenon e RS Miflion nefess offierwise seated)

8 Relaied party disclosures

A. Parties to Mindspace REIT (refer nole below)

Particulars

Mame of Enfilies

Promoters/Pavtners

Divectors

(nonbit Malls (India) Private Limited

Me. Chandny L. Raheja Jointly with
Mes. Jyoti C. Raheja

Mes, Jyoti C. Raheja Jointly with
it Chandim L. Raheja

Mr. Ravi C. Ralieja Jointly with
Mr. Chandru L. Raheja Join(ly with
Mrs. Jyoti C. Rabeja

M1, Nee! C. Raheja Jointly with
Mr. Chandru 1. Rahejn Jointly with
Mis, Jyoti C. Raheja

Anbee Constructions LLP

Cape rading LLP

Capstan Trading LLIY

Casn Maria Properties LLP
Raghukool Esiate Developemem LLP
Palm Shelter Estate Development LILP
Mr, Neel C. Raheja Jointdy with

Mr. Ramesh M. Valecha

lvory Propertics & |lotels Pvt Lid

K Raheja Corp Privare Limited

Ravi ¢ Raligjn
HMeel C. Raheja
Sunil Hingorani
Kishore Hhatija

Ivary Properties and Hotels Privare Limited

M. Chandru .. Rahgja Jointly with
s, Jyoti C. Raheja

whis Iyots C. Raheja Jointly with
Mr. Chandru |.. Raheja

Mr. Ravi C. Rabeja Jointly with
Mr. Chandiu L. Raheja Jointly with
Mis Jyoli C Rahejs

tr. Neel C. Raheja Jointly with
tr. Chandru 1. Raheja Jointly with
Mis, Jyoli C, Raheja

Anbee Conslruclions LLP

Cape Trading LLP

Capstan Trading LLP

Casa Maria Properies LLP
Raghukool Estale Developement LLP
12alm Shelier [siate Development LLP

Ravi C, Raheja
Neel €, Raheja
Sunil Hingorani
Ramesh Yalecha

Chaler Hoels Limited

Mr. Ravi C. Raheja

My, Neel C Rabeja

Anbee Constructions LLP

Cape Trading LLP

Capstan Teading LLP

Casa Maria Properries LLP
Raghukoo! Estate Developement LLI

K Raheja Corp Private Limited

K Rabeja Piivate Limited

Ivory Properties & HMowels Pyt Lad
Touchsione Properties and Hotes Pyt Lid
Genext Hardware and Parks Privale Limited
Ivory Properties and Hotels Pyt Lid (for and
on behalf of Bencficiaties of [vory Properiy
Tensid

Ravi C. Raheja

Meel O Rabeja

Jogeph Conrad Dsonza
Helal Gandbi

Rajeav MNewar

Sanjay Sethi

Radhika Picamal

Arthur William De Haast

Ivory Propenty Trust

Chandru ). Rahgja

Jyoli C. Raleja

Ivory Properties & Helels Pyt Lad
Ravi C Rahegja

MNeel C. Raheja

(all are Irusleesy
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Niies to the finuncial stalements as wt March 31, 2020
A commomnis i B Mitlion nedesy otfierwise sied)

§ Relaled porty diaclosures
A. Parties to Mindspace REIT (refer nete below)

Particulars Name of Entities PFromoters/Pariners Direclors
Mr. Ravi C. Raheja Jointly with
Mr. Chandru L. Rahgja Jointly with
Mus. Jyori C. Ralieja

Genext Hardware & Parks Pvt. Lud, Mr. Nee! C. Raheja Jointly with
Mr. Chandru L. Raheja Jointly with
Mrs. Jyoti C. Raheja Ravi C. Rahejn
Chandru L. Raheja jointly with Jyoti C Meel C. Raheja
Raheja on behalf of Ivory Property Trust Ramesh Valecha

Mr. Chandru L. Raheja tointly with
Mrs. Jyoli C. Raheja

Mrs. Jyoli C. Raligja Joimly with
Mt Chandru L. Raheja

Mr. Ravi C. Raheja Jointly with
Mr. Chandzu L, Raheja Joinlly with
Mrs. Jyoli C. Raheja

Ravi C. Rahgja
K Raheja Private Limited Mr. Meel C. Raheja Jointly wilh Neel C. Raheja
Mr. Cliandru L, Rabeja Jointly with Vinod Rohita
Mrs. Jyori T Raheja

Anbee Consliuctions LLP

Cape Trading LLP

Capslan Trading LLP

Casa Maria Propesties LLP

Raghukool Estate Developement LLP
Palm Shelier Estate Development LLP

Ofhers Bobby Parikh Asscciptes = S

Mede :ldentificd by the Management and as legally advised, on the basis of eviterin specified In Regulation A2H)E) of Securities and Exchange
Board of India {Renl Estnte lovestment Trust) Regulations, 2014, as amended and the circulars and guidance issued thercunder. It also includes
party a5 per under IndAS 24,

Note 2: Chalet Hotels Limited upon sale of shares of Intime Properties is no longer a part of the Sponsor group and therefore not a relaled party as
on Mareh 31, 2020

Note 3: Kishore Bhasija has resigned frons the directorship of lnrobit Malls (India) Private Limited w.c.f, Devember 31, pitl kg
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Notes to the financial statements as at March 31, 2020
(Aft amounts in Rs. Million unless otherwise stuted)

8

10

Related party disclosures (Contirted)

B Transaction with related parties during the period:

The nature and volume of transactions of the Trust with the above related parties were as follows:

Other payables

March 31, 2020

Manager LLP *

Nature of transaction Name of related party Total

Royally charges March 31, 2020 Anbee Constructions LL.P 0.94

Royalty charges March 31, 2020 Cape Trading LLP 0.94

Royally charges March 31, 2020 Mindspace Business Parks 1.48
Pvt Lid

Royalty charges March 31, 2020 Ivoty Properties & Hotels Pvt 1.42
Ltd

Royalty charges March 31, 2020 K. Raheja Pvt Ltd 1.30

Royaity charges March 31, 2020 K. Raheja Corp Pvt Ltd 1.62

Corpus March 31, 2020 Anbee Conpstructions LLP 0.01

Corpus March 31, 2020 Cape Trading LLP o.M

Legal, Professional and other fees  [March 31, 2020 K. Raheja Corp Investment 2495
Manager LLP *

Filing and stamping fees March 31, 2020 K. Raheja Corp Investment 14.94
Manager LLP

Statulory audit fees March 31, 2020 K. Raheja Corp Invesiment 0.71
Manager LLP

Travelling expenscs March 31, 2020 K. Raheja Corp Investment 0.57
Manager LLP

C Balance with related party al the end of the year

Nature of transaction Name of related party Total

K. Raheja Corp Investment 48.86

* 1t includes reimbursement of professional services of Rs. 1 million payable to M/s. Bobby Parikh Associates.

Operating segments

During the period under review, the Trust had incurred issue expenses and had no other activity. Hence, thete are

no segments for reporting as defined by Indian Accounting Standard 108 on "Operaling segments".

Earning per unit (EPU)

Presently, the ‘I'tust has nol issued units. Hence, the disclosure in respect ol earning per unit is not presented.
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Notes to the financial statements as at March 31, 2020

(Al amonnts in Rs. Million unless otherwise stated)

11 Financial instruments — Fair values and risk management

A Accounting classification and fair values
The following table shows the cariying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including
their levels in the fair value hierarchy. Tt does not include fair valve information for financial assets and financial
liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a rcasonable approximation of fair value

Carrying amount
March 31, 2020 Note FYTPL FVTOCI  Amortised Cost Total
Financial assets measured at
amortised cost

Cash and cash equivalents - - 0.01 0.01
- - 0.01 0.01

Financial liabilities measured

at amortised cost

Other financial liabilities - - 48.86 48.86
- - 48.86 48.86

B. Financial visk management

The Trust has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:
i} Credit risk ;

ii) Liquidity risk ; and

iii} Market risk

i) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Trust il a counterparly to a financial instrument fails to meet its
contractuwal obligations. There are no invesiments m ade 1ill March 31, 2020 and hence there are no credil risk.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Trust holds cash and cash equivalents with credit worthy Bank. The credit worthiness of the such bank is
evaluated by management on an ongoing basis and is considered to be good.

The "Trust does not have {inancial assets that are past due,




MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS REIT
RN:IN/REIT/19-20/003
Notes to the financial statements as at March 31, 2020
(At amounis in Rs. Mitlion unless otherwise stated)
Financial instruments — Fair values and risk management (Continued)
B.  Financial visk management (Continued}
ii} Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Trust will not be able to mect its financial obligations as they become due. The Trust manages
jts liquidity risk by ensuring, as {ar as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity o meet its liabilitics when due, undet
both normal and steessed conditions. without incurting unaceeplable losses or risk 10 Lhe Trust’s reputation.
The Trust has access to funds as per REIT Regulations.

Exposure to liquidity risk
“The table below analyses the Trust's financial liabilitics into relevant maturing grouping based on their contractual maturilies:

Contractual cash flows
March 31, 2020 1yearor  1-2 years 2-5years  More than 5 years Total Carrying
less amount

Financial habilities

Non interest bearing
Other liabilitics 48.86 - - - 48.86 48.86
48.80 - - - 48.86 48.86

iii} Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices — such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices — will affect
the Trust’s income or the value of its holdings of financial insiruments. The Trust is domiciled in India and has its revenues and
other tyansactions in its functional currency i.e. Rupees. Accordingty the Trust is not exposed to any currency risk. Also the Trust
does not hold any equity invesiments, accordingly the Trust is not exposed to any equity price risk.

Interest rate risk
Interest raie risk is the risk that the [air value or luture cash flows of a financial instrument will flucluate because of changes in
markel interest rates. The Trust is not exposed to interest rate risk as defined in IND AS [07.
¢, Capital Management
T'he Trust’s objeclives when managing capital are:
a. 1o ensure Trust's ability to continue as a going coneern.
b. 10 provide adequate return 1o unitholders.

Management assesses the capital requirements in order to maintain an efficient overall financing structure. The Trust manages
the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and risk charactertics of the
underlying assets. Trust will pay these liabilities to the Manager LLP from the proceeds of the REIT offering and / or from the

distributions made by the SPVs to the Trust.
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Notes to the financial statements as at March 31, 2020
(All amounts in Rs. Million unless otherwise staied)

12 Micro, small and medivm enterprises
As per the information available with the Trust, there are no Micro and Small Enterprises, as defined in the Micro,

Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006, to whom the Trust owes dues on account of principal
amount together with interest and accordingly no additional disclosures has been made. This information
regarding Micro and Small enterprises have been determined to the extent such parties have been identified on
the basis of information available with the Trust. This has been relied upon by the Auditors.

13 Subsequent events

There are no significant subsequent events that would requie adjustments or disclosures in the financial statements

as on the balance sheet date,

14 The financial statements have been prepared for the period from November 18, 2019 being the date of registration
to March 31, 2020. This being the first accounting period of the Trust, there are no corvesponding figures for the

previous year.

for and on behalf of the Governing Board of
K Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP
(as Manager of the Mindspace Business Parks REIT)

N L\/
\\) -
Vinod N. Rohira
Chief Executive Officer

DIN: 00460667

Member
DIN: 00028044

Preeti N. Chheda
Chief Financial Officer
DIN: 08066703

Place: Mumbai

Date : 2 u JUN mzu
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Haskins & SellsLLP CTS No.185/A JayCoach
Off Western Express Highway
Goregaon (East)
Mumbai - 400 063
Maharashtra, India

Tel: +91 22 6245 1000

Fax: +91 22 6245 1001
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON SPECIAL PURPOSE CONDENSED COMBINED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS GROUP

To

The Governing Board,

K. Raheja Corp Investment Managers LLP (the “Investment Manager”) in its capacity as an
Investment Manager of the Mindspace Business Parks REIT (the “Issuer” or the Trust™)
Raheja Tower, Plot No. C-30, Block 'G’,

Bandra Kurla Comptex, Bandra (E),

Mumbai - 400 051

Report on the Audit of the Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial Statements
of the Mindspace Business Parks Group

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying Special Purpose Condensed Combined financial statements of
Mindspace Business Parks Real Estate Investment Trust ('the Trust’) and its proposed trust
subsidiaries Avacado Properties and Trading (India) Private Limited ('Avacado), Gigaplex Estate
Private Limited ('Gigaplex), Horizonview Properties Private Limited {'Horizonview’), Intime
Properties Limited ('Intime'), KRC Infrastructure and Projects Private Limited ('KRC Infra'), K.
Raheja IT Park (Hyderabad) Limited ('KRIT'), Mindspace Business Parks Private Limited ("MBPPL")
and Sundew Properties Limited ("Sundew'}) (collectively, the “Mindspace Business Parks Group” or
the "SPVs”) as described in Note 1 of the Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial
Statements, which comprise the Condensed Combined Balance Sheets as at March 31, 2020,
March 31, 2019 and March 31, 2018, the Condensed Combined Statement of Profit and Loss
{including other comprehensive income), the Condensed Combined Statement of Changes in
Equity and the Condensed Combined Statement of Cash Flows for the years ended March 31,
2020, March 31, 2019 and March 31, 2018 and notes to the Special Purpose Condensed Combined
Financial Statements, and including a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information (together referred to as the Special Purpose Condensed Combined
Financial Statements).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us,
the aforesaid Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial Statements give a true and fair view
in accordance with the basis of preparation set out in Note 2 to the Special Purpose Condensed
Combined Financial Statements, of the state of affairs of the Mindspace Business Parks Group as
at March 31, 2020, March 31, 2019 and March 31, 2018 and of its profit {including other
comprehensive income), its changes in equity, and its cash flows for the years ended March 31,
2020, March 31, 2019 and March 31, 2018.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit of the Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial Statements in
accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) and other pronouncements issued by the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI). Our responsibilities under those Standards are
further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the audit of the Special Purpose Condensed
Combined Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Mindspace

&2

Regd. Office: Indiabulis Finance Centre, Tower 3, 27" - 32™ Floor, Senapati Bapat Marg, Elphinstone Road (West), Mumbai - 400 013, Maharashtra, Indla.
{LLP Identification No. AAB-8737)

&¢



I S S

Deloitte
Haskins & SelisLLP

Business Parks Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the ICAI together with the
independence requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements under the
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 (the “Act”) and the Rules made thereunder, and we have
fulfilled our other responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics.
We believe that the audit evidence obtained by us, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion on the Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial
Statements.

Emphasis of Matters

(i) Basis of Accounting and Restriction on Use

We draw attention to Note 2 to the Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial
Statements, which describes the purpose and basis of preparation. The Special Purpose
Condensed Combined Financial Statements have been prepared by the Investment
Manager to meet the requirements of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Real
Estate Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended and the circulars and
guidance issued thereunder (the "REIT Regulations”) and for inclusion in the draft offer
document, the offer document and the final offer document (collectively, the “Offer
Documents”) prepared by the Investment Manager in connection with the proposed
initial public offering of the units of the Trust. As a result, the Special Purpose
Condensed Combined Financial Statements may not be suitable for another purpose.
Our report is intended solely for the purpose of inclusion in Offer Documents and is not
to be used, referred to or distributed for any other purpose without our prior written
consent.

(ii) We draw attention to Note 6 to the Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial
Statements, which states that the Management has revised the method of depreciation
on certain assets and increased the useful life of constructed buildings from 60 years
to 75 vyears, Plant and Machinery, Electrical installation and Infrastructure &
Development assets from 10 years to 15 years and Roadwork assets from 5 to 15 years
with effect from April 1, 2019 for the reasons explained in the note. This change has
resulted into depreciation for the year ended 31 March 2020 to be lower by Rs. 1,124
millions.

(iii) We draw attention to Note 45 to the Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial
Statements regarding freehold land and building thereon (Paradigm, Malad) held by
Avacado which is presently under litigation. Pending the outcome of proceedings and a
final closure of the matter, no adjustments have been made in the Special Purpose
Condensed Combined Financial Statements for the years ended March 31, 2020, March
31, 2019 and March 31, 2018.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of these matters.

Management’'s Responsibility for the Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial
Statements

The Governing Board of the Investment Manager is responsible for the preparation and
presentation of these Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial Statements that give a true
and fair view of the financial position, financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of
the Mindspace Business Parks Group in accordance with the basis of preparation as set out in Note
2 to the Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial Statements for the purpose set out in
“Emphasis of Matter - Basis of Accounting and Restriction on Use” paragraph above.

L2
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The respective Board of Directors of the companies (‘the SPVs’) included in the Mindspace
Business Parks Group are responsible for maintenance of adequate accounting records in
accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Mindspace Business
Parks Group and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and
application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are
reaschable and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal
financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of
the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the Special Purpose
Condensed Combined Financial Statements that give a true and fair view and are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of
preparation of the Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial Statements by the Governing
Board of the Investment Manager, as aforesaid.

In preparing the Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial Statements, the Governing Board
of the Investment Manager is responsible for assessing the Mindspace Business Parks Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate
the Mindspace Business Parks Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to
do so.

The Governing Board of the Investment Manager and trustees of the Trust are also responsible
for overseeing the Mindspace Business Parks Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Special Purpose Candensed Combined
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Special Purpose Condensed
Combined Financial Statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs
and other pronouncements issued by ICAI will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial Statements.

As part of our audit in accordance with SAs and other proncuncements issued by ICAI, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Special Purpose Condensed
Combined Financial Statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinicn. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
invalve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control,

+ Obtain an understanding of internal financial control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Mindspace Business Parks Group’s internal financial coentrol.

s+ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by Governing Board of Investment Manager for the
Mindspace Business Parks Group.
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« Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Mindspace Business
Parks Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial Statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Qur conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report, However, future events or conditions may cause the
Mindspace Business Parks Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

+ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Special Purpose Condensed
Combined Financial Statements, including the disclosures, and whether the Special Purpose
Condensed Combined Financial Statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the Special Purpose Condensed Combined
Financial Statements that, individually or in aggregate, makes it probable that the economic
decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable user of the Special Purpose Condensed Combined
Financial Statements may be influenced. We consider quantitative materiality and qualitative
factors in (i) planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work; and
(ii) to evaluate the effect of any identified misstatements in the Special Purpose Condensed
Combined Financial Statements.

We communicate with those charged with governance of the Mindspace Business Parks Group
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
As required by the REIT Regulations, we report that:

a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purpose of our audit;

b) The Condensed Combined Balance Sheets, Condensed Combined Statements of Profit and
Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income), Condensed Combined Cash Flow
Statements and Condensed Combined Statements of Changes in Equity, dealt with by this
Report are in agreement with the books of account maintained for the purpose of
preparation of the Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial Statements;

c) In our opinion, the aforesaid Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial Statements

comply with the basis of preparation as stated in Note 2 to the Special Purpose Condensed
Combined Financial Statements; and

=
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d) In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us (refer to note
1 to the Statement of Total Returns at Fair Value and Statement of Net Assets at Fair
Value), the Special Purpose Condensed Combined Financial Statements give the
disclosures, in accordance with the REIT Regulations, in respect of the Total Returns at fair
value for the year ended March 31, 2020 and the Net assets at fair value as at year ended
March 31, 2020.

For DELOITTE HASKINS & SELLS LLP
Chartered Accountants
(Firm’s Reg. No. 117366W/W-100018)

7 Sad

Nilesh Shah

Partner

(Membership N0.49660)
{UDIN: 20049660AAAAAV9188)

Mumbai
June 20, 2020



MINDSPACE BUSIRESS PARKS GRQUP (AS DEFINED IN NOTE 1)
Coudensed Combined Financisl Statements

Condensed Combined Balance Sheel

{AM nmounts ave In s, millions wnless otherwise stated)

ASSETS
Non-corrent nssels
Property, plant and equipment
Capital work-in-progress
Investment property
Investmenl property under constiection
Intangible assels
Financial aszets

- Investment in subsidiaries

- Investmenis

- Other linancial assets
Deferred lax assets (net)
Non-curicnl Lax asseis (nel}
iher non-curent assats
Total non-current assels

Current assets
Inventories
Financial assets
- T'rade receivables
- Loans
- Cash and cash equivalents
- (Mher bank balances
- (lier financial assels
Other ¢imrent assets
‘Fotal current assets

‘Totul assets before regulatory deferral necount

Repulatory deferral account - assets

Totnl assefs

AS At As at As al
31 Mavch 2020 3 March 2019 31 March 2018

Note
4 1,453 1,218 1,263
5 22 22 22
6 56,710 40,244 39,411
7 17,724 19,059 14,026
3 1 1 2
94 - : 0
9B 18 9 6
10 1,345 1,551 2,555
1 94 116 37
12 2,50 1,892 1,368
13 1,307 1.063 085
81,208 65,175 60,009
14 52 33 21
15 362 301 368
16 21,763 21,600 21,129
174 2,209 275 207
178 352 ass 239
13 5,763 3,939 2418
19 405 247 05
30,906 26,150 24,687
12,114 91,325 84,696
20 110 112 12

112,224 91,437 _ $ams




MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS GROUP {AS DEFINED IN NOTE 1)

Conlensed Combined Fimancial Stabements

Cnail 1 Combined Bul Sheet

(AN aroands are in Rs, millions unless otherwise stuted)
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Asat As at As ot
Note 31 Murch 2020 31 Murch 2014 31 March 2013
EQUITY
Capital 21 500 500 500
Instrinents entirely equity in nalure 22 824 524 824
Other equily 23 19,928 15,810 11,250
Equity attributuble te controlling interest of Mindspace REIT 11,152 17.134 1AM
Non-centrolling interest of Mindspace REIT 54 1,603 1,336 900
Totnl ecquity 2135 18,470 13,573
LIABILITIES
Mon-current linbilies
Financial lisbilities
« Borrowings 24 63,569 56,209 52,555
- Oiher financial liabilities 25 1,997 1491 1,586
Provisious 26 9 g 5
Defterred tax liabilities {net} 27 2788 1,513 1,842
Ouher non-currem Babilities 28 601 378 2,291
Totah non-cureent liabilitics 68,964 59,499 58,270
Curvent Yinbilities
Financial Nabilines
« Borowings 29 XK 1,394 | 586
- Tiade payables 30
- tota] outstanding dues of micro enterprises und small
enterprises 112 71 -
- 1oral onrstanding dues of cruditors oiber than micro
vitenprises and small enterprises T 621 k]|
= Othty Tinuncial liabilides 31 14,751 5,700 ©.864
Pros isivis k¥ 8 | 1]
Other conent liabilities 33 T74 1,572 499
‘Total current linbilitics 20,299 13,359 11,730
Totul equity sl linbilivies before regulatory defevral secount 1.12.178 01,328 84,582
Regulatory defenal account « liabilities 20 46 1 156
“Total equity and labilities 1,12,224 91,437 84,738
Sigaificant acomnnting policies i
See the accowpanying notes to the Condensed Combined Financial
456

Statemeuls

As per our report of even date altached:

For Delniue | lTaskins & Sells LLP for and on behalf of the Governing Board of

Chareed Aceountants _» K Raheja Corp Investimrent Managers LLP
Fiiny's registation nomber: 117366 WAY-100018 /\ (as Nanayer of the M'.|Lls|:|1uL\|g‘m.,m,,-s pml\ﬂwg \/

Vinod M. Rohiry Preeti M. Chheda
Cheef Execitiive {Mfficer ¢ hivf Finencial (fficer
DIN: 004460667 DN 08006703

ilesh Shah Livi C. Raheja
Partiier Member Muniher

Membemship number: 49660 DIN: 00028044 [IN: 00029010
Place: Mumbai

Place: Mumbai lace: Mombai Place: hMumbai

Date:
: Nl To
2O Fun1020 20 Jun2oz0 20 Jum W28 20U Juone

PMace: Mumirai
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MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS GROUP (AS DEFINED IN NCTE 1)
Condesised Combined I ol &

Cond ) Combined St of Profli And Loss

(AN aavounts are ln Ra, middloas wnless ovherwlse staled)

Tweome and gains
Revenue fiom operalions
Oiher income

Taotal Incone

Exprenses and losser

Cosl of work contract services
Cast of malerials sold

Cost of power purchased
Cinployes benefils sxpense
(nher xpenses

‘Toial Expenges

and  smaortlantion,

Enrnings before 0 costs, depr
regulnlory income / expense and fax

Finance cosls
Depreciation and - .

Prodit before vate regulated activilbes and tax

Add : Regulatory income/ (sxpense} {net)
Add : Regulatory income (net} in respect of earller years
Profil before lax

Current tax (including previous year tax ad }

Deforred lax charge

MAT credil entileinent {including previous year tax adjusimenis)
Tax expense

Profit for e year

Profil for the year aliribuiable o non-comrolling imlerests *

Note

4
R

4
42

47

43

Profit for the year suributable (o owners of Mindspace Business Parks Gvowp **

For thwe year ended For the year ended For the yenr ended
31 Mnrch 2020 31 March 2019 31 March 2018
17,660 14,316 12,631
1602 2481 2.1
20,262 16,797 15,022,
2,140 .
3 4 B
683 617 550
68 44 9
1,650 1,618 1,176
6544 4,183 4,773
13,718 12,614 1249
5114 4462 4,688
1,146 2,196 2,054
T A58 %056 3,507
14 10 (e
46 47 3o
7,814 6073 3518
1,080 953 755
1,578 86 1,514
{219 {150} 61y
2379 919 1,908
5139 5,154 [
%2 165 127
4,747 4,789 1,483



MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS GROUF (A5 DEFINED IN NOTE 1)
Conented Combined Flnnncinl §

Comdenses] Combined 5 of Profi And Laosi

(Al aennts are in Bs. milligns anless otherwise s1ated)

MNote For the year ended For the year anded lior the year emded
31 March 2020 3 March 2019 31 Mareh 2018

Qilier comprehensive income

A {iy Ttena thas will not be veclassifed to peofit or losa
- Remnensuroments of defined benelit liability! {nset) [1)] J
(if} lncome 1ax relaibng Lo ahove .

B. (i) Mens dlat widl De recaasified oo profil or loss -
{liy Income 1ax relating to alove

Oiher comprelensive income atsribuialle o non comtrolling
imerests » (U]
CHbver comprehensive inconee atiribam e 1o owiers of Mindspace Business Parks Growp **

m (0} =
Totul comprehensive income for the yenr 5,140 5,154 - Lol
Tolal comprehensive Income for the year attribniable to non
coniralling inferests * 192 kLo 127
Total compreliensive income for the year atiributalle to owners of Mindspace Business Parls
Group *" 4,748 4,789 1483

Earnings per unit S0
Significam sccounting policies

I | Combined Fi sl

See the accompanying uotes to the
Statements 4-56

* This represents the share of profils auribulable (o the shareholders of the SPVs wha have not agreed 1o exchange their shares in the SPVs for Units of Mindspace REIT and will not
t the unitheldeis of Mindspace REIT

#* I'iis repiesents the share of profits sitributable to the shareholders uf the SPVs who have sgreed to exchenge heir shares  the 8PVs for Units of Mindspaee REIT ond are
d Lo the unitholders of Mindsy REIT

As per oul teporl of even date atuched

For Deloitte Laskins & Sells LLP for and on belalf of the Govening Board of
Chariered Accountants K Raheja Corp Invesiment Majiigers LLe
Firn's regsteation number: 11 TI66W/W-100018 For of the Minddpgice Bily m-n.l'.uw . \.// a
P |
s’ }7 S M AN St
¥/ . \

lilesh Shah \ avi € Raheja " Raheja Vinod N Rohira Preefi N Chleda
Partner Member Chief Exeontive Offfeer  Chigf Financial (fficer
Kembership number: 49660 DIN: 00028044 IN: 00029010 DIN: 00460667 DIN: 08066703
Place: Mumbai Place: Mumbai Place: Mumbai Ploce: Mumbai Place: Mumbai
Date: QO TV rLorto Date: [

VN 20 Junteto b JFyn oo o Juntpe Jun oo



MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS GROUP {AS DEFINED INNOTE 1)

Condemied Combined Finunclal Siatements
Condenaed Com bined Sintoniont of Cazh Flow
(AN amounis sve in Rz milllows weless olherwise slated}

A Cash Nows (rom opornling aclivilies

Profit before tax

Adjustmenis for;

Deprecintion and aniortisation exp

Financy costa

Interest ingone

(Prolit) loss on sale of agset

Tad debis wiitlen ofl

Forgign exchange Tustuation lossf{gain) (ner)
Liahilitics no longer veuired weitton back
Trovasion For doubiful debts (net)

Impairment for diminuticn in velue of i held
Tnventory written of

Fixed assel wrillen ofl’

Operating profit befors worling copital chianges

Movemend in worklag capital

{Ingrease] in iventories

Dicrense / {increase} i Irsdo receivables

Locrense in other nonscurrent financial assels

{Increuse) in other current financial assels

Decrense / (increase) in other non-current assets

Decrease / (iniease) in other curient assets

nerease { {decrease) in other non current financial liabilities
Increase in other currend Financial liabililies

{Mecrense) § increaze in other nonecurrent lisbililies and provisions
(Deerease} / increase in olher cutrent liabilities and provisions

(De +H in regulatory defercal 1 {asseis / liabilitics}
(Decrease} £ mereass in trade poyables

Cash generated from operations

et taxes paid net of refond received
Mel ensh generated from opernting uelivitios (A)

B Cush Novwas Mvom invesilng netivithes

Expendite incurred on ir | property und iy t property under
constiuction including capital advances, nel of capital oreditors

Puichaze ol property, plant and squipment snd inlangible assets
Procecds Trom sale of properly, plant and equipment and invesiment property

Purchage of investments

Mavement in fixed deposits with maturity more han fhree months
Proceeds from sale of investnenis

Loans given to bady corporales

Loans repayiment received (row body corporates

Interest received

Nel chsh (used in) investing aclivities { B3 }

For the year Fov tho year For the year
ended ended ended
31 Mnrch 2020 J Marew 2002 3 March 20
7,518 6,073 3518
1,140 2,197 2,056
S.114 4,462 4,688
{2,498) (2,439 (2,339}
2 6) 1

B -

] .
(65) " 29
- - [
] TH

9
=P S <. iy 2
11,212 10,292 8,544
{19} zn )
169} &7 VR )]
T 108 291
(251} &) 3
{44) 7 (15
(158) 58 129
133 (303) (1,125)
441 532 1,429
124 1 (158)
(791} 157 (57
{60} an (inm
196 (30 (150}
10,988 10,855 4,460
(1,715} {15171 1,200
9,266 9,338 7,590
(13,544} {2,605) (4,787
(328) (195 (o
Ll 24 28
7] (3) 6)
138 e 214
= . 93
(25.12) (15,469) (4.532)
24,361 15,598 £,479
925 2 D 335
(13,551) (5,860} . {4,267}



MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS GROUY (A% DEFINED IN NOTE 1)

r‘I 1 - c‘ it 1 FI Aol ial 1
Cond ) Combined Statemsent of Cosh Flow
(Al umomists are Jo Rs. millions wiless otherwise stated)

For ibke year For the year Fur the yenr
onded ended onded
31 March 2020 3 March 2010 A1 March 2018
C Cush Alows from finnucing wetivithea
Proceeds from ¢xtemal bormowings 43,090 24,064 15,246
Repayment of exlernal borrowings (31,436} (21,390} (13,835)
Proceeds trom borrowingy taken {rom bouly corporates - - 229
Fepayment of bormewings taken from body corporates 5 (34) (513)
Payment of lease liabilities {7 . .
Rapayment of buyers credil - {310) (275
Proceeds from issue of preferential shares - - 46
Dhvidend paid (including tex) [597) {257) (596)
Finance costs pad 16,297 {54341 - 15,182)
Net vash generated Orom £ {wsed Jn) financing aclivities {C) 4143 (3.561) (4,578)
Mat increasef{decrease) in cash ond cash equivalents (A+B+C) 458 (83) (1,555)
Cash and ensh equivalents al the beginning of the year (1,119 (1,035) £20
Cash and cash equivalents al the end of the year (661) (L1119 (1,035}
Cash and cash equivalents comprises {refer note no, 174 & 29)
Cash oh hand kl 4 il
Balance with banks
- 4 cyrrent accounts 465 232 19
Dieposit accountz watl less thav or equal 10 three months matunty 1,741 19 9
Cheques on hand - - 4
Less | Bank wverdeaft {2870 1,394} {1.242)
Cush und cash epuivalents nt the end af the year {601} {1,11%) {1,035)
Significan! ling policies - refer note 3
See the accompanying noled 10 the Condensed Combined Fi ial S - refi nole 4-56
As per our repurl of even daie attached:
For Delomie tHaskins & Sells LLP for ani on behalf of the Governing Board of
Changred Acconntants K Raligja Corp Invesiment Manegers LLP

Pirm’s registralion nomber: | 17I66WMW-100018 a8 Manng the Mindspuce Busimess Packs REIT)

i O Rahegi el O Rahegi

iz ‘)\J\/ a1 s

Milesh Shah Vinoll N Rolbra Preeti N Chheda
Partae Menrber Muembor (e Evecutive Ciffleer Chvief Fincncied (Officer
Membetship number: 49660 DIN: 00028044 PIN: 0020011 1IN O atonT [HN: 08066703

Place: Mumbai Place: Mumbai Place: Mumbai Place: Mumbai Place; Munbai

Draer

o TUA O LD Date: 5 Py
Dae: 209 7§ u"”..:-un,_”w 20 Fun2ote ?mjun 2020 20 Jontoto
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MINDSPACE BUSINESS PARKS GROUP {AS DEFINED IN NOTE 1)
Cond Combined Financlal Stat

Statement of Total Return at Foir Value

(AB amonnts are ta Re, milliens ynless ciberwise stated)

Total Return
For tbe year ended
1 Much 2428
S.No Particolars
A Total com, nsive Incame 5.140
B A : Chianges in fair value nol recoznised (refer Note below) 17173 |
C (A+B) | Total Return 12313
Toltal Return - Attributable to owness of Mindmpace Bosines Parks Group
For the year eoded
1 March 2020
S.No Parliculams
A Total comprehensive Income 47
:] Add : Changes in fair valoe not recopnised (refer Note below ) [5.799
C (A+B) |Towl Return 0546
Note;
| Meamwement of folr values:
The fair values of Investient Property, Propeny, Plant and E fuig Investment propenty under construetion and Capital w orkin:propress are solely based on im independent valuntion perfarmed
by an | propenty valuce (Tindependent valesr™), having apmopriately recognised profe | qualification and recent experi inn the locition and categony af the propertics being vailted,

The summary valuaticn ropon of the independent valver dated 10 June 2031 is included i the nffering document t Section Summary Valuation Repon',

2 I the obove statewenl. chunges in fair valse ot recugnised for the year ended 31 Manch 2020 have been computed based on the change in fair values adjusied for change im book value of

| i Propeny. | Propeity under constiusction and Propeny, Fla and Equipment and Capital work in progress as a1 31 March 2020,
Sigaificont accounting policies - refer note 3,20
A perour repont of even date Miached:
For Defoine Haskins & Sells LLP
Finm’s registmation mamber: §133669W. 100015 ow \r"/
A 1 3% el p chtres
i ,
Hik=h Shab -
Patince Vinod N. Rohim Preeti N. Chhedo
Memberzip nomber; 9660 Chief Excvutive Offcer Chief Financial Qfficer
DIN: 00460667 DAN: BH066703
Piace: Mumias Place: Mombai Place: Mumhai Place: Mumbai

™ 20 JUN 2020
20 JUN 2020 20 JUN 2028 2 0 yuN 2020 70 JUN 2020



MINDSI'ACE BUSINESS PARKS GROUY (AS DEFINED IN NOTE 1)
Condensed Combined Financilal Statements

Statenent of Ned Assels at Fair Value

(Al amounts are in Rs. millions unbess etherwise stated)

Statement of Net Assets At Faie Value ( Total)

As at 31 March 2020 As at 31 March 2020
S.No Parliculars Book Vilue?* Fair value
A Assels 112,224 276,288
B Liabilities * 89,309 89,300
C Net Assets (A-B) 22,915 186,979
Stut t of Net Assets At Fair Yalue ( Total attributabic to owners of Mindspace Business Parks Group)
[ As ot 31 March 2020 As at 30 Mareh 2020
5.No Particulars Bovk Value® Fair value
A Assils 107,625 264,219
13 Liabilities * 26,373 86,373
C Met Asseis (A-B) 21,252 177,845
D No. of units
; NAY (C/D) Refer Note 3

* oo deflenteef e the Bofiier Meet

Notes

Measurement of fair valnes:

The lair values of luvestment Property, Propeny, Plant and Equipment, lnvestment properly under construction and Capital wotk-in-progress are
solely based on an independent valuation performed by an external property valuer ("independent valuer"}, having appropliately (ecognised
professional qualification and recent experience in he location and category of the properties being valued. The summary valuation reporl of the
independent valuer dated 10 June 2020 is included in the oflering docwment in Section Summary Yaluation Report’.

1=

Valuation techuigue

The fir value measurement for all of the Investment Property, Properly, Plant and Equipment, Investment property under consiruelion and
Capital work-in-progress has been categorized as a Level 3 fair value based on the imputs to the valuation technique used. The valuer has
tollowed a Discounted Cash Flow method, except for valuation of land for future development wheie the valuer has adopted Market Approach
The Diseounted Cash Flow valuation model considers the present value of net cash flows lo be generated fiom the respective properies, taking,
o account the expeeted rental growlh rate, vacancy period, occupancy rate, and lease incentive costs. The expecled net cash flows are
discounted using the risk adjusied discount 1ates. Among other Tactors, the discound tate estimation considers Lhe quality of a building and its
loeation (prime vs secondary), tenant eredit quality, lease tenms and investor teturn expecialions from such properties.

3 The number of units that Mindspace Business Parks REIT will issue to investors in the proposed Initial Public OITer is not presently
ascertainable lence the disclosures in respect of Net Asset Value (NAV) per Unil have not been given

4 Project wise bieak up of Fair value of Assels as at 31 March 2020 is 23 [oliows

Particalars Fair vallue of Invesiment Other assets at book Totul assets®
Property, Property, Plant value
and Equipment,
Investment property under
construction snd Capital
work-in-progress

Itinee 17417 2,563 19,982
KRIT 26,923 616 27,549
Sundew 54,061 8,130 62,191
MBPPL

MBPPL - Airoli East 43,107

MBPPL - Pocharam 2.984 2988 76,274

MBPPL - Commerzone 19,100

MBI'PL - The Square, Nagar Road 5,094
Gignplex 35,205 17,988 53,193
Avacado 13,710 209 13,219
KRC Infra 15,486 71 16,260
Horizonview 59446 975 6,&
Total 242,044 34,244 276,288
Less: Non-controlling intevest (10,525) {1,244) {12,069
Total attributable 1o owners 231,219 33,000 264,219
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